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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements Those statements

include statements regarding the intent belief or current expectations of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc and

members of our management team as well as the assumptions on which such statements are based and generally are

identified by the use of words such as may will seeks anticipates believes estimates expects plans
intends should or similarexpressions Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by such

forward-looking statements Further forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and we undertake

no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions the occurrence of unanticipated

events or changes to future operating results over time unless required by law

The following are sorne of the risks and uncertainties although not all of the risks and uncertainties that could cause

our

actual results to differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements

We are dependent on our advisor and sub-advisor to identify suitable investments and to manage our

investments Our advisor and sub-advisor have limited operating history This inexperience makes our future

performance difficult to predict

All of our executive officers some of our directors and other key real estate professionals are also officers

managers directors key professionals and/or holders of controlling interest in our advisor the sub-advisor our

dealer manager and other sponsor-ffihiated entities As result they face conflicts of interest including

significant conflicts created by our advisors compensation arrangements-with us and other programs and

investors advised by our sponsors Fees paid to our advisor in connection with transactions itivolving the

acquisition and management of our properties are based on the cost of the property not on the quality of the

investment or services rendered to us This arrangement could influence our advisor to recommend riskier

transactions to us

There is no assurance that we will raise the maximum offering amount in our initial public offering If we raise

substantially less than the maximum offering amount we may not be able to invest in as diverse portfolio of

real estate properties as we otherwise would and the value of an invetment may vary more widely with the

performance of specific assets There is greater risk that stockholders will lose money in their investment in us

if we have less diversity in our portfolio

We will pay substantial fees to and expenses of our advisor affiliates and broker-dealers These fees increase

our stockholders risk of loss

If we are unable to find suitable investments we may not be able to achieve our investment objectives or pay

distributions

Until the proceeds from our initial public offering are fully invested and from time to time during our operational

stage we expect to use proceeds from financings to fund distributions in anticipation of cash flow to be received

in later periods However our organizational documents permit us to pay distributions from any source

including offering proceeds which may constitute retum of capital We have not established limit on the

amount of distributions that we may fund from sources other than from cash flows from operations

We may incur debt exceeding 75% of the cost of our tangible assets with the approval of the conflicts

committee During the early stages of our initial public offering we expect that our conflicts committee may

approve debt in excess of this limit Higher debt levels increase the risk of stockholders investment

Continued disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect our

ability to implement our business strategy and generate returns to stockholders

We depend on tenants for our revenue and accordingly our revenue is dependent upon the success and

economic viability of our tenants Revenues from our single real property investment could decrease due to

reduction in tenants caused by factors including but not limited to tenant defaults tenant insolvency early

termination of tenant leases and non-renewal ot existing tenant leases and/or lower rental rates limiting our

ability to pay distributions to our stockholders

All forward-looking statements should be read in light of the risks identified in Part Item of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K



PARTI

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc the Company was formed on July 31 2009 as Maryland

corporationand intends to qualify as real estate investment trust RIT beginning with the taxable year ending

December 31 2010 As used herein the terms we our and us refer to theCompany and as required by context

KBS Legacy Partners Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership formed on August 2009 the Operating

Partnership and its subsidiaries We conduct our business primarily through our Operating Partnership of which we are the

sole general partner

We intend to invest in and manage diverse portfolio of high quality apartment communities located throughout the

United States We expect that our portfolio will include core apartment buildings that are already well positioned and

producing rental income as as more opportunity oriented properties at yarious phases of leasing development

redevelopment or repositiqning We may make our investments through the acquisition of individual assets or by acquiring

portfolios of assets other REITs or real estate companies As of December 31 2010 we owned one apartment complex

KBS Capital Advisors LLC KBS Capital Advisors is our advisor As our advisor KBS Capital Advisors is

responsible for managing-our day-to-day operations nd our portfolio of real estate assets Subject to the terms of the advisory

agreement between KBS Capital Advisors and us KES Capital Advisors delegates certain advisory duties to sub-advisor

KBS-Legacy Apartment Community REIT Venture LLC the Sub-advisor which is joint venture among KBS Capital

Advisors and Legacy Partners Residential Realty LLC Notwithstanding such delegation to the sub-advisor KBS Capital

Advisors retains ultimate responsibility for the performance of all the matters entrusted to it under the advisory agreement

KBS Capital Advisors makes recommendations on all investments to our board of directors majority of our board of

directors including majority of our independent directors acting through the conflicts committee approves our property and

real estate-related investments KBS Capital Advisors either directly or through the sub-advisor will also provide asset-

management marketing investor-relations and other administrative services on our behalf We have no paid employees

On August 19 2009 we filed registration statement on Form S-li with the Securities and Echange Commission

the SEC to offer minimum of 250000 shares and maximum of 280000000 shares of common stock for sale to the

public of which 80000000 shares would be offered pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan The SEC declared our

registration statement effective on March 12 2010 and we retained KBS Capital Markets Group LLC KBS Capital Markets

Group an affiliate of our advisor- to serve as the dealer manager of the offering pursuant to dealer manager agreement

The dealer manager is responsible for marketing our shares in our ongoing initial public offering We intend to use

substantially all of the net proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering to invest in and manage diverse portfolio of high

quality apartment communities located throughout the United States as described above

On December 2010 we broke escrow in the offering and through December 31 2010 we had sold 347447 shares

forgross offering proceeds of $3.4 million all of which were sold in the primary offering

Objectives and Strategies

Our primary investment objectives are

to provide our stockholders with attractive and stable cash distributions and

to preserve and retum our stockholders capital contributions

We also seek to realize growth in the value of our investments by timing asset sales to maximize their value



Investment Strategies

Primary Investment Focus

We intend to focus our investment activities on and use the proceeds of this offering principally for investment in

and management of diverse portfolio of equity investments in high quality apartment communities located throughout the

United States

We plan to diversify our portfolio by investment type and-investment risk as well as by other factors with the goal

of attaining portfolio of income-producing properties that provide attractive and stable returns to our investors We intend to

make the majority of our equity investments in investment types that have relatively low investment risk characteristics

Core Apartment Properties We intend to allocate between 70% and 80% of our portfolio to investments in

core apartment communities which are high quality well positioned existing properties producing rental

income generally with at least 85% occupancy Such properties are generally newer properties that are well-

located in major urban or suburban submarkets Core apartment comthunities generally have fewer near-term

capital expenditàre requirements with minoi deferred maintenance or cosmetic imkrovements if any required

and have the demonstrated ability to prodce high occupancies and stable cash flow As result core

apartment communities tend to have relatively low investment risk profile

Value-Added and Opportunity-Oriented Properties We intend to allocate between 20% and 30% of our

portfolio to investments in value-açlded and opportunity-oriented properties at various phases of leasing

development redevelopment or reositioning These properties are higheryield and higher-risk investments

than core properties and may experience short-term decreases in income during the lease-up redevelopment or

repositioning phase Examples of value-added properties include properties with moderate vacancies poorly

managed and positioned properties and properties owned by distressed sellers Examples of opportunity-

oriented properties include properties under development or constniction Properties that need to be

redeveloped or repositioned may require minor or even major construction activity Construction and

development activities will expose us to risks such as cost overruns carrying costs -of projects under

construction and development our builders ability to build in conformity with plans and specifications

availability and costs of materials and labor our inability to obtain tenants weather conditions and government

regulation Because of these risks we will seek to acquire such properties only if our Legacy sponsor believes

that there is long-terni growth potential of the investment after the necessary lease-up redevelopment or

repositioning is complete

We may make our investments through the acquisition of individual assets or by acquiring portfolios of assets We
may also make equity investments in REITs and other real estate companies with investment objectives similar to ours We
do not expct our non-controlling equity investments in other public companies to exceed 5% of the proceeds of this offering

assuming we sell the maximum offering amount or to represent substantial portion of our assets at any one time

Although this is our target portfolio we may make adjustments to our target portfolio based on real estate market

conditions and investment opportunities We will not forego good investment because it does not precisely fit our expected

portfolio composition We believe that we are most likely to meet our investment objectives through the careful selection and

underwriting of assets When making an acquisition we focus on the performance and risk characteristics of that investment

how that investment will fit with our portfolio-level performance objectives the other assets in our portfolio and how the

returns and risks of that investment compare to the returns and risks of available investment alternatives Thus to the extent

that we are presented with good investment opportunities that allow us to meet the REIT requirements under the Internal

Revenue Code our portfolio may consist of greater percentage of real estate-related investments

We will generally hold fee title or long-term leasehold estate in the properties we acquire We may also invest in or

acquire operating companies or other entities that own and operate assets that meet our investment objectives We will make

investments in other entities when we consider it more efficieut to acquire an entity that already owns assets meeting our

investment objectives than to acquire such assets directly We may also participate with other entities including non-

affiliated entities in property ownership through joint ventures limited liability companies partnerships and other types of

common ownership



We also intend to diversify our real estate property investments by geographic region Though we are not limited as

to the specific geographic areas where we may conduct our operations we expect to purchase propertiesin or in close

proximity to large metropolitan areas located in the United States We believe the most attractive investment opportunities

will be found in markets that either exhibit high population and employment growth rates or that have significant new supply

constraints due to high barriers to entry as consequence of limited land availability significant zoning land use or

entitlement restrictions and high land and construction costs We will initially focus on markets where Legacy Residential

which is the term that we use to collectively describe Legacy Partners Residential Inc Legacy Partners Residential Realty

LLC and all of their affiliated residential related entities has an established market presence market knowledge and access to

potential investments as well as an ability to direct property management and leasing operations efficiently all of which are

located in either fast growing or high barrier to entry markets in the South and West Outside of markets where Legacy

Residential has an established presence we will leverage the knowledge of Our key real estate professioflals who have

experience in other markets as well as our network of nationwide broker and investor relationships to identify suitable

investments including joint ventures Although we intend to acquire real estate throughout the U.S based on the projected

population growth in the South and West the large proportion of Baby Boomers continuing to retire in these regions and

Legacy Residentials extensWe experience acquiring developing and managing apartment properties in the South and West it

is likely that significant pbrticin of our portfolio will be located in these areas We will review and change our target markets

periodically in response to changing market opportunities and to maintain diverse portfolio Economic and real estate

market conditions vary widely across the United States and we intend to spread our investments across various regions of the

United States and among the submarkets within these higions

We also intend to diversify by investment size We expect that our real property investments will typically range in

size from $15 million to $100 million however we may make investments outside of this range For example we may make

investments for less than $15 million if the acquired property will complement our existing portfolio or we might acquire

several smaller properties in close proximity in desirable supply constrained market that can be operated efficiently on

collective basis Further we may invest more than $100 million in single propert if we believe that property will help us

meet our investment objectives We do not expect that we will invest more than $300 million in any single property For

acquisitions requiring more than $100 million of equity investment we may seek joint venture partner in order to reduce our

equity requirement and associated risk

We generally intend to hold our core properties for five to ten years which we believe is the optimal period to enable

us to capitalize on the potential for increased income and capital appreciation of properties We may need to hold our

opportunity oriented properties for slightly longer periods to realize the potential for increased income and capital

appreciation However economic and market conditions may influence us to hold our investments for different periods of

time

Description of Our Apartment Leases We expect that all of our apartment communities will lease to their tenants

under similar lease terms Consistent with the multi-family industry we anticipate that our lease terms will range from

month-to-month up to fourteen months These terms provide maximum flexibility for us to implement rental increases when

the market will bear such increases

Property Management and Other Services With respect to development services construction services and property

management services although we do not rely exclusively on nor have written agreement to exclusively receive services

from affiliates of our Legacy sponsors our advisor may seek such services from our Legacy sponsors All such service

transactions would be subject to approval by our conflicts committee as fair and reasonable and on terms no less favorable

than those available from unaffiliated third parties

Other Investments

Development and Construction of Properties Although we expect that we will invest primarily in properties that

have operating histories or whose construction is complete from time to time we may invest in unimproved property

However such investment will not comprise more than 10% of our total assets We define unimproved property as property

not acquired for the purpose of producing rental or other operating income on which there is no development or construction

in progress and none is planned in good faith to commence within one year

Investments in Equity Securities We may make equity investments in REITs and other real estate companies with

investment objectives similar to ours We may purchase the common or preferred stock of these entities or options to acquire

their stock We may target public company that owns multifamily real estate when we believe its stock is trading at

discount to that companys net asset value We may eventually seek to acquire or gain controlling interest in the companies

that we target We do not expect our non-controlling equity investments in other public companies to exceed 5% of the

proceeds of this offering assuming we sell the maximum offering amount or to represent substantial portion of our assets at

any one time



We will make investments in other entities when we consider it more efficient to acquire an entity that already owns

assets meeting our investment objectives than to acquire such assets directly We may also participate with other entities in

property ownership through joint ventures limited liability companies partnerships and other types of common ownership

Other Possible Investments Although we expect that most of our property acquisitions will beof the type described

above we may make other investments such as options to purchase properties and other real estate-related assets We may
enter into arrangements with the seller or developer of property whereby the seller or developer agrees that if during stated

period the property does not generate specified cash flow the sdller or developer will pay in cash to us sum necessary to

reach the specified cash flow level subject in some eases to negotiated dollar limitations In fact we may invest in whatever

types of interests in real estate that we believe are in our best interests Although we can purchase any type of interest in real

estate-related assets our charter does limit certain types of investments We do not expect to invet in properties located

outside of the United States We also do not intend to invest in debt such as mortgages subprdinated bridge or other real

estate-related loans or debt securities related to or secured by real estate or make loans to other persons to underwrite

securities of othe issuers or to engage in the purchase and sale of any types of investments other than interests in real estate

properties and other real estate-related assets

Joint Venture investnients

We ma enter into joint ventures partnershipk and other co-ownership arrangements or participations for the purpose

of obtaining interests in real estate properties We may also enter into joint ventures for the development or improvement of

properties Joint venture investments permit us tb own interests in large properties and other investments without unduly

restricting the diversity of our portfolio In determining whether to invest in particular joint venture our Legacy sponsor

will evaluate the real estate properties that such joint venture owns or is being formed to own under the same criteria described

elsewhere in this prospectus for the selection of our investments

Our Legacy sponsor and KBS Capital Advisors will also evaluate the potential joint venture partner as to its financial

condition operating capabilities and integrity At suCh time during the term of this offering that KBS Capital Advisors

believes that there is reasonable probability that we will enter into joint venture for the acquisition of significant

investment we will supplement this prospectus to disclose the terms of such investment transaction Stockholders should not

rely upon such initial disclosure of any proposed transaction as an assurance that we will ultimately consummate the proposed

transaction or that the information we provide in any supplement to this prospectus concerning any proposed transaction will

not change after the date of the supplement

We have not established the specific terms we will require in the joint venture agreements we may enter into

Instead we will establish the terms with respect to any particular joint venture agreement on case-by-case basis after our

board of directors considers all of the facts that are relevant such as the nature and attributes of our other potential joint

venture partners the proposed structure of the joint venture the nature of the operations the liabilities and assets associated

with the proposed joint venture and the size of our interest whencompared to the interests owned by other partners in the

venture With respect to any joint venture we enter we expect to consider the following types of concems and safeguards

Our ability to manage and control the joint venture We will consider whether we should obtain certain

approval rights in joint ventures we do not control Fox proposed joint ventures in which we are to share control

with another entity we will consider the procedures to address decisions in the event of an impasse

Our ability to exit joint venture We will consider requiring buy/sell rights redemption rights or forced

liquidation rights

Our ability to control transfers of interests held by other partners to the venture We will consider requiring

consent provisions right of first refusal and/or forced redemption rights in connection with transfers

Financing Objectives

We may use borrowing proceeds to finance acquisitions of new properties or assets to pay for capital improvements

or repairs to properties to refinance existing indebtedness to pay distributions or to provide working capital Careful use of
debt will help us to achieve our diversification goals because we will have more fund available for investment Our

investment strategy is to utilize primarily secured and possibly unsecured debt to finance our investment portfolio however

given the current debt market environment we may elect to forego the use of debt on some or all of our future real estate

acquisitions We may elect to secure financing subsequent to the acquisition date on future real estate properties and initially

acquire investments without debt fmancing To the extent that we do not finance our properties and other investments our

ability to acquire additional properties will be restricted



Once we have fully invested the proceeds of this offering we expect our debt financing to be between 50% and 65%

of the cost of our tangible assets before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves There is no limitation on the

amount we may borrow for the purchase of any single asset Our charter limits our borrowings to 75% of the cost

before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves of our tangible assets however we may exceed that limit if the

majority of the conflicts committee approves each borrowing in excess of our charter limitation and we disclose such

borrowings to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from the conflicts committee of the

justification for the excess borrowing We do not intend to exceed the levprage limit in our charter except in the early stages

of development when the costs of our investments are most likely to exceed our net offering proceeds to the extent financing

in excess of our charter limit is available at attractive terms From time to time our debt financing may be below 50% of the

cost of our tangible assets due to the lack of availability of debt financing

We may incur indebtedness in the form of bank borrowings purchase money obligations to the sellers of properties

we purchase publicly and privately-placed debt instruments and or financings from institutional investors or other lenders

This indebtedness may be unsecured or secured by mortgages or other interests in our assets or may be limited to the

particular property to which the indebtedness relates

The form of our indebtedness may be long-term or short-term fixed or floating rate or in the form of revolving

credit facility Our Legacy sponsor will seek to obtain financing on ourbehalf on the most favorable terms available

Except with respect to the borrowing limits contained in our charter we may reevaluate and change our debt policy

in the future without stockholder vote Factors that we would consider when reevaluating or changing our debt policy

include then-current economic conditions the relative cost and availability of debt and equitj capital any investment

opportunities the ability of our properties and other investments to generate sufficient cash flow to cover debt service

requirements and other similar factors Further we may increase or decrease our ratio of debt to book value in connection

with any change of our borrowing policies

We will not borrow from our advisor or its affiliates to purchase properties or make other investments unless

majority of the conflicts conmiittee approves the transaction as being fair competitive and commercially reasonable and no

less favorable to us than comparable loans between unaffiliated parties

Market Outlook Multi-Family Real Estate and Finance Markets

The Great Recession of 2008 2009 resulted in significant job losses which had an adverse effect on multifamily

real estate Vacancies at multifamily properties increased to record highs and rents decreased as owners sought to retain

existing residents and attract new residents Also capitalization rates of multifamily properties increased and caused values to

decline In contrast during 2010 there were positive signs that multifamily real estate had begun solid recovery Vacancy

declined rents increased and capitalization rates decreased

According to the U.S Bureau of Labor Statistics there were approximately 8.4 million jobs lost in the U.S from

December 2007 through December 2009 as result of the Great Recession In 2010 employment increased by 1.1 million

jobs The unemployment rate peaked in 2009 at 10.1% As of December 2010 the unemployment rate was down to 9.4%

REIS Inc reported that apartment vacancies in the U.S were 8.0% at the end of 2009 At the end of 2010

apartment vacancies were 6.6% REIS Inc Apartment First Glance 2010 Quarter REIS also reported that effective

rents for apartments were up by 2.3% in 2010 in contrast to the decline in effective rents of 2.9% in 2009

Multifamily capitalization rates in the U.S were 7.2% in December 2009 In November 2010 multifamily

capitalization rates were down to 6.7% Real Capital Analytics RCA Historical Statistics by Month November 2010



In the medium- and long-termwe believe the prospects for multifamily real estate investment are promising We

expect several positive demographic trends as noted below will drive the demand for multifamily housing throughout this

decade

U.S population growth The U.S Census Bureau projects that the U.S population will increase by

approximately 37 million 12%between 2008 and 2020 predominantly in the West and South

Immigration Foreign-born renters represented 18.4% of all reoters in 2005 Rosen Consulting Group
The National Apartment Market June 2009 Acàording to the U.S Census Bureau immigration is expected

to add about 1.4 million individuals per year to the U.S population This immigration-driven increase in

population when combined with the natural U.S population increase will increase the demand for all types of

housing including apartments over the next decade

Echo Boom The children of the Baby Boom generation dubbed the Echo Boomers will increase the prime

rental-age group 20 to 34 year olds by million and will remain at that elevated level through 2020 according

to the U.S Census Bureau

Baby Boom The population of people aged 50 to 64 is expected to increase by nearly 15 million between

2003 and 2013 Rosen Consulting Group The National Apartment Market June 2009 These Baby

Boomers generally have enough income to purchase home but are increasingly choosing to downsize Those

Baby Boomers who choose to downsize generally prefer the conveniences of apartments particularly those in

urban infill locations

Other positive factors for multifamily real estate investment include

Lower pricing The weakening of multifamily real estate fundamentals as result of the Great Recession as

noted above most notably decreasing values will create opportunities to acquire multifamily assets at

capitalization rates closer to historic norms as opposed to the historic lows of 2005 to 2008

Maturing loans and possible distressed buying opportunities More than $300 billion of multifamily loans are

expected to mature from 2011 to 2015 including $36 billion in CMBS mortgages 70% of which may not

qualify for refinancing Marcus Millichap Research Services Special Client Webcast January 2011
We believe these conditions will provid opportunities to purchase properties at reduced prices from distressed

sellers in need of liquidity or those faced with repayment deadlines

Diminished supply According to Witten Advisors United States Fourth Quarter 2010 multifamily rental

construction starts were 89400 units year to date through October 2010 still shy of the 50-year low mark of

97600 units started in 2009 Multifamily rental construction starts are expected to remain below the number of

units needed to support the growing U.S population and the demands of the Echo and Baby Boomers for

several
years

Availability of Debt Capital Although there has been tightening of lending standards for multifamily real

estate loans capital has remained readily available for the multifamily sector which is in stark contrast to other

commercial real estate sectors This is in part due to the lower risk of multifamily investments as compared to

the other primary property types and the continued support of government sponsored entities such as

Fannie Mae Freddie Mac and the Federal Housing Administration

Economic Dependency

We are dependent on our advisor the sub-advisor and the dealer manager for certain services that are essential to us

including the sale of our shares in our ongoing public offering the identification evaluation negotiation origination

acquisition and disposition of investments management of the daily operations of our investment portfolio and other general

and administrative responsibilities In the event that these companies are unable to provide the respective services we will be

required to obtain such services from other sources



Competitive Market Factors

The success of our investment portfolio depends in part on our ability to acquire apartment communities that

provide attractive and stable retums We face competition from various entities for investment opportunities in apartment

community properties including other REITs pension funds insurance companies investment funds and companies

partnerships and developers Many of these entities have substantially greater financial resources than we do and may be able

to accept more risk than we can prudently manage Our competitors may also be willing to accept lower retums on their

investments and may succeed in buying the assets that we have targeted for acquisition Competition from these entities may
reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us or increase the bargaining power of property owners

seeking to sell Although we believe that we are well-positioned to compete effectively in each facet of our business there is

enormous competition in onr market sector and there can be no assurance that we will compete effectively or that we will not

encounter increased competition in the future that could limit our ability to conduct our business effectiyely

Furthermore we face competition from other apartment communities for tenants This competition could reduce

occupancy levels and revenues at our apartment communities which would adversely affect our operations We expect to

face competition from many sources We will face competition from other apartment communities both in the immediate

vicinity and in the larger geographic market where our apartment communities will be located Overbuilding of apartment

communities may occur If so this will increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and

apartment rental rates

Compliance with Federal State and Local Environmental Law

Under various federal state and local environmental laws ordinances and regulations current or previous real

property owner or operator may be liable for the cost of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances on under or

in such property These costs could be substantial Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator

knew of or was responsible for the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances Environmental laws also may impose

restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated and these restrictions may require

substantial expenditures or prevent us from entering into leases with prospective tenants that may be impacted by such laws

Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance and may be enforced by govemmental agencies or in certain

circumstances by private parties Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability

for the release of and exposure to hazardous substances including asbestos-containing materials Third parties may seek

recovery from real property owners or operators for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to released

hazardous substances The cost of defending against claims of liability of complying with environmental regulatory

requirements of remediating any contaminated property or of paying personal injury claims could reduce the amounts

available for distribution to our stockholders

All of our properties have been subject to Phase environmental assessments at the time they were acquired Some

of the properties we have acquired are subject to potential environmental liabilities arising primarily from historic activities at

or in the vicinity of the properties Based on our environmental diligence and assessments of our properties and our purchase

of pollution and remediation legal liability insurance with respect to some of our properties we do not believe that

environmental conditions at our properties are kely to have material adverse effect on our operations

Employees

We have no paid employees The employees of our advisor and sub-advisor or their affiliates provide management

acquisition advisory and certain administrative services for us

Principal Executive Office

Our principal executive offices are located at 620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300 Newport Beach California

92660 Our telephone number general facsimile number and web address are 949 417-6500 949 417-6520 and

www kbslegacyreit corn respectively

Industry Segments

We have invested in one apartment complex Substantially all of our revenue and net income loss is from real

estate and therefore we currently operate in one business segment

Available Information

Access to copies of our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form lO-Q current reports on Form 8-K

proxy statements and other filings with the SEC including amendments to such filings may be obtained free of charge from

the following website http//www.kbslegacyre it corn through link to the SECs website http//www.sec.gov These filings

are available promptly after we file them with or furnish them to the SEC



ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from

those presented in our forward-looking statements The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only oneswe face

but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us Additional risks and uncertainties not

presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm our business

Risks Related to an Investment in Us

Because no public trading market for our shares currently exists it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares

and if they are able to sell their shares they will likely sell them at substantial discount to the public offering price

Our charter does not require our directors to seek stockholder approval to liquidate our assets by specified date nor

does our charter require our directors to list our shares for trading on national securities exchangby specified date There

is no public market for our shares and we currently have no plans to list our shares on national securities exchange Until

our shares are listed if ever stockholders may not sell their shares unless the buyer meets the applicable suitability and

minimum purchase standards and such sale complies with state and federal securities laws In addition our charter prohibits

the ownership of more than 9.8% of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors which may inhibit large investors

from purchasing our shares In its sole discretion our board of directors could amend suspend or terminate our share

redemption program upon 30 days notice Further the share redemption program includes numerous restrictions that would

limit the stockholders ability to sell his or her shares and because of these restrictions we have no funds available to fund

redemptions under our share redemption program in 2011 Therefore it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell their

shares promptly or at all If stockholders are able to sell their shares they would likely have to sell them at substantial

discount to their public offering price It is also likely that our shares would not be accepted as the primary collateral for

loan Because of the illiquid nature of our shares investors should purchase our shares only as long-term investment and be

prepared to hold them for an indefinite period of time

If we are unable to find suitable investments we may not be able to achieve our investment objectives or pay distributions

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions depends upon the performance of

KBS Capital Advisors our advisor in the acquisition of our investments including the determination of any financing

arrangements Competition from competing entities may reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us

or increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell Additionally disruptions and dislocations in the credit

markets have materially impacted the cost and availability of debt to finance real estate acquisitions which is key

component of our acquisition strategy This lack of available debt could result in further reduction of suitable investment

opportunities and create competitive advantage to other entities that have greater financial resources than we do We are

also subject to competition in seeking to acquire real estate-related investments The more shares we sell in this offering the

greater our challenge will be to invest all of the net offering proceeds on attractive terms Our investors must rely entirely on

the management abilities of KBS Capital Advisors the property managers KBS Capital Advisors selects and the oversight of

our board of directors We can give no assurance that KBS Capital Advisors will be successful in obtaining suitable

investments on financially attractive terms or that if KBS Capital Advisors makes investments on our behalf our objectives

will be achieved If we through KBS Capital Advisors are unable to find suitable investments promptly we will hold the

proceeds from this offering in an interest-bearing account or invest the proceeds in short-term assets If we would continue to

be unsuccessful in locating suitable investments we may ultimately decide to liquidate In the event we are unable to timely

locate suitable investments we may be unable or limited in our ability to pay distributions and we may not be able to meet our

investment objectives

Continued disruptions in the financial markets and poor economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to secure

debt financing on attractive terms and the values of the investments we make

During the past three years significant and widespread concerns about credit risk and access to capital have been

present in the global financial markets Economies throughout the world have experienced substantially increased

unemployment sagging consumer confidence and downturn in economic activity In addition the failure and near failure

of several large financial institutions and the failures and expectations of additional failures of smaller financial institutions

has led to increased levels of uncertainty and volatility in the financial markets and continued skepticism in the general

business climate
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From financing perspective severe dislocations and liquidity disruptions in the credit markets in late 2008 and early

2009 impacted both the cost and availability of commercial real estate debt The connnercial mortgage-backed securities

CMBS market formerly significant source of liquidity and debt capital was inactive for over year and left void in

the market for long-term affordable fixed rate debt This void has been partially filled by portfolio lenders such as insurance

companies but at very different terms than were available in the past five years These remaining lenders have generally

increased credit spreads lowered the amount of available proceeds required recourse security and credit enhancements and

otherwise tightened underwriting standards while simultaneously limiting lending to existing relationships with borrowers

that invest in high quality assets in top tier markets In addition lenders have limited the amount of financing available to

existing relationships in an effort to manage capital allocations and credit risk We intend to rely on debt financing to finance

our properties As result of the credit market turmoil we may not be able to obtain debt financing on attractive terms As

such we may be forced to use greater proportion of our offering proceeds to finance our acquisitions reducing the number

of acquisitions we would otherwise make If the current debt market environment persists we may modify our investment

strategy in order to optimize our portfolio performance Our options would include limiting or eliminating the use of debt and

focusing on those higher yielding investments that do not require the use of leverage to meet our portfolio goals

As result of the decline in general economic conditions the U.S commercial real estate industry has experienced

deteriorating fundamentals across all major property types and in most geographic markets In general tenant defaults have

risen rental rates have fallen and demand for commercial real estate space in most markets has contracted These trends have

created highly competitive leasing environment that has resulted in downward pressure on both occupancy and rental rates

resulting in leasing incentives becoming more common Mortgage delinquencies and defaults have trended upward with

many industry analysts predicting significant credit defaults foreclosures and capital losses still to come

Continued disruptions in the financial markets and poor economic conditions could adversely affect the values of

investments we make These could have the following negative effects on us

the values of our investments in properties could decrease below the amounts we pay for such investments and

revenues from properties we acquire could decrease due to fewer tenants and/or lower rental rates making it

more difficult for us to pay dividends or meet our debt service obligations on debt financing

These factors could impair our ability to make distributions to our investors and decrease the value of an investment

in us

We may suffer from delays in locating suitable investments which could limit our ability to make distributions and lower

the overall return on our stockholders investment

We rely upon our sponsors and the other real estate professionals affiliated with our sponsors to identify suitable

investments The private KBS-sponsored programs especially those that are currently raising offering proceeds as well as

the institutional investors for whom KBS affiliates serve as investment advisors also rely upon our KBS sponsors for

investment opportunities In addition KBS Real Estate Investment Trust Inc KBS REIT

KES Real Estate Investment Trust II Inc KRS REIT II KBS Real Estate Investment Trust III Inc KBS REIT TII and

KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT Inc KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT which are also externally advised by our advisor

rely upon our KBS sponsors The private Legacy-sponsored programs rely upon certain of our Legacy sponsors for

investment opportunities To the extent that our sponsors and the other real estate professionals affiliated with our sponsors

face competing demands upon their time which cause them to breach their fiduciary duties to us at times when we have capital

ready for investment we may face delays in locating suitable investments Further the more money we raise in this offering

the more difficult it will be to invest the net offering proceeds promptly and on attractive terms Therefore the large size of

this offering and the competition from other entities that may be better positioned to acquire the types of properties and other

investments we desire to purchase increase the risk of delays in investing our net offering proceeds Delays we encounter in

the selection and acquisition or origination of income-producing assets would likely limit our ability to pay distributions to our

stockholders and lower their overall returns Further if we acquire properties prior to the start of construction or during the

early stages of construction it will typically take several months to complete construction and rent available space Therefore

our stockholders could suffer delays in the distribution of cash distributions attributable to those particular properties Our

stockholders should expect to wait at least several months after the closing of property acquisition before receiving cash

distributions attributable to that property
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Because our initial public offering is blind-pool offering our stockholders will not have the opportunity to evaluate our

investments before we make them which makes our stockholders investment more speculative

We will seek to invest substantially all of the bet offering proceeds from the primary offering after the payment of

fees and expenses in the acquisition of or investment in interests in real estate properties However because our stockholders

will be unable to evaluate the economic merit of real estate projects before we invest in them they will have to rely entirely on

the ability of our advisor to select suitable and successful investment opportunities Furthermore our board of directors will

have broad discretion in implementing policies regarding tenant or mortgagor creditworthiness and our stockholders will not

have the opportunity to evaluate potential tenants managers or borrowers These factors increase the risk that our

stockholders investment may not generate retums comparable to our competitors

If we raise substantially less than the maximum offering amount we will be limited in the number and type of investments

we make and the value of our stockholders investment in us will fluctuate with the perfonnance of the specific assets we

acquire

This offering is being made on best efforts basis meaning that our dealer manager is only required to use its best

efforts to sell our shares and has no firm commitment or obligation to purchase any of the shares As result there is no

assurance that we will raise the maximum offering amount and the amount of proceeds we raise in this offering may be

substantially less than the amount we would need to achieve fully diversified portfolio of investments If we are unable to

raise substantial funds we will make fewer investments resulting in less diversification in terms of the type number size and

geographic location of investments that we make In that case the likelihood that any single propertys performance would

adversely affect our profitability will increase If most of our properties are located in ingle geographic area our operating

results and ability to make distributions are likely to be impacted by economic changes affecting the real estate markets in that

area Our stockholders investment in our shares will be subject to greater risk to the extent that we lack diversified portfolio

of investments Further we will have certain fixed operating expenses including certain
expenses as publicly offered REIT

regardless of whether we are able to raise substantial funds in this offering Our inability to raise substantial funds would

increase our fixed operating expenses as percentage of
gross income reducing our net income and cash flow and limiting

our ability to make distributions

We are recently formed company with limited operating history which makes our future performance difficult to

predict

We are recently formed company and have limited operating history We were incorporated in the State of

Maryland on July 31 2009 Our stockholders should not assume that our performance will be similar to the past performance

of other real estate investment programs sponsored by affiliates of our sponsors

KBS REIT was the first publicly offered investment program sponsored by our KBS sponsors Our Legacy

sponsors have not sponsored publicly offered investment program during the last 15
years The private KBS- and

Legacy-sponsored programs were not subject to the up-front conmilssions fees and expenses associated with public offering

nor all of the laws and regulations that will apply to us For all of these reasons our stockholders should be especially

cautious when drawing conclusions about Qur future performance and they should not assume that it will be similar to the

prior performance of other KBS- or Legacy-sponsored programs Our limited operating history and the differences between

us and the private KBS- and Legacy-sponsored programs significantly increase the risk and uncertainty our stockholders face

in making an investment in our shares

Because we are dependent upon our advisor and its affiliates to conduct our operations any adverse changes in the

financial health of our advisor or its affiliates or our relationship with them could hinder our operating performance and

the return on our stockholders investment

We are dependent on KBS Capital Advisors to manage our operatipns and our portfolio of real estate properties Our

advisor will depend upon the fees and other compensation that it will receive from us KBS REIT KBS REIT II

KBS REIT III KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT and other public KBS-sponsored programs in connection with the purchase

management and sale of assets to conduct its operations Any adverse changes in the financial condition of KBS Capital

Advisors or our relationship with KBS Capital Advisors could hinder its ability to successfully manage our operations and our

portfolio of investments
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Our ability to implement our investment strategy is dependent in part upon the ability of KBS Capital Markets Group our

dealer manager to successfully conduct this offering which makes an investment in us more speculative

We have retained KBS Capital Markets Group an affiliate of our advisor to conduct this offering The success of

this offering and our ability to implement our business strategy is dependent upon the ability of KBS Capital Markets Group

to build and maintain network of broker-dealers to sell our shares to their clients If KBS Capital Markets Group is not

successful in establishing operating and managing this network of broker-dealers our ability to raise proceeds through this

offering will be limited and we may not have adequate capital to implement our investment strategy If we are unsuccessful in

implementing our investment strategy our stockholders could lose all or part of their investment

If we pay distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations we will have less funds available for

investment in properties the overall return to our stockholders may be reduced and subsequent investors may experience

dilution

Our organizational documents permit us to pay distributions from any source If we fund distributions from

financings the net proceeds from this offering or sources other than cash flow from operations we will have fewer funds

available for investment in real estate properties the overall retum to our stockholders may be reduced and subsequent

investors may experience dilution We expect to have little if any cash flow from operations available for distribution until

we make substantial investments Further because we may receive income from interest or rents at various times during our

fiscal year and because we may need cash flow from operations during particular period to fund capital expenditures and

other expenses we expect that at least during the early stages of our development and from time to time during our

operational stage we will declare distributions in anticipation of cash flow that we expect to receive during later period and

we will pay these distributions in advance of our actual receipt of these funds In these instances we expect to utilize third-

party borrowings to fund our distributions We may also fund such distributions from advances from our advisor or sponsors

or from our advisors deferral of its asset management fee In addition to the extent distributions exceed cash flow from

operations stockholders basis in our stock will be reduced and to the extent disthbutions exceed stockholders basis the

stockholder may recognize capital gain There is no limit on the amount of distributions we can fund from sources other than

from cash flows from operations

The inability of our advisor to engage and retain the services of key real estate professionals and the inability of our dealer

manager to retain key employees could delay or hinder implementation of our investment strategies which could limit our

ability to make distributions and decrease the value of an investment in our shares

Our success depends to significant degree upon the contributions of Messrs Bren Butcher Henry and McMillan

and through our dealer manager Michael Crimmins each of whom would be difficult to replace Neither we nor our

affiliates have employment agreements with these individuals and they may not remain associated with us If
any

of these

persons were to cease their association with us our operating results could suffer We do not intend to maintain key person

life insurance on any person We believe that our future success depends in large part upon our advisors and its affiliates

ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial operational and marketing professionals Competition for such

professionals is intense and our advisor and its affiliates may be unsuccessful in attracting and retaining such skilled

individuals Further we intend to establish strategic relationships with firms that have special expertise in certain services or

detailed knowledge regarding real properties in certain geographic regions Maintaining such relationships will be important

for us to effectively compete with other investors for properties and tenants in such regions We may be unsuccessful in

establishing and retaining such relationships If we lose or are unable to obtain the services of highly skilled professionals or

do not establish or maintain appropriate strategic relationships our ability to implement our investment strategies could be

delayed or hindered and the value of our stockholders investment may decline

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our independent directors are limited which could

reduce our stockholders and our recovery against them if they negligently cause us to incur losses

Maryland law provides that director has no liability in that capacity if he performs his duties in good faith in

manner he reasonably believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in like position

would use under similar circumstances Our charter provides that no independent director shall be liable to us or our

stockholders for monetary damages and that we will generally indemnify them for losses unless they are grossly negligent or

engage in willful misconduct As result our stockholders and we may have more limited rights against our independent

directors than might otherwise exist under common law which could reduce our stockholders and our recovery from these

persons if they act in negligent manner In addition we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our

independent directors as well as by our other directors officers employees if we ever have employees and agents in some

cases which would decrease the cash otherwise available for distribution to our stockholders
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We may change our targeted investments without stockholder consent

We may make adjustments to our target portfolio based on real estate market conditions arid investment

opportunities and we may change our targeted investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our

stockholders which could result in our making investments that are different from and possibly riskier than the investments

described in this prospectus change in our targeted investments or investment guidelines may increase our exposure to

interest rate risk default risk and real estate market fluctuations all of which could adversely affect the value of our common

stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

Our sponsors and their respective affiliates including our advisor all of our executive officers and some of our directors

and other key real estate professionals face conflicts of interest caused by their compensation arrangements with us which

could result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders

Our advisor and its affiliates will receive substantial fees from us These fees could influence our advisors advice to

us as well as the judgment of affiliates of our advisor Among other matters these compensation arrangements could affect

their judgment with respeØt to

the continuation renewal or enforcement of our agreements with KBS Capital Advisors and its affiliates

including the advisory agreement and the dealer-manager agreement

public offerings of equity by us which entitle KBS Capital Markets Group to dealer-manager fees and will likely

entitle KBS Capital Advisors to increased acquisition and asset-management fees

sales of properties and other investments including subject to the approval of our conflicts committee sales to

affiliates which entitle KBS Capital Advisors to disposition fees and possible subordinated incentive fees

acquisitions of properties and other investments which entitle KBS Capital Advisors to acquisition and asset-

management fees and in the case of acquisitions of investments from other KBS-sponsored programs might

entitle affiliates of KBS Capital Advisors to disposition fees and possible subordinated incentive fees in

connection with its services for the seller

borrowings to acquire properties and other investments which borrowings will increase the acquisition and

asset-management fees payable to KBS Capital Advisors

whether and when we seek to list our common stock on national securities exchange which listing could entitle

KBS Capital Advisors to subordinated incentive listing fee

whether we seek stockholder approval to internalize our management which may entail acquiring assets such as

office space furnishings and technology costs and negotiating compensation for real estate professionals at our

advisor and its affiliates that may result in such individuals receiving more compensation from us than they

currently receive from our advisor

The fees our advisor receives in connection with the acquisition origination and management of assets are based on

the cost of the investment and not based on the quality of the investment or the quality of the services rendered to us This

may influence our advisor to recommend riskier transactions to us

whether and when to terminate our advisory agreement with KBS Capital Advisors which may entitle

KBS Capital Advisors to receive subordinated performance fee that under certain circumstances we may be

required to pay even though our stockholders do not ultimately realize return on their investment in us and

whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets which sale could entitle KBS Capital Advisors to

subordinated incentive fee
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Because other real estate programs sponsored by our sponsors and offered through our dealer manager may conduct

offerings concurrently with our offering our sponsors and our dealer manager will face potential conflicts of interest

arising from competition among us and these other programs for investors and investment capita4 and such conflicts may
not be resolved in our favor

Our advisor is also the external advisor of KBS REIT III and KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT which are raising

capital in ongoing public offerings of common stock KBS Capital Markets Group the affiliated dealer manager of our

KBS sponsors and the dealer manager for our offering also acts as the dealer manager for the KBS REIT III and

KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT offerings We expect that both KBS REIT III and KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT will be

raising capital in their respective public offerings concurrently with our offering In addition other future programs that our

sponsors may decide to sponsor may seek to raise capital through public offerings conducted concurrently with our offering

As result our sponsors and our dealer manager may face conflicts of interest arising from potential competition with these

other programs for investors and investment capital Our sponsors generally seek to avoid simultaneous public offerings by

programs that have substantially similar mix of investment characteristics including targeted investment types and key

investment objectives Nevertheless there may be periods during which one or more programs sponsored by our sponsors

will be raising capital and which might compete with us for investment capital Such conflicts may not be resolved in our

favor and our stockholders will not have the opportunity to evaluate the manner in which these conflicts of interest are

resolved before or after making their investment

Our sponsors our officers KBS Capital Advisors and the real estate professionals assembled by our advisor-will face

competing demands relating to their time and this may cause our operations and our stockho.Mers investment to suffer

We rely on our sponsors our officers KBS Capital Advisors and on real estate professionals that our advisor retains

to provide services to us for the day-to-day operation of our business Messrs Bren McMillan and Snyder and Ms Yamane

are also executive officers of KBS REIT KBS REIT II and KBS REIT III and Mr Bren is an executive officer of

KBS Realty Advisors and its affiliates the advisors of the other KBS-sponsored programs and the investment advisors to

institutional investors in real estate and real estate-related assets In addition Messrs McMillan and Snyder and Ms Yamane

are executive officers of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT Mr Butcher is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer of Legacy Partners Residential Inc firm that together with Legacy Partners Commercial LLC and other affiliated

entities manages commercial and residential real estate portfolio currently valued in excess of $6 billion Mr Butcher is

integral to the management of Legacy Partners Realty Funds II III Mr Henry is President of Legacy Partners

Residential Inc for which Mr Hays acts as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Managing Director Messrs Butcher

Henry and Hays are all involved in the management of the Legacy Partners Affordable Housing Fund As result of their

interests in other programs their obligations to other investors and the fact that they engage in and they will continue to

engage in other business activities on behalf of themselves and others Messrs Bren Butcher Henry Hays McMillan and

Snyder and Ms Yamane face conflicts of interest in allocating their time among us and other KBS- and Legacy-sponsored

programs and other business activities in which they are involved Should our advisor breach its fiduciary duty to us by

inappropriately devoting insufficient time or resources to our business the retums on our investments and the value of our

stockholders investment may decline

All of our executive officers some of our directors and the key real estate professionals assembled by our advisor face

conflicts of interest related to their positions and/or interests in affiliates of our sponsors including our dealer manager
which could hinder our ability to implement our business strategy and to generate returns to our stockholders

All of our executive officers some of our directors and key real estate professionals assembled by our advisor are

also executive officers directors managers key professionals and/or holders of direct or indirect controlling interest in our

advisor the sub-advisor our dealer manager and other sponsor-affiliated entities Through sponsor-affiliated entities some of

these persons also serve as the investment advisors to institutional investors in real estate and real estate-related assets

Through KBS Capital Advisors and KBS Realty Advisors some of these
persons

work on behalf of KBS REIT

KBS REIT II KBS REIT Ill KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT and other KBS-sponsored programs And through

Legacy Residential and Legacy Commercial affiliated entities some of these persons serve as managers for Legacy Partners

Affordable Housing Fund Legacy Partners Realty Fund Legacy Partners Realty Fund II and Legacy Partners Realty

Fund III As result they owe fiduciary duties to each of these entities their members and limited partners and these

investors which fiduciary duties may from time to time conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our

stockholders Their loyalties to these other entities and investors could result in action or inaction that breach their fiduciary

duties to us and is detrimental to our business which could harm the implementation of our business strategy and our

investment and leasing opportunities If we do not successfully implement our business strategy we may be unable to

generate the cash needed to make distributions to our stockholders and to maintain or increase the value of our assets
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Risks Related to This Offering and Our Corporate Structure

Our charter limits the number of shares person may own which may discourage takeover that could otherwise result in

premiumprice to our stockholders

Our charter with certain exceptions authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to

preserve our qualification as REIT To help us comply with the REIT ownership requirements of the Internal Revenue

Code our charter prohibits person
from directly or constructively owrnng more than 9.8% of our outstanding shares unless

exempted by our board of directors This restriction may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change in

control of us including an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our

assets that might provide premium price for holders of our common stock

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may subordinate the rights of our common
stockholders or discourage third party from acquiring us in manner that could result in premium price to our

stockholders

Our board of directors may classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and establish the

preferences conversion or other rights voting powers restrictions limitations as to dividends and other distributions

qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption of any such stock Thus our board of directors could authorize the

issuance of preferred stock with priority as to disthbutions and amounts payable upon liquidation over the rights of the holders

of our common stock Such preferred stock could also have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing change in control

of us including an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of alL or substantially all of our assets that

might provide premium price to holders of our common stock

Our stockholders will have limited con trol over changes in our policies and operations which increases the uncertainty

and risks our stockholders face

Our board of directors determines our major policies including our policies regarding financing growth debt

capitalization REIT qualification and distributions Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies

without vote of the stockholders Under Maryland General Corporation Law and our charter our stockholders have right

to vote only on limited matters Our boards broad discretion in setting policies and our stockholders inability to exert control

over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks our stockholders face

Our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares under our share redemption program and if our stockholders are

able to sell their shares under the program they may not be able to recover the amount of their investment in our shares

Our share redemption program includes numerous restrictions that limit our stockholders ability to sell their shares

and because of these restrictions we have no funds available to fund redemptions under our share redemption program in

2011 Our stocld-iolders must hold their shares for at least one year in order to participate in the share redemption program

except for redemptions sought upon stockholders death or qualifying disability or determination of incompetence We
limit the number of shares redeemed pursuant to the share redemption program as follows during any calendar year we

may redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar year and

during each calendar year redemptions are limited to the amount of net proceeds from the sale of shares under our

dividend reinvestment plan during the prior calendar year Further we have no obligation to redeem shares if the redemption

would violate the restrictions on.distributions under Maryland law which prohibits distributions that would cause

corporation to fail to meet statutory tests of solvency These limits may prevent us from accommodating all redemption

requests made in any year In particular the limitation on redemptions to the amount of net proceeds from the sale of shares

under our dividend reinvestment plan during the prior calendar year may significantly limit your ability to have your shares

redeemed pursuant to our share redemption program because we expect to declare distributions only when our board of

directors determines we have sufficient cash flow Particularly during our offering stage we may not have significant cash

flow to pay distributions which would in turn severely limit redemptions during the next calendar year Our board would be

free to amend suspend or terminate the share redemption program upon 30 days notice
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The prices at which we will initially redeem shares under the program are as follows

The lower of $9.25 or 92.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least one year

The lower of $9.50 or 95.0% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least two years

The lower of $9.75 or 97.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least three years and

The lower of $10.00 or 100% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

.-
shares for at least four years

Notwithstanding the above once we establish an estimated value per share of our common stock that is not based on

the price to acquire share in our primary offering or follow-on public offering the redemption price per share for all

stockholders would be equal to the estimated value per share as determined by our advisor or another firm chosen for that

purpose We expect to establish an estimated value per share after the completion of our offering stage We will consider our

offering stage complete when we are no longer publicly offering equity securities whether through this offering or follow-on

public offerings and have not done so for 18 months These restrictions would severely limit our stockholders ability to sell

their shares should they require liquidity and would limit their ability to recover the value they invested

The offering price of our shares was not established on an independent basis the actual value of our stockholders

investment may be substantially less than what they pay We may use the most recent price paid to acquire share in this

offering or follow-on public offering as the estimated value of our shares until we have completed our offering stage

Even when our advisor begins to use other valuation methods to estimate the value of our shares the value of our shares

illbe based upon number of assumptions that may not be accurate or complete

We established the offering price of our shares on an arbitrary basis The selling price of our shares bears no

relationship to our book or asset values or to any other established criteria for valuing shares Because the offering price is not

based upon any independent valuation the offering price may not be indicative of the proceeds that our stockholders would

receive upon liquidation Further the offering price may be significantly more than the price at which the shares would trade

if they were to be listed on an exchange or actively traded by broker-dealers

To assist Financial Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA members and their associated persons
that participate

in our public offering of common stock pursuant to FINRA Conduct Rule 5110 we will disclose in each annual report

distributed to stockholders
per

share estimated value of the shares the method by which it was developed and the date of

the data used to develop the estimated value For this purpose our advisor has indicated that it intends to use the most recent

price paid to acquire share in this initial public offering ignoring purchase price discounts for certain categories of

purchasers or follow-on public offering as its estimated per share value of our shares until we have completed our offering

stage We will consider our offering stage complete when we are no longer publicly offering equity securities whether

through our initial public offering or follow-on public offerings and have not done so for 18 months For purposes of this

definition we do not consider public equity offering to include offerings on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings

related to dividend reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our Operating Partnership

Our charter does not restrict our ability to conduct offerings in the future and if our board of directors determines that it is in

our best interest we may conduct follow-on offerings upon the termination of our initial public offering

Although this initial estimated value will represent the most recent price at which most investors will purchase shares

in our primary offering this reported value will likely differ from the price at which stockholder could resell his or her

shares because there is no public trading market for the shares at this time ii the estimated value will not reflect and will

not be derived from the fair market value of our assets nor will it represent the amount of net proceeds that would result from

an immediate liquidation of our assets because the amount of proceeds available for investment from our primary offering

will be net of selling commissions dealer manager fees other organization and offering costs and acquisition and origination

fees and expenses iii the estimated value will not take into account how market fluctuations affect the value of our

investments including how the current dismptions in the financial and real estate markets may affect the values of our

investments and iv the estimated value will not take into account how developments related to individual assets may
increase or decrease the value of our portfolio
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When determining the estimated value of our shares by methods other than the last price paid to acquire share in an

offering our advisor or another firm we choose for that purpose will estimate the value of our shares based upon number of

assumptions that may not be accurate or complete Accordingly these estimates may or may not be an accurate reflection of

the fair market value of our investments and will not likely represent the amount of net proceeds that would result from an

immediate sale of our assets

Because the dealer manager is one of our affiliates our stockholders will not have the benefit of an independent due

diligence review of us which is customarily performed in underwritten offerings the absence of an independent due

diligence review increases the risks and uncertainty our stockholders face

Our dealer manager KBS Capital Markets Group is one of our affiliates Because KBS Capital Markets Group is an

affiliate its due diligence review and investigation of us and our prospectus cannot be considered to be an independent review

Therefore our stockholders do not have the benefit of an independent review and investigation of this offering of the type

normally performed by an unaffiliated independent underwriter in public securities offering In addition it is likely that

there will be little or no coverage of us by independent research analysts Consequently our stockholders will not receive the

benefits associated with an independent review of our performance and of the value of our shares relative to traded REITs

Our investors interest in us will be diluted if we issue additional shares which could reduce the overall value of their

investment

Our common stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares we issue in the future Our charter authorizes

us to issue 1010000000 shares of capital stock of which 1000000000 shares are designated as common stock and

10000000 shares are designated as preferred stock Our board of directors may increase the number of authorized shares of

capital stock without stockholder approval After our investors purchase in this offering our board may elect to sell

additional shares in our current or future public offerings including through the dividend reinvestment plan issue equity

interests in private offerings issue shares to our advisor or its successors or assigns in payment of an outstanding fee

obligation or issue shares of our common stock to sellers of properties or assets we acquire in connection with an exchange

of limited partnership interests of the Operating Partnership To the extent we issue additional equity interests after our

investors purchase in this offering whether in primary offering the dividend reinvestment plan or otherwise their

percentage ownership interest in us will be diluted In addition depending upon the terms and pricing of any additional

offerings the use of the proceeds and the value of our real estate investments our investors may also experience dilution in

the book value and fair value of their shares and in the earnings and distributions per share

Payment of fees to KBS Capital Advisors and its affiliates will reduce cash available for investment and distribution and

increases the risk that our stockholders jjill not be able to recover the amount of their investment in our shares

KBS Capital Advisors and its affiliates will perform services for us in connection with the selection acquisition

management and administration of our investments We will pay them substantial fees for these services which will result in

immediate dilution to the value of our stockholders investment and will reduce the amount of cash available for investment or

distribution to stockholders Compensation to be paid to our advisor may be increased subject to approval by our conflicts

conm-iittee and the other limitations in our charter which would further dilute our stockholders investment and reduce the

amount of cash available for investment or distribution to stockholders Depending primarily upon the number of shares we

sell in our primary offering and assuming $10.00 purchase price for shares sold in the primary offering we estimate that we

will use 83.66% to 88.09% of the gross proceeds from the primary offering or between $8.37 and $8.81 per share for

investments

We may also pay significant fees during our listing/liquidation stage Although most of the fees payable during our

listing/liquidation stage are contingent on our investors first enjoying agreed-upon investment returns the investment-retum

thresholds may be reduced subject to approval by our conflicts committee and the other limitations in our charter For

instance although our advisory agreement currently requires that our stockholders receive return of their net capital plus an

8.0% per year cumulative non-compounded retum before our advisor is entitled to receive subordinated participation in our

net cash flows our charter would permit our conflicts committee to reduce the applicable investment-return threshold to as

low as return of net capital plus 6.0% per year cumulative non-compounded return without stockholder approval In

addition affiliates of KBS Capital Advisors could receive significant payments even without our reaching the investment

return thresholds should we ever seek to become self-managed Due to the apparent preference of the public markets for self

managed companies decision to list our shares on national securities exchange might well be preceded by decision to

become self-managed And given our advisors familiarity with our assets and operations if our board of directors ever did

decide that we should become self-managed then we may prefer to become self-managed by acquiring entities affiliated with

our advisor Such an internalization transaction could result in significant payments to affiliates of our advisor irrespective of

whether our stockholders enjoyed the returns on which we have conditioned other incentive compensation
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Therefore these fees increase the risk that the amount available for distribution to common stockholders upon

liquidation of our portfolio would be less than the purchase price of the shares in this offering These substantial fees and

other payments also increase the risk that our stockholders will not be able to resell their shares at profit even if our shares

are listed on national securities exchange

Our stockholders may be more likely to sustain loss on their investment because our sponsors do not have as strong an

economic incentive to avoid losses as do
sponsors

who have made significant equity investments in their companies

Our sponsors have only invested $200000 in us through the purchase of 20000 shares of our common stock at

$10 per share Therefore if we are successful in raising enough proceeds to reimburse our sponsors for our significant

organization and offering expenses our sponsors will have little exposure to loss in the value of our shares Without this

exposure our investors may be at greater risk of loss because our sponsors do not have as much to lose from decrease in

the value of our shares as do those sponsors who make more significant equity investments in their companies

Although we will not currently be afforded the protection of the Maryland General Jorporation Law relating to deterring

or defending hostile takeovers our board of directors could opt into these provisions of Maryland law in the future which

may discourage others from trying to acquire con trol of us and may prevent our stockholders from receiving premium

price for their stock in connection with business combination

Under Maryland law business combinations between Maryland corporation and certain interested stockholders

or affiliates of interested stockholders are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested

stockholder becomes an interested stockholder These business combinations include merger consolidation share

exchange or in circumstances specified in the statute an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities

Also under Maryland law control shares of Maryland corporation acquired in control share acquisition have no voting

rights except to the extent approved by vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter Shares owned by the

acquirer an officer of the corporation or an employee of the corporation who is also director of the corporation are excluded

from the vote on whether to accord voting rights to the control shares Should our board opt into these provisions of Maryland

law it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer

Similarly provisions of Title Subtitle of the Maryland General Corporation Law could provide similaranti-takeover

protection

If we do not successfully implement our liquidation policy our stockholders may have to hold their investment for an

indefinite period

Although we presently intend to complete transaction providing liquidity to stockholders within ten years from the

completion of our offering stage our charter does not require our board of directors to pursue such liquidity event Market

conditions and other factors could cause us to delay the listing of our shares on national securities exchange or delay the

commencement of our liquidation beyond ten years from the termination of our offering stage If our board of directors does

determine to pursue our liquidation policy we would be under no obligation to conclude the process within set time The

timing of the sale of assets will depend on real estate and financial markets economic conditions in the areas in which

properties are located and federal income tax effects on stockholders that may prevail in the future We cannot guarantee

that we will be able to liquidate all assets After we adopt plan of liquidation we would remain in existence until all

properties and assets are liquidated If we do not pursue liquidity event or delay such an event due to market conditions our

stockholders shares may continue to be illiquid and they may for an indefinite period of time be unable to convert their

investment to cash easily and could suffer losses on their investment

Our charter includes an anti-takeover provision that may discourage stockholder from launching tender offer for our

shares

Our charter provides that any tender offer made by stockholder including any mini-tender offer must comply

with most provisions of Regulation 14D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended The offering stockholder must

provide our company notice of such tender offer at least ten business days before initiating the tender offer If the offering

stockholder does not comply with these requirements our company will have the right to redeem that stockholders shares and

any shares acquired in such tender offer In addition the noncomplying stockholder shall be responsible for all of our

companys expenses in connection with that stockholders noncompliance This provision of our charter may discourage

stockholder from initiating tender offer for our shares and prevent him or her from receiving premium price for his or her

shares in such transaction
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General Risks Related to Investment in Real Estate

Economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market generally may weaken-our operating results and

cause us to be unable to realize appreciation in the value of properties we acquire

The performance of properties that we acquire is subject to the risks typically associated with real estate including

downturns in national regional and local economic conditions

competition from residential buildings

adverse local conditions such as oversupply or reduction in demand for residential buildings and changes in real

estate zoning laws that may reduce the desirability of real estate in an area

vacancies changes in market rental rates and the need to periodically repair renovate and re-let space

changes in the supply of or the demand for similaror competing properties in an area

changes in interest rates and the availability of permanent mortgage financing which may render the sale of

property or loan difficult or unattractive

changes or increases in tax including real and personal property taxes real estate environmental and zoning

laws and

periods of high interest rates and tight money supply all of which could adversely affect our cash flows from

operations

In addition local conditions in the markets in which we intend to own apartment communities may significantly

affect occupancy or rental rates at such properties The risks that may adversely affect conditions in those markets include the

following

layoffs and relocations of significant local employers and other events negatively impacting local employment

rates and the local economy

an oversupply of or lack ot demand for apartments

the inability or unwillingness of residents to pay rent increases and

rent control or rent stabilization laws or other housing laws which could prevent us from raising rents

These factors could weaken our operating results or cause us to be unable to realize growth in the value of our real

estate properties

concentration of our investments in the apartment community sector may leave our profitability vulnerable to

downturn or slowdown in the sector

We expect to concentrate our investments in the apartment community sector As result we will be subject to risks

inherent in investments in single type of property If our investments are substantially in the apartment community sector

then the potential effects on our revenues and as result on cash available for distribution to our stockholders resulting from

downturn or slowdown in the apartment community sector could be more pronounced than if we had more fully diversified

our investments

We depend on tenants for our revenue and accordingly our revenue and our ability to make distributions to our

stockholders is dependent upon the ability of the tenants of our properties to generate enough income to pay their rents in

timely manner

The underlying value of our properties and the ability to make distributions to our stockholders depend upon the

ability of the tenants of our properties to generate enough income to pay their rents in timely manner and the success of our

investments depends upon the occupancy levels rental income and operating expenses
of our properties and our company

Tenants inability to timely pay their rents may be impacted by employment and other constraints on their personal finances

including debts purchases and other factors These and other changes beyond our control may adversely affect our tenants

ability to make lease payments In the event of tenant default or bankruptcy we may experience delays in enforcing our

rights as landlord and may incur costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our property We may be unable to re-lease

the property for the rent previously received We may be unable to sell property with low occupancy without incurring

loss These events and others could cause us to reduce the amount of distributions we make to stockholders and the value of

our stockholders investment to decline
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Short-term multifamily and apartment leakes expose us to the effects of declining market rent which could adversely

impact our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders

We expect that substantially all of our apartment leases will be for term of one year or less Because these leases

generally permit the residents to leave at the end of the lease term without penalty our rental revenues may be impacted by

declines in market rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms

Properties that have significant vacancies could be difficult to sell which could diminish the return on these properties

property may incur vacancies either by the expiration of tenant leases or the continued default of tenants under

their leases If vacancies continue for long period of time we may suffer reduced revenues resulting in less cash available to

distribute to stockholders In addition the resale value of the property could be diminished because the market value of

particular property depends principally upon the value of the cash flow generated by the leases associated with that property

Such reduction on the resale value of property could also reduce the value of our stockholders investment

We may be unable to securefundsforfuture capitalimprovements which could adversely impact our ability to make cash

distributions to our stockholders

When residents do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space in order to attract replacement residents we

may be required to expend funds for capital improvements to the vacated apartment units In addition we may require

substantial funds to renovate an apartment community in order to sell it upgrade it or reposition it in the market If we have

insufficient capital reserves we will have to obtain financing from other sources We intend tq establish capital reserves in an

amount we in our discretion believe is
necessary

lender also may require escrow of capital reserves in excess of any

established reserves If these reserves or any reserves otherwise established are designated for other uses or are insufficient to

meet our cash needs we may have to obtain financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated sources to fund our cash

requirements We cannot assure our stockholders that sufficient financing will be available or if available will be available

on economically feasible terms or on terms acceptable to us Moreover certain reserves required by lenders may be

designated for specific uses and may not be available for capital purposes such as future capital improvements Additional

borrowing for capital needs and capital improvements will increase our interest expense and therefore our financial condition

and our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders may be adversely affected

Our inability to sell property when we want could limit our ability to pay cash distributions to our stockholders

Many factors that are beyond our control affect the real estate market and could affect our ability to sell properties for

the price on the terms or within the time frame that we desire These factors include general economic conditions the

availability of financing interest rates and other factors including supply and demand Because real estate investments are

relatively illiquid we have limited ability to vary our portfolio in
response to changes in economic or other conditions

Further before we can sell property on the terms we want it may be necessary to expend funds to correct defects or to make

improvements However we can give no assurance that we will have the funds available to correct such defects or to make

such improvements We may be unable to sell our properties at profit Our inability to sell properties at the time and on the

terms we want could reduce our cash flow and limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and could reduce the

value of our stockholders investment

If we sell property by providing financing to the purchaser we will bear the risk of default by the purchaser which could

delay or reduce the distributions available to our stockholders

If we decide to sell any of our properties we intend to use our best efforts to sell them for cash however in some

instances we may sell our properties by providing financing to purchasers When we provide financing to purchaser we

will bear the risk that the purchaser may default which could reduce our cash distributions to stockholders Even in the

absence of purchaser default the distribution of the proceeds of the sale to our stockholders or the reinvestment of the

proceeds in other assets will be delayed until the promissory notes or other property we may accept upon sale are actually

paid sold refinanced or otherwise disposed
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Potential development and constructiän delays and resultant increased costs and risks may hinder our operating results

and decrease our net income

From time to time we expect to acquire unimproved real property or properties that are under development or

construction Investments in such properties will be subject to the uncertainties associated with the development and

construction of real property including those related to re-zoning land for development environmental concerns of

governmental entities and/or community groups
and our builders ability to build in conformity with plans specifications

budgeted costs and timetables If builder fails to perform we may tesort to legal action to rescind the purchase or the

construction contract or to compel performance builders performance may also be affected or delayed by conditions

beyond the builders control Delays in completing construction could also give tenants the right to terminate preconstruction

leases We may incur additional risks when we make periodic progress payments or other advances to builders before they

complete construction These and other factors can result in increased costs of project or loss of cur investment In addition

we will be subject to normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed projects We also must rely on rental income and

expense projections and estimates of the fair market value of property upon completion of construction when agreeing upon

purchase price at the time we acquire the property If our projections are inaccurate we may pay too much for property and

the return on our investment could suffer

Competition with third parties in acquiring properties may reduce our profitability and the return on our stockholders

investment

We face competition from various entities for investment opportunities in apartment community properties including

other REITs pension funds insurance companies investment funds and companies partnerships and developers Many of

these entities have substantially greater financial resources than we do and may be able to accept more risk than we can

prudently manage Competition from these entities may reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us

or increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell Additionally disruptions and dislocations in the credit

markets have materially impacted the cost and availability of debt to finance real estate acquisitions which is key

component of our acquisition strategy This lack of available debt could result in further reduction of suitable investment

opportunities and create competitive advantage for other entities that have greater financial resources than we do In

addition the number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investments may increase If we acquire

properties and other investments at higher prices and/or by using less-than-ideal capital structures our returns will be lower

and the value of our assets may not appreciate or may decrease significantly below the amount we paid for such assets If

such events occur our stockholders may experience lower return on their investment

Competition from other apartment communities for tenants could reduce our profitability and the return on our

stockholders investment

The apartment community industry is highly competitive This competition could reduce occupancy levels and

revenues at our apartment communities which would adversely affect our operations We expect to face competition from

many sources We will face competition from other apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and in the larger

geographic market where our apartment communities will be located Overbuilding of apartment communities may occur If

so this will increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and apartment rental rates In

addition increases in operating costs due to inflation may not be offset by increased apartment rental rates

Increased competition and increased affordability of single-family homes could limit our ability to retain residents lease

apartment units or increase or maintain rents

Any apartment communities we may acquire will most likely compete with numerous housing alternatives in

attracting residents including single-family homes as well as owner occupied single- and multifamily homes available to rent

Competitive housing in particular area and the increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multifamily homes

available to rent or buy caused by declining mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership

could adversely affect our ability to retain our residents lease apartment units and increase or maintain rental rates
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Our joint venture partners could take actions that decrease the value of an investment to us and lower our stockholders

overall return

We may enter into joint ventures with third parties to acquire properties We may also purchase and develop

properties in joint ventures or in partnerships co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements Such investments may
involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of investment including for example the following risks

that our co-venturer co-tenant or partner in an investment could becoræe insolvent or bankrupt

that such co-venturer co-tenant or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that are

or that become inconsistent with our business interests or goals or

that such co-venturer co-tenant or partner may be in position to take action contrary to our iflstructions or

requests or contrary to our policies or objectives

Any of the above might subject property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our returns

on that investment and the value of our stockholders investment

Costs imposed pursuant to governmental laws and regulations may reduce our net income and the cash available for

distributions to our stockholders

Real property and the -operations conducted on real property are subject to federal state and local laws and

regulations relating to protection of the environment and human health We could be subject t6 liability in the form of fines

penalties or damages for noncompliance with these laws and regulations These laws and regulations generally govern

wastewater discharges air emissions the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks the use

storage treatment transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials the remediation of contamination associated

with the release or disposal of solid and hazardous materials the presence of toxic building materials and other health and

safety-related concerns

Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on the tenants owners or operators of real

property for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties regardless of fault whether the contamination

occurred prior to purchase or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal Activities of our tenants the condition

of properties at the time we buy them operations in the vicinity of our properties such as the presence of underground storage

tanks or activities of unrelated third parties may affect our properties

The presence of hazardous substances or the failure to properly manage or remediate these substances may hinder

our ability to sell rent or pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings Any material expenditures fines penalties

or damages we rriust pay will reduce our ability to make distributions and may reduce the value of our stockholders

investment

The costs of defending against claims of environmental liability of complying with environmental regulatory

requirements of remediating any contaminated property or of paying personal injury claims could reduce the amounts

available for distribution to our stockholders

Under various federal state and local environmental laws ordinances and regulations current or previous real

property owner or operator may be liable for the cost of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances on under or

in such property These costs could be substantial Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator

knew of or was responsible for the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances Environmental laws also may impose

liens on property or restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated and these

restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us from entering into leases with prospective tenants that may be

impacted by such laws Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental

agencies or in certain circumstances by private parties Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be

used to impose liability for the release of and
exposure to hazardous substances including asbestos-containing materials and

lead-based paint Third parties may seek recovery from real property owners or operators for personal injury or property

damage associated with exposure to released hazardous substances The costs of defending against claims of environmental

liability of complying with environmental regulatory requirements of remediating any contaminated property or of paying

personal injuty claims could reduce the amounts available for distribution to our stockholders
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Costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act may decrease cash available for distributions

Our properties may be subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended Under the Disabilities

Act all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by

disabled persons The Disabilities Act has separate compliance requirements for public accoimnodations and commercial

facilities that generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities The

Disabilities Acts requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief

monetary penalties or in some cases an award of damages Any funds used for Disabilities Act compliance will reduce our

net income and the amount of cash available for distributions to our stockholders

Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for insurance coverage could reduce our cash

flows and the return on our stockholders investment

There are types of losses generally catastrophic in nature such as losses due to wars acts of terrorism earthquakes

floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not economically insurable or may be insured

subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments Insurance risks associated with potential acts of terrorism

could sharply increase the premiums we pay for
coverage against property and casualty claims Additionally mortgage

lenders in some cases have begun to insist that commercial property owners purchase coverage against terrorism as

condition for providing mortgage loans Such insurance policies may not be available at reasonable costs if at all which

could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties In such instances we may be required to provide other

financial support either through financial assurances or self-insurance to cover potential losses We may not have adequate

coverage for such losses If any of our properties incurs casualty loss that is not fully insured the value of our assets will be

reduced by any such uninsured loss which may reduce the value of our stockholders investment In addition other than any

working capital reserve or other reserves we may establish we have no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any

uninsured property Also to the extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance we could suffer reduced

earnings that would result in lower distributions to stockholders

Risks Associated with Debt Financing

We incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings which increases our risk of loss due to foreclosure

We may obtain lines of credit and long-term financing that may be secured by our properties and other assets In

some instances we may acquire real properties by financing portion of the price of the properties and mortgaging or

pledging some or all of the properties purchased as security for that debt We may also incur mortgage debt on properties that

we already own in order to obtain funds to acquire additional properties In addition we may borrow as necessary or

advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as REIT for federal income tax purposes including borrowings to

satisfy th REIT requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our stockholders

computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and excluding net capital gain We however can give our

stockholders no assurance that we will be able to obtain such borrowings on satisfactory terms

If we do mortgage property and there is shortfall between the cash flow from that property and the cash flow

needed to service mortgage debt on that property then the amount of cash available for distributions to stockholders may be

reduced In addition incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss of property since defaults on indebtedness secured

by property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions In that case we could lose the property securing the loan

that is in default reducing the value of stockholders investment For tax purposes foreclosure of any of our properties

would be treated as sale of the property for purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the

mortgage If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property we would

recognize taxable income on foreclosure even though we would not necessarily receive any cash proceeds We may give full

or partial guaranties to lenders of mortgage debt on behalf of the entities that own our properties When we give guaranty on

behalf of an entity that owns one of our properties we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not

paid by such entity If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions default on single property

could affect multiple properties

We may also obtain recourse debt to finance our acquisitions and meet our REIT distribution requirements If we

have insufficient income to service our recourse debt obligations our lenders could institute proceedings against us to

foreclose upon our assets If lender successfully forecloses upon any of our assets our ability to pay cash distributions to

our stockholders will be limited and our stockholders could lose all or part of their investment
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High mortgage rates may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties which could reduce the number of

properties we can acquire our cash flows from operations and the amount of cash distributions we can make

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates we may not be able to finance the purchase of properties If we

place mortgage debt on properties we run the risk of being unable to refinance the properties when the debt becomes due or of

being unable to refinance on favorable terms If interest rates are higher when we refinance the properties our income could

be reduced We may be unable to refinance properties If any of these events occurs our cash flow would be reduced This

in turn would reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders and may hinder our ability to raise capital by issuing

more stock or borrowing more money

We may not be able to access financing sources on attractive terms which could adversely affect our ability to execute our

business plan

We may finance our assets over the long-term through variety of means including through the use of credit

facilities Our ability to execute this strategy will depend on various conditions in the markets for financing in this manner

that are beyond our control including lack of liquidity and greater credit spreads We cannot be certain that these markets will

remain an efficient source of long-term financing for our assets If our strategy is not viable we will have to find alternative

forms of long term financing for our assets as secured revolving credit facilities may not accommodate long term financing

This could subject us to more recourse indebtedness and the risk that debt service on less efficient forms of financing would

require larger portion of our cash flows thereby reducing cash available for distribution to our stockholders and funds

available for operations as well as for future business opportunities

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations which could limit our ability to make

distributions to our stockholders

When providing financing lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies

and our ability to incur additional debt Loan agreements we enter may contain covenants that limit our ability to further

mortgage property or that prohibit us from discontinuing insurance coverage or replacing KBS Capital Advisors as our

advisor These or other limitations would decrease our operating flexibility and our ability to achieve our operating

objectives

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and limit our ability to pay distributions to our

stockholders

Increases in interest rates will increase the cost of debt that we incur which could reduce the cash we have available

for distributions Additionally to the expect that we incur variable rate debt increases in interest rates would increase our

interest costs which would reduce our cash flows and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders In addition if we

need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates we could be required to liquidate one or more of our

investments at times that may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments

We have broad authority to incur debt and high debt levels could hinder our ability to make distributions and decrease the

value of our stockholders investment

Our policies do not limit us from incurring debt until our borrowings would exceed 75% of the cost of our tangible

assets before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves and we may exceed this limit with the approval of the

conflicts committee of our board of directors During the early stages of this offering we expect that our conflicts conmiittee

will approve debt in excess of this limit High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges and higher debt

service payments and may also be accompanied by restrictive covenants These factors could limit the amount of cash we

have available to distribute and could result in decline in the value of our stockholders investment
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Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to qualify as REIT would subject us to federal income tax which would reduce the cash available for distribution

to you

We expect to operate in manner that will allow us to qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes

commencing with our taxable year ended December 31 2010 However the federal income tax laws goveming REITs are

extremely complex and interpretations of the federal income tax hiws governing qualification as REIT are limited

Qualifying as REIT requires us to meet various tests regarding the nature of our assets and our income the ownership of our

outstanding stock and the amount of our distributions on an ongoing basis While we intend to operate so that we will qualify

as REIT given the highly complex nature of the rules goveming REITs the ongoing importance of factual determinations

including the tax treatment of certain investments we may make and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances no

assurance can be given that we will so qualify for any particular year If we fail to qualify as REIT in any calendar year and

we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions we would be required to pay federal income tax on our taxable

income We might need to borrow money or sell assets to pay that tax Our payment of income tax would decrease the

amount of our income available for distribution to you Furthermore if we fail to maintain our qualification as REIT and we
do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions we no longer would be required to distribute substantially all of our REIT

taxable income to our stockholders Unless our failure to qualify as REIT were excused under federal tax laws we would be

disqualified from taxation as REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost

Our stockholders may have current tax liability on distributions they elect to reinvest in our common stock

If our stockholders participate in our dividend reinvestment plan they will be deemed to have received and for

income tax purposes will be taxed on the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the extent the amount

reinvested was not tax-free retum of capital In addition our stockholders will be treated for tax purposes as having received

an additional distribution to the extent the shares are purchased at discount to fair market value if any As result unless

our stockholders are tax-exempt entities they may have to use funds from other sources to pay their tax liability on the value

of the shares of common stock received

Even if we qualify as REIT forfederal income tax purposes we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our

cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

Even if we qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we may be subject to some federal state and local

taxes on our income or property For example

In order to qualify as REIT we must disthbute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our

stockholders which is determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain To the

extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income we

will be subject to federal corporate income tax on the undistributed income

We will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount if any by which distributions we pay in any

calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income 95% of ur capital gain net income and

100% of our undistributed income from prior years

If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with foreclosure of mortgage loan or certain

leasehold terminations as foreclosure property we may avoid the 100% tax on gain from resale of that

property but the income from the sale or operation of that property may be subject to corporate income tax at the

highest applicable rate

If we sell an asset other than foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business our gain would be subject to the 100% prohibited transaction tax unless such sale were

made by one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries

We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue

Code
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To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions to make

distributions to our stockholders which could increase our operating costs and decrease the value of our stockholders

investment

To qualify as REIT we must distribute to our stockholders each year 90% of our REIT taxable income which is

detennined without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain At times we may not have sufficient funds to

satisfy these distribution requirements and may need to borrow funds to maintain opr REIT status and avoid the payment of

income and excise taxes These borrowing needs could result from differences in timing between the actual receipt of cash

and inclusion of income for federal income tax purposes ii the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures iiithe

creation of reserves or iv required debt or amortization payments We may need to borrow funds at times when the market

conditions are unfavorable Such borrowings could increase our costs and reduce the value of our stockholders investment

To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive opportunities which may delay or hinder our

ability to meet our investment objectives and reduce our stockholders overall return

To qualify as REIT we must satisfy certain tests on an ongoing basis conceming among other things the sources

of our income nature of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders We may be required to make

distributions to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our busidess or when we do not

have funds readily available for distribution Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely

on the basis of maximizing profits and the value of our stockholders investment

The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions includinj certain methods of securitizing

mortgage loans that would be treated as sales forfederalincome tax purposes

REITs net income from prohibited transactions is subject to 100% tax In general prohibited transactions are

sales or other dispositions of assets other than foreclosure property deemed held primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of business We might be subject to this tax if we were to dispose of or securitize loans in manner that was

treated as sale of the loans for federal income tax purposes Therefore in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax we

may choose not to engage in certain sales of loans at the REIT level and may limit the structures we utilize for our

securitization transactions even though the sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us

It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax by conducting certain activities through

taxable REIT subsidiaries However to the extent that we engage in such activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries the

income associated with such activities may be subject to full corporate income tax

The Internal Revenue Service may challenge our characterization of certain income from offshore taxable REIT

subsidiaries

We may form offshore corporate entities treated as taxable REIT subsidiaries If we form such subsidiaries we may
receive certain income inclusions with respect to our equity investments in these entities We intend to treat such income

inclusions to the extent matched by repatriations of cash in the same taxable year as qualifying income for purposes of the

95% gross income test but not the 75% gross income test Because there is no clear precedent with respect to the qualification

of such income inclusions for purposes of the REIT gross income tests no assuràncecan be given that the Intemal Revenue

Service will not assert contrary position If such income does not qualify for the 95%
gross

income test we could be subject

to penalty tax or we could fail to qualify as REIT in both events only if such inclusions along with certain other non-

qualifying income exceed 5% of our gross income

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes

At any time the federal income tax laws or regulations goveming REITs or the administrative interpretations of those

laws or regulations may be amended We cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law regulation or

administrative interpretation or any amendment to any existing federal income tax law regulation or administrative

interpretation will be adopted promulgated or become effective and any such law regulation or interpretation may take effect

retroactively We and our stockholders could be adversely affected by any such change in or any new federal income tax

law regulation or administrative interpretation
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Dividends payable by REITs do not quahfy for the reduced tax rates

Legislation enacted in 2003 and modified in 2005 and 2010 generally reduces the maximum tax rate for dividends

payable to domestic stockholders that are individuals trusts and estates to 15% through 2012 Dividends payable by REITs

however are generally not eligible for the reduced rates Although this legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of

REITs or dividends paid by REITs the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate dividends could cause investors

who are individuals trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in

stock of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs including

our common stock

Retirement Plan Risks

If the fiduciary of an employee benefit plan subject to ERISA such as profit sharing Section 401k or pension plan or

an owner of retirement arrangement subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code such as an individual

retirement account IRAfails to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code as

result of an investment in our stock the fiduciary could be subject to penalties and other sanctions

There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act ERISA such as profit sharing Section 401k or pension plans and other retirement plans or accounts

subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code such as an IRA that are investing in our shares Fiduciaries and IRA

owners investing the assets of such plan or account in our common stock should satisfy themselves that

the investment is consistent with their fiduciary and other obligations under ERISA and the Internal Revenue

Code

the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan or IRA including

the plans or accounts investment policy

the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404a1B and 404a1C
of ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code

the investment in our shares for which no public market currently exists is consistent with the liquidity needs of

the plan or IRA

the investment will not produce an unacceptable amount of unrelated business taxable income for the plan or

IRA

our stockholders will be able to comply with the requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code to

value the assets of the plan or IRA annually and

the investment will not constitute prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the

Intemal Revenue Code

With respect to the annual valuation requirements described above we will provide an estimated value for our shares

annually We can make no claim whether such estimated value will or will not satisfy the applicable annual valuation

requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code The Department of Labor or the Internal Revenue Service may
determine that plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian is required to take further steps to determine the value of our common

shares In the absence of an appropriate determination of value plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian may be subject to

damages penalties or other sanctions See Part II Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA and the Internal

Revenue Code may result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties and could subject the fiduciary to claims for

damages or for equitable remedies including liability for investment losses In addition if an investment in our shares

constitutes prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code the fiduciary or IRA owner who authorized or

directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount invested In addition the

investment transaction must be undone In the case of prohibited transaction involving an IRA owner the IRA may be

disqualified as tax-exempt account and all of the assets of the IRA may be deemed distributed and subjected to tax ERISA

plan fiduciaries and IRA owners should consult with counsel before making an investment in our common shares
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have no unresolved staff comments

ITEM PROPERTIES

As of December 31 2010 we owned 453178 square foot Class apartment complex containing 504 units The

total cost of this property was $36.1 million plus closing costs The follpwing is summary of our real estate portfolio as of

December 31 2010

Date Nunter Monthly Average Monthly Rent

Property Location Acquired of Units Rent Occupancy per Leased Unit

Legacy at Valley Ranch Irving TX 10/26/20 10 504 405140 95% 842.29

Monthly rent is based on the aggregate contractual rent from leases in effect as of December 31 2010

Monthly rent per leased unit is calculated as the aggregate contractual rent from leases in effect as of December 31 2010 divided by the number of lease units

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business Management is

not aware of any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on our results

of operations or financial condition Nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by government agencies

ITEM REMOVED AND RESERVED
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Stockholder Information

As of March 2011 we had 541994 shares of common stock outstanding held by total of 147 stockholders The

number of stockholders is based on the records of DST Systems Inc who serves as our transfer agent

Market Information

No public market currently exists for our shares of common stock and we currently have no plans to list our shares

on national securities exchange Until our shares are listed if ever our stockholders may not sell their shares unless the

buyer meets the applicable suitability and minimum purchase requirements In addition our charter prohibits the ownership

of more than 9.8% of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors Consequently there is the risk that our

stockholders may not be able to sell their shares at time or price acceptable to them

To assist the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA members and their associated persons that

participate in the initial public offering of our common stock pursuant to FINRA Conduct Rule 5110 we will disclose in each

annual report distributed to stockholders per share estimated value of our shares the method by which it was developed and

the date of the data used to develop the estimated value In addition KBS Capital Advisors our advisor will prepare annual

statements of estimated share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to the annual reporting requirements of

ERISA in the preparation of their reports relating to an investment in our shares For this purpose the estimated value of our

shares of common stock is $10 per share as of December 31 2010 The basis for this valuation is the current public offering

price of $10 per share ignoring purchase price discounts for certain categories of purchasers Our advisor has indicated that

it intends to use the most recent price paid to acquire share in our initial public offering ignoring purchase price discounts

for certain categories of purchasers or follow-on public offering as its estimated per share value of our shares until we have

completed our offering stage We will consider our offering stage complete when we are no longer publicly offering equity

securities whether through our initial public offering or follow-on public offerings and have not done so for 18 months If

our board of directors determines that it is in our best interest we may conduct follow-on offerings upon the termination of

our initial public offering Our charter does not restrict our ability to conduct offerings in the future For purposes of this

definition we do not consider public equity offering to include offerings on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings

related to dividend reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our Operating Partnership

Although the initial estimated value represents the price at which most investors will purchase shares in our primary

offering this reported value will likely differ from the price at which stockholder could resell his or her shares because

there is no public trading market for the shares at this time ii the estimated value does not reflect and is not derived

from the fair market value of our assets nor will it represent the amount of net proceeds that would result from an immediate

liquidation of our assets because the amount of proceeds available for investment from an offering will be net of selling

commissions dealer manager fees other organization and offering costs and acquisition and origination fees and expenses

iiithe estimated value does not take into account how market fluctuations will affect the value of our investments including

how the current disruptions in the financial and real estate markets may affect the values of our investments and iv the

estimated value does not take into account how developments related to individual assets may increase or decrease the value

of our portfolio

Distribution Information

We intend to authorize and declare distributions based on daily record dates that will be paid on monthly basis We
have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Intemal Revenue Code and have operated as such beginning with our taxable

year ended December 31 2010 To qualify and maintain our qualification as REIT we must meet certain organizational and

operational requirements including requirement to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income computed without

regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in

accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles GAAP Our board of directors may authorize

distributions in excess of those required for us to maintain REIT status depending on our financial condition and such other

factors as our board of directors deems relevant
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During 2010 we declared distributions based on daily record dates for each day during the period commencing

December 16 2010 through December 31 2010 Distributions for all record dates of given month are paid approximately

15 days after month-end Total distributions declared for the period from December 16 2010 through December 31 2010

were $10277 which we paid in January 2011 Distributions were based on daily record dates and calculated at rate of

$0.00178082 per share per day and if paid each day for 365-day period would equal 6.5% annualized rate based on

purchase price of $10.00 per share

During 2010 100% of the distributions declared represented areturn of capital

On December 16 2010 our board of directors declared distributions based on daily record dates for the period from

January 2011 through January 31 2011 which we paid in February 2011 On January 24 2011 our board of directors

declared distributions based on daily record dates for the period from February 2011 through February 28 2011 which we

expect to pay in March 2011 and distributions based on daily record dates for the period from March 20 11 through

March 31 2011 which we expect to pay in April 2011 On March our board of directors declared distributions based on

daily record dates for the period from April 2011 through April 30 2011 which we expect to pay in May 2011 and

distributions based on daily record dates for the period from May 2011 through May 31 2011 which we expect to pay in

June 2011 Investors may choose to receive cash disthbutions or purchase additional shares through our dividend

reinvestment plan Distributions for these periods are calculated based on stockholders of record each day during the

distriburion period at rate of $000178082 per share per day and if paid each day for 365-day period would equal 6.5%

annualized rate based on purchase price of $10.00 per share

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities and Unregistered Sales of Equity SeCurities

On March 12 2010 our Registration Statement on Form S-il File No 333-161449 covering public offering of

up to 200000000 shares of common stock in our primary offering and 80000000 shares of common stock under our

dividend reinvestment plan was declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933 We commenced our initial public

offering on March 12 2010 upon retaining KBS Capital Markets Group LLC an affiliate of our advisor as the dealer

manager of our offering We are offering 200000000 shares of common stock in our primary offering at an aggregate

offering price of up to $2.0 billion or $10.00 per share with discounts available to certain categories of purchasers The

80000000 shares offered under our dividend reinvestment plan are initially being offered at an aggregate offering price of

$760 million or $9.50 per share We expect to sell the shares registered in our primary offering over two-year period

Under rules promulgated by the SEC in some instances we may extend the primary offering beyond that date We may sell

shares under the dividend reinvestment plan beyond the termination of the primary offering until we have sold all the shares

under the plan

On December 2010 we broke escrow in our offering and through December 31 2010 we had sold 347447 shares

of common stock for offering proceeds of $3.4 million There were no shares of common stock sold under the dividend

reinvestment plan through December 31 2010 As of December 31 2010 we had incurred selling commissions dealer

manager fees and other organization and offering costs in the amounts set forth below which amounts represent our maximum

liability for organization and offering costs as of December 31 2010 We pay selling commissions and dealer manager fees to

KBS Capital Markets Group and KBS Capital Markets Group reallows all of the selling commissions and portion of the

dealer manager fees to participating broker-dealers In addition we reimburse KBS Capital Advisors and KBS Capital

Markets Group for certain offering expenses as described in our prospectus as amended and supplemented

Estimated/ActualAmount

272556

240055

512611

3417409

Type of Expense Amount

Selling commissions and dealer manager fees

Finders fees

Other underwriting compensation

Other organization and offering costs excluding

underwriting compensation

Total expenses

Total offering proceeds

Percentage of offering proceeds used to pay for

organization and offering costs to affiliates
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Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual15%

From the commencement of our ongoing initial public offering through December 31 2010 the net offering proceeds

to us after deducting the total expenses incurred as described above were approximately $2.9 million



We expect to use substantiallyall of the net proceeds from our ongoiug initial public offering to invest in and manage

diverse portfolio of high quality apartment communities located throughout the United States We may use the net proceeds

from the sale of shares under our dividend reinvestment plan for general corporate purposes including but not limited to the

redemption of shares under our share redemption program development costs capital expenditures tenant improvement costs

and other funding obligations

During the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2010 we did not sell any equity securities that were not registered under

the Securities Act of 1933

Share Redemption Program

We have adopted share redemption program that may enable stockholders to sell their shares to us in limited

-- circumstances

Pursuant to the share redemption program as amended to date there are several limitations on our ability to redeem

shares

Unless the shares are being redeemed in connection with stockholders death qualifying disability or

determination of incompetence each as defined under the share redemption program we may not redeem

shares until the stockholder has held the shares for one year

During each calendar year the share redemption program limits the number of shares we may redeem to those

that we could purchase with the amount of the net proceeds from the issuance of shares under the dividend

reinvestment plan during the prior calendar year

During any calendar year we may redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of shares

outstanding during the prior calendar year

We have no obligation to redeem shares if the redemption would violate the restrictions on distributions under

Maryland law which prohibits disthbutions that would cause corporation to fail to meet statutory tests of

solvency

Pursuant to the program as amended we currently redeem shares as follows

The lower of $9.25 or 92.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least one year

The lower of $9.50 or 95.0% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least two years

The lower of $9.75 or 97.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least three years and

The lower of $10.00 or 100% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their

shares for at least four years

Notwithstanding the above the redemption price for redemptions sought upon the death qualifying disability or

determination of incompetence will initially be the amount paid to acquire the shares from us Furthermore once we

establish an estimated value per share of our common stock that is not based on the price to acquire share in our primary

offering or follow-on public offering the redemption price per share for all stockholders would be equal to the estimated

value per share as determined by our advisor or another firm chosen for that purpose We expect to establish an estimated

value per share upon completion of our offering stage We will consider our offering stage complete when we are no longer

publicly offering equity securities whether through our initial public offering or follow-on public offerings and have not

done so for 18 months Public equity offering for this purpose does not include offerings on behalf of selling stockholders

or offerings related to dividend reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our Operating

Partnership

We may amend suspend or terminate the share redemption program upon 30 days notice to our stockholders We
may provide this notice by including such information in Current Report on Form 8-K or in our annual or quarterly reports

all publicly filed with the SEC or by separate mailing to our stockholders

During the year ended December 31 2010 we did not redeem any shares pursuant to our share redemption program

because no shares were eligible for redemption We limit the dollar value of shares that may be redeemed under the program

as defined above We did not issue any shares under the dividend reinvestment plan during the year ended

December 31 2010 and accordingly we have no funds available for redemption under the share redemption program in 2011
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data as of December 31 2010 and 2009 for the year ended December 31 2010 and

for the period from July 31 2009 inception to December 31 2009 should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and Item Managements Discussion .and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations

As of December 31

2010 2009

Balance sheet data

Total real estate net 35886599

Total assets 40376100 198974

Total liabilities 39336539

Total stockholders equity 1039561 198974

For the Penod from

For the Year Ended July 31 2009 inception to

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Operating data

Total revenues 927774

Net loss 2053934 1026

Net loss per common share basic and diluted 50.02 0.05

Other data

Cash flows used in operating activities 540120 1026
Cash flows used in investing activities 12965037
Cash flows provided by financing activities 16431070 200000

Distributions declared 10277

Distributions declared per common share 0.028

Weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding basic and diluted 41063 20000

Reconciliation of funds from operations

Net loss 2.053.934 1.026

Depreciation of real estate assets 207408

Amortization of lease related costs 551908
_________________________

FF0 1294618 1026

Net loss per common share basic sod diluted is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding at December31 2010 nased on actual shares

outstanding at December 31 2010 net loss per common share basic and diluted is $5.59 per share

Distributions declared per common share assumes each share was issued and outstanding each day from December 16 2010 through December 31 2010

Distributions for the period from December 162010 through December31 2010 are based on daily record dates and calculated at rate of $000178082 per share per

day

We believe that funds from operations FF0 is beneficial indicator of the performance of an apartment REIT necause FF0 calculations exclude such items as

depreciation and amortization of real estate assets and
gains

and losses from sales of operating real estate assets which can vary among owners of identical assets in

similar conditions based on historical cost accounting and useful-life estimates they facilitate comparisons of
operating performance between periods and among other

REITs Our management believes that historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets

diminishes predictably over time Since real estate values have
historically

risen or fallen with market conditions many industry
investors and

analysts
have considered

the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves As result we believe that the use of

FF0 together with the required OAAP presentations provides more complete understanding of our performance relative to our competitors and more informed and

appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving operating financing and
investing

activities We compute FF0 in accordance with the current National

Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT definition Our computation of FF0 may not be comparable to other REIIs that do not define FF0 in

accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that
interpret

the current NAREIT definition differently
than we do

FF0 is non-GAAP financial measure and does not represent net income as defined by GAAP Net income as defined by GAAP is the must relevant measure in

determining our operating performance because FF0 includes adjustments that investors may deem subjective such as adding back expenses such as depreciation
and

amortization Accordingly FF0 should not be considered as an altemative to net income as an indicator of our operating performance
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data above and

our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto Also see Forward-Looking Statements

preceding Part of this Annual Report on Fonn 10-K

Overview

We were formed on July 31 2009 as Maryland corporation and intend to qualify as real estate investment trust

REIT beginning with the taxable year ending December 3.1 2010 On August 19 2009 we filed registration statement

on Form S-il with the SEC to offer minimum of 250000 shares and maximum of 280000000 shares of common stock

for sale to the public of which 80000000 shares would be offered pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan The SEC

declared our registration statement effective on March 12 2010 and we retained KBS Capital Markets Group LLC an affiliate

of our advisor to serve as the dealer manager of the offering pursuant to dealer manager agreement The dealer manager is

responsible for marketing our shares in the ongoing initial public offering

We intend to use substantially all of the net proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering to invest in and manage

diverse portfolio of high quality apartment communities located throughout the United States We expect that our portfolio

will include core apartment buildings that are already well positioned and producing rental income as well as more

opportunity oriented properties at various phases of leasing development redevelopment or repositioning We may make our

investments through the acquisition of individual assets or by acquiring portfolios of assets other REITs or real estate

companies As of December 31 2010 we owned one apartment complex

On December 2010 we broke escrow in the offering and through December 31 2010 we had sold 347447 shares

for gross offering proceeds of $3.4 million all of which were sold in the primary offering

ICES Capital Advisors is our advisor As our advisor KBS Capital Advisors is responsible for managing our

day-to-day operations and our portfolio of real estate assets Subject to the terms of the advisory agreement between

KBS Capital Advisors and us KBS Capital Advisors will delegate certain advisory duties to sub-advisor KBS-Legacy

Apartment Community REIT Venture LLC which is joint venture among KBS Capital Advisors and Legacy Partners

Residential Realty LLC Notwithstanding such delegation to the sub-advisor KBS Capital Advisors retains ultimate

responsibility for the performance of all the matters entrusted to it under the advisory agreement KBS Capital Advisors will

make recommendations on all investments to our board of directors majority of our board of directors including

majority of our independent directors acting through the conflicts committee will approve our property and real estate-related

investments ICES Capital Advisors either directly or through the sub-advisor will also provide asset-management

marketing investor-relations and other administrative services on our behalf

We intend to make an election to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the taxable

year ending December 31 2010 If we qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we generally will not be subject to

federal income tax to the extent we distribute qualifying dividends to our stockholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any

taxable year after electing RUT status we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate

income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes for

four years following the year in which our qualification is denied Such an event could materially and adversely affect our net

income and cash available for distribution However we believe that we will be organized and will operate in manner that

will enable us to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes beginning with our taxable year ending

December 31 2010 and we intend to continue to operate so as to remain qualified as REIT for federal income tax purposes

thereafter

Market Outlook Multi.Family Real Estate and Finance Markets

The Great Recession of 2008 2009 resulted in significant job losses which had an adverse effect on multifamily

real estate Vacancies at multifamily properties increased to record highs and rents decreased as owners sought to retain

existing residents and attract new residents Also capitalization rates of multifamily properties increased and caused values to

decline The ultimate impact of the Great Recession on multifamily real estate is difficult to predict however during 2010

there were positive signs that multifamily real estate has bottomed-out and is in recovery Vacancy declined rents increased

and capitalization rates decreased Further in the mid to long-term there are several trends that we expect will increase the

fundamentals of and demand for multifamily housing For further discussion of current market conditions see Part Item

Market Outlook Multi-Family Real Estate and Finance Markets
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We are dependent upon the net proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering to conduct our proposed operations

We will obtain the capital required to purchase real estate-related investments and conduct our operations from the proceeds of

our ongoing initial public offering and any future offerings we may conduct from secured or unsecured financings from banks

and other lenders and from any undistributed funds from our operations

On December 2010 we broke escrow in our ongoing initial public offeiing and through December 31 2010 we
had sold 347447 shares for gross offering proceeds of $3.4 million allof which were sold in the primary offering If we are

unable to raise substantially more funds in the offering than the minimum offering amount we will make fewer investments

resulting in less diversification in terms of the type number and size of investments we make and the value of an investment

in us will fluctuate more widely with the performance of the specific assets we acquire Further we will have certain fixed

operating expenses including certain expenses as publicly offered REIT regardless of whether we are able to raise

substantial funds in our initial public offering Our inability to raise substantial funds would increase our fixed operating

expenses as percentage of gross income reducing our net income and limiting our ability to make distributions We do not

expect to establish permanent reserve from our offering proceeds for maintenance and repairs of real properties However

to the extent that we have insufficient funds for such purposes we may establish reserves from gross offering proceeds out of

cash flow from operations or out of net cash proceeds from the sale of properties

During the year ended December 31 2010 we acquired one apartment complex Our cash needs for the acquisition

were met with the proceeds from debt financing Operating cash needs during the same period were met through cash flow

generated by our real estate investment and proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering

.- Our investment in real estate generates cash flow in the form of rental revenues and tenant reimbursements which

are reduced by operating expenditures and corporate general and administrative expenses Cash flow from operations from

our real estate investment is primarily dependent upon the occupancy level of our property the net effective rental rates on our

leases the collectibility of rent and operating recoveries from our tenants and how well we manage our expenditures As of

December 31 2010 our real estate property investment was 95% leased

As of December 31 2010 our total debt outstanding was $37.1 million Once we have fully invested the proceeds of

our initial public offering we expect that our debt financing will be between 50% and 65% of the cost of our real estate

investments before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves plus the value of our other assets Our charter limits

our borrowings to 75% of the cost before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves of all our assets however we

may exceed that limit if majority of the conflicts conmiittee approves each borrowing in excess of our charter limitation and

we disclose such borrowing to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from the conflicts committee

of the justification for the excess borrowing Due to borrowings we have made during the year
ended December 31 2010 we

will exceed our charter limitation on borrowing during the fourth quarter of 2010 The conflicts committee approved the

borrowings In each case the conflicts committee determined that the excess leverage was justified for the following reasons

the borrowings enabled us to purchase an asset and earn rental and interest income more quickly

the acquisition is likely to increase the net offering proceeds from our initial public offering thereby improving

our ability to meet our goal of acquiring diversified portfolio of properties to generate current income for

-.- investors and preserve investor capital and

the prospectus for our initial public offering disclosed the likelihood that we would exceed our charters leverage

guidelines during the early stages of the offering

In addition to making investments in accordance with our investment objectives we expect to use our capital

resources to make certain payments to our advisor and the dealer manager During our organization and offering stage these

payments will include payments to the dealer manager for selling commissions and the dealer manager fee and payments to

the dealer manager and our advisor for reimbursement of certain organization and offering expenses However our advisor

has agreed to reimburse us to the extent that selling commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering

expenses incurred by us exceed 15% of our gross offering proceeds During our acquisition and development stage we expect

to make payments to our advisor in connection with the selection and origination or purchase of investments the management

of our assets and costs incurred by our advisor in providing services to us The advisory agreement has one-year term but

may be renewed for an unlimited number of successive one-year periods upon the mutual consent of KBS Capital Advisors

and our conflicts committee
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We intend to elect to be taxed as REIT and to operate as REIT beginthng with our taxable
year ending

December 31 2010 To maintain our qualification as REIT we will be required to make aggregate annual distributions to

our stockholders of at least 90% of our REIT taxable income computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and

excluding net capital gain Our board of directors may authorize distributions in excess of those required for us to maintain

REIT status depending on our financial condition and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant We have

not established minimum distribution level

Results of Operations

Our results of operations for the year ended December 31 2010 are not indicative of those expected in future periods

as we broke escrow in our initial public offering on December 2010 and commenced real estate operations on

October 26 2010 after making our first investment During the period from inception July 31 2009 to December 31 2009

we had been formed but had not yet commenced operations as we had not yet begun our initial public offering As result

we had no material results of operations for that period The SEC declared the registration statement for our initial public

offering effective on March 12 2010 and we retained KBS Capital Markets Gronp LLC an affiliate of our advisor to serve as

the dealer manager of the offering

As of December 31 2010 we had acquired one apartment complex We funded the acquisition of this investment

through the assumption of an existing mortgage loan from an unaffiliated lender and with proceeds from bridge loan from

our advisor We expect that rental income depreciation expense amortization expense operating expenses asset

management fees interest expense and net income will each increase in future periods as result of owning the assets

acquired during the year ended December 31 2010 for an entire period and anticipated future acquisitions of apartment

communities

For the
year ended December 31 2010 total revenues all of which were generated from our one real estate

investment were $0.9 million Total expenses directly related to our real estate investment were $2.3 million consisting of

recurring expenses of $0.3 million in property operating costs $0.7 million of depreciation and amortization $0.2 million of

real estate taxes and insurance $0.1 million of asset management fess $0.4 million of interest expense and one-time real

estate acquisition fees and
expenses

of $0.6 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2010 totaled $0.7 million These general and

administrative costs consisted primarily of insurance premiums professional fees and independent director fees We recorded

independent director fees of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 all of which have been paid at

December 31 2010 We expect general and administrative costs to increase in the future based on full year of operations as

well as increased activity as we make real estate investments but to decrease as percentage of total revenue

For the year ended December 31 2010 we had net loss of $2.1 million due primarily to property operating costs

depreciation and amortization expense general and administrative costs real estate acquisition fees and expenses and interest

expense partially offset by rental income from our real estate investment

Organization and Offering Costs

Our organization and offering costs other than selling commissions and dealer manager fees may be paid by our

advisor the dealer manager or their affiliates on our behalf Other offering costs include all expenses to be incurred by us in

connection with our ongoing initial public offering Organization costs include all expenses incurred by us in connection with

our formation including but not limited to legal fees and other costs to incorporate Organization costs are expensed as

incurred and offering costs which include selling commissions and dealer manager fees are charged as incurred as

reduction to stockholders equity

Pursuant to the advisory agreement and the dealer manager agreement we are obligated to reimburse our advisor the

dealer manager or their affiliates as applicable for organization and other offering costs paid by them on our behalf however

our advisor is obligated to reimburse us to the extent selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other

offering costs incurred by us exceed 15% of gross proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering As of

December 31 2010 selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other offering costs were 15% of the

gross offering proceeds Through December 31 2010 we had sold 347447 shares for gross offering proceeds of $3.4 million

all of which were sold in the primary offering and recorded organization and other offering costs of $0.2 million and selling

commissions and dealer manager fees of $0.3 million
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.- Funds from Operations

We believe that funds from operations FF0 is beneficial indicator of the performance of an equity REIT

Because FF0 calculations exclude such items as depreciation and amortization of real estate assets and gains and losses from

sales of operating real estate assets which can vary among owners of identical assets in similarconditions based on historical

cost accounting and useful-life estimates they facilitate comparisons of operating performance between periods and among
other REITs Our management believes that historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over

time Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions many industry investors and analysts

have considered the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be

insufficient by themselves As result we believe that the use of FF0 together with the required GAAP presentations

provides more complete understanding of our performance relative to our competitors and more niformed and appropriate

basis on which to make decisions involving operating financing and investing activities We compute FF0 in accordance

with the current NAREIT definition Our computation of FF0 may not be comparable to other REITs that do not define FF0

in accordance with the NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do

FF0 is non-GAAP financial measure and does not represent net income as defined by GAAP Net income as

defined by GAAP is the most relevant measure in determining our operating performance because FF0 includes adjustments

that investors may deem subjective such as adding back expenses such as depreciation and amortization Accordingly FF0

should not be considered as an altemative to net income as an indicator of our operating performance

Our calculation of FF0 which we believe is consistent with the calculation of FF0 as defined by NAREIT is

presented in the following table for the year ended December 31 2010

Net loss 2053934

Depreciation of real estate assets 207408

Amortization of lease-related costs 551908

FF0 1294618

Set forth below is additional information related to certain items included in net loss above which may be helpful in

assessing our operating results Please see the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows for details of our

operating investing and financing cash activities

Significant Items Included in Net Loss

Aôquisition fees and expenses related to the purchase of real estate of approximately $0.6 million for the year

ended December 31 2010

Interest expense from the amortization of deferred financing costs related to notes payable of approximately

$61000 for the year ended December 31 2010 and

Interest expense from the amortization of the premium on notes payable of $19000 for the year
ended

December 31 2010

Operating cash flow and FF0 may also be used to fund all or portion of certain capitalizable items that are excluded

from FF0 such as tenant improvements building improvements and deferred leasing costs For the year ended

December 31 2010 our negative FF0 was due to limited operations as we acquired our first investment on October 26 2010

We expect FF0 to improve as we continue to grow
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Contractual Comniltments and Contingencies

In order to execute our investment strategy we primarily utilize secured debt and to the extent available may in the

future utilize unsecured debt to finance portion of our investment portfolio Management remains vigilant in monitoring the

risks inherent with the use of debt in our portfolio and is taking actions to ensure that these risks including refinance and

interest rate risks are properly balanced with the benefit of using leverage We may elect to obtain financing subsequent to

the acquisition date on future real estate acquisitions and initially acquire investments without debt financing Once we have

fully invested the proceeds of our initial public offering we expect our debt financing to be between 50% and 65% of the cost

of our tangible assets before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves Our charter limits our borrowings to 75% of

the cost before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves of our tangible assets however we may exceed that limit if

the majority of the conflicts committee approves each borrowing in excess of our charter limitation and we disclose such

borrowings to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from the conflicts committee of the

justification for the excess borrowing From time to time our debt financing may be below 50% of the cost of our tangible

assets due to the lack of availability of debt financing or repayment of debt As of December 31 2010 our borrowings were

approximately 101% of the cost before depreciation or other noncash reserves of our tangible assets

In addition to using our capital resources for investing purposes and meeting our debt obligations we expect to use

our capital resources to make certain payments to our advisor and the dealer manager However our advisor has agreed to

reimburse us to the extent that selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other offering expenses

incurred by us exceed 15% of our gross offering proceeds During our acquisition and development stage we expect to make

payments to our advisor in connection with the selection and origination or purchase of real estate and real estate-related

investments the management of our assets and costs incurred by our advisor in providing services to us The advisory

agreement is in effect through January 25 2012 and has
one-year term but may be renewed for an unlimited number of

successive one-year periods upon the mutual consent of KBS Capital Advisors and our conflicts committee

The following is summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31 2010

Payments Due During the Years Ending December 31

Contractual Obligatinns Tntal 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter

Outstanding debt obligations 37122359 14428203 829851 719145 21145160

Interest payments on outstanding debt obligatinns 7498668 1156286 1968254 2542293 1831835

Amounts include principal payments only

Projected interest payments are based on the outstanding principal amounts and interest rates in effect at December 31 2010 We incurred interest expense

of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010

Critical Accounting Policies

Below is discussion of the accounting policies that management considers critical in that they involve significant

management judgments and assumptions require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain and because they are

important for understanding and evaluating our reported financial results These judgments will affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities and our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods With different estimates or assumptions materially

different amounts could be reported in our financial statements Additionally other companies may utilize different estimates

that may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similarbusinesses

Revenue Recognition

We lease apartment units under operating leases with terms generally of one year or less Generally credit

investigations will be performed for prospective residents and security deposits will be obtained Rental revenue net of

concessions is recognized on straight-line basis over the term of the lease

We will recognize gains on sales of real estate either in total or deferred for period of time depending on whether

sale has been consummated the extent of the buyers investment in the property being sold whether our receivable is subject

to future subordination and the degree of our continuing involvement with the property after the sale If the criteria for profit

recognition under the full-accrual method are not met we will defer gain recognition and account for the continued operations

of the property by applying the percentage-of-completion reduced profit deposit installment or cost recovery method as

appropriate until the appropriate criteria are met

Other income including interest earned on the Companys cash are recognized as it is earned
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Real Estate

Depreciation and Amortization

Investments in real estate properties are carried at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of 40 years for buildings 20 years for land improvements and five to 12 years for computer furniture

fixtures and equipment Costs directly associated with the development of land and those incurred during construction are

capitalized as part of the investment basis Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred Operating expenses incurred that are

not related to the development and construction of the real estate investmehts are eipensed as incurred Repairs maintenance

and tenant turnover costs are expensed as incurred and significant replacements and improvements will be capitalized

Repairs maintenance and tenant turnover costs include all costs that do not extend the useful life of the real estate property

We consider the period of future benefit of an asset to determine its appropriate useful life

Intangible assets related to in-place leases are amortized to expense over the average remaining non-cancelable terms

of the respective in-place leases

Development Costs

We will capitalize development and construction costs including interest and other financing fees property taxes

and other direct and indirect development costs beginning when active development conmiences and ending when apartment

units are available for occupancy and all infrastructure is substantially complete

Real Estate Acquisition Valuation

We record the acquisition of income-producing real estate or real estate that will be used for the production of

income as business combination All assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination are measured at their

acquisition-date fair values Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and restructuring costs that do not meet the definition

of liability at the acquisition date are expensed in periods subsequent to the acquisition date During the year ended

December 31 2010 we acquired one apartment complex in business combination and expensed $0.6 million of acquisition

costs

Intangible assets include the value of in-place leases which represents the estimated value of the net cash flows of

the in-place leases to be realized as compared to the net cash flows that would have occurred had the property been vacant at

the time of acquisition and subject to lease-up Acquired in-place lease value are amortized to expense over the average

remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective in-place leases

We assess the acquisition-date fair values of all tangible assets identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities using

methods similar to those used by independent appraisers e.g discounted cash flow analysis and that utilize appropriate

discount and/or capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash flows are based on number of

factors including historical operating results known and anticipated trends and market and economic conditions The fair

value of tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property as if it was vacant

We record above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the present value

using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between the contractual

amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and ii managements estimate of fair market lease rates for the

corresponding in-place leases measured over period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of above-market in-place

leases and for the initial term plus any extended term for
any

leases with below-market renewal options We amortize any

recorded above-market or below-market lease values as reduction or increase respectively to rental income over the

remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases including any below-market renewal periods

We estimate the value of tenant origination and absorption costs by considering the estimated carrying costs during

hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions In estimating carrying costs management

includes real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the

expected lease-up periods We amortize the value of tenant origination and absorption costs to depreciation and amortization

expense over the remaining average non-cancelable term of the leases

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible assets identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities require us to make

significant assumptions to estimate market lease rates property-operating expenses carrying costs during lease-up periods

discount rates market absorption periods and the number of years the property will be held for investment The use of

inappropriate assumptions would result in an incorrect valuation of our acquired tangible assets identifiable intangibles and

assumed liabilities which would impact the amount of our net income
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Impairment of Real Estate and Reldted Intangible Assets and Liabilities

We will monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying-amounts of our real estate

and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable or realized When indicators of potential impairment

suggest that the carrying value of real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable we will assess

the recoverability by estimating whether we will recover the carrying value of the real estate and related intangible assets and

liabilities through its undiscounted future cash flows and its eventual disposition If based on this analysis we do not believe

that it will be able to recover the carrying value of the real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities we would record

an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the real estate and related

intangible assets and liabilities

Fair Value Measurements

Under GAAP we are required to measure certain financial instruments at fair value on recurring basis In addition

we are required to measure other financial instruments and balances at fair value on non-recurring basis e.g carrying value

of impaired real estate loans receivable and long-lived assets Fair value as defined under GAAP is the price that would be

received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the

measurement date The GAAP fair value framework uses three-tiered approach Fair value measurements are classified and

disclosed in one of the following three categories

Level unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical

assets or liabilities

Level quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments

in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which significant inputs and significant value

drivers are observable in active markets and

Level prices or valuation techniques where little or no market data is available that requires inputs that are

both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable

When available we will utilize quoted market prices from independent third-party sources to determine fair value

and will classify uch items in Level or Level In instances where the market for financial instrument is not active

regardless of the availability of nonbinding quoted market price observable inputs might not be relevant and could require

us to make significant adjustment to derive fair value measurement Additionally in an inactive market market price

quoted from an independent third party may rely more on models with inputs based on information available only to that

independent third party When we determine the market for financial instrument owned by us to be illiquid or when market

transactions for similar instruments do not appear orderly we will use several valuation sources including intemal valuations

discounted cash flow analysis and quoted market prices and will establish fair value by assigning weights to the various

valuation sources

Changes in assumptions or estimation methodologies can have material effect on these estimated fair values In

this regard the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and in many cases

may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument

We consider the following factors to be indicators of an inactive market there are few recent transactions

ii price quotations are not based on current information iii price quotations vary substantially either over time or among
market makers for example some brokered markets iv indexes that previously were highly correlated with the fair values

of the asset or liability are demonstrably uncorrelated with recent indications of fair value for that asset or liability there is

significant increase in implied liquidity risk premiums yields or performance indicators such as delinquency rates or loss

severities for observed transactions or quoted prices when compared with our estimate of expected cash flows considering all

available market data about credit and other nonperformance risk for the asset or liability vi there is wide bid-ask spread or

significant increase in the bid-ask spread vii there is significant decline or absence of market for new issuances that is

primary market for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities and viii little information is released publicly

for example principal-to-principal market

We consider the following factors to be indicators of non-orderly transactions there was not adequate exposure to

the market for period before the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual and customary for

transactions involving such assets or liabilities under current market conditions ii there was usual and customary

marketing period but the seller marketed the asset or liability to single market participant iii the seller is in or near

bankruptcy or receivership that is distressed or the seller was required to sell to meet regulatory or legal requirements

that is forced and iv the transaction price is an outlier when compared with other recent transactions for the same or

similar assets or liabilities
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Income Taxes

We intend to elect to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended and intend to operate

as such beginning with its taxable year ending December 31 2010 We expect to have little or no taxable income prior to

electing REIT status To qualify as REIT we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements including

requirement to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our stockholders which is computed without

regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in

accordance with GAAP As REIT we generally will not be subject to federal iiicome tax to the extent we distribute

qualifying dividends to our stockholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal

income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify for

-- treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is

lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions Such an event could materially

adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders However we intend to organize and

operate in such manner as to qualify for treatment as REIT

Subsequent Events

We evaluate subsequent events up until the date the consolidated financial statements are issued

Status of the Offering

We conm-ienced our ongoing initial public offering of 280000000 shares of common stock on March 12 2010 As

of March 2011 we had sold 521994 shares of common stock in the offering for gross offefing proceeds of $5.2 million

including 1213 shares of common stock under the dividend reinvestment plan for gross offering proceeds of $11525

Distributions Paid

On January 14 2011 we paid distributions of $10277 which related to distributions declared for each day in the

period from December 162010 through December 31 2010 On February 15 2011 we paid distributions of $21398 which

related to distributions declared for each day in the period from January 2011 through January 31 2011

Distribution Declaration

On January 24 2011 our board of directors declared distributions based on daily record dates for the period from

February 2011 through February 28 2011 which we expect to pay in March 2011 and distributions based on daily record

dates for the period from March 2011 through March 31 2011 which we expect to pay in April 2011 On March 2011

our board of directors declared distributions based on daily record dates for the period from April 2011 through

April 30 2011 which we expect to pay in May 2011 and distributions based on daily record dates for the period from

May 2011 through May 31 2011 which we expect to pay in June 2011 Investors may choose to receive cash distributions

or purchase additional shares through our dividend reinvestment plan

Distributions for these periods will be calculated based on stockholders of record each day during these periods at

rate of $0.00 178082
per

share per day and if paid each day for 365-day period would equal 6.5% annualized rate based on

purchase price of $10.00 per share
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to the effects of interest rate changes as result of borrowings used to maintain liquidity and to fund

the acquisition expansion and refinancing of our real estate investment portfolio and operations Our profitability and the

value of our investment portfolio may be adversely affected during any period as result of intereir rate changes Our interest

rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings prepayment penalties and cash

flows and to lower overall borrowing costs We have managed and will continue to manage interest rate risk by maintaining

ratio of fixed rate long-term debt such that floating rate exposure is kept at an acceptable level In addition we may utilize

variety of financial instruments including interest rate caps floors and swap agreements in order to limit the effects of

changes in interest rates on our operations When we use these types of derivatives to hedge the risk of interest-earning assets

or interest-bearing liabilities we may be subject to certain risks including the risk that losses on hedge position will reduce

the funds available for payments to holders of our common stock and that the losses may exceed th amount we invested in

the instruments

We borrow funds and make investments at combination of fixed and variable rates Interest rate fluctuations will

generally not affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed rate debt or fixed rate real estate loans receivable unless

such instruments mature or are otherwise terminated However interest rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed rate

instruments At December 31 2010 the fair value of our fixed rate debt was $14.0 million and the carrying value of our fixed

rate debt was $14.0 million The fair value estimate of our fixed rate debt was estimated using discounted cash flow analysis

utilizing rates we would expect to pay for debt of similar type and remaining maturity if the loans were originated at

December 31 2010 As we expect to hold our fixed rate instruments to maturity and the amounts due under such instruments

would be limited to the outstanding principal balance and any accrued and unpaid interest we do not expect that fluctuations

in interest rates and the resulting change in fair value of our fixed rate instruments would have significant impact on our

operations

Conversely movements in interest rates on variable rate debt would change our future earnings and cash flows but

not significantly affect the fair value of those instruments However changes in required risk premiums would result in

changes in the fair value of floating rate instruments At December 31 2010 we were exposed to market risks related to

fluctuations in interest rates on $23.1 million of variable rate debt outstanding Based on interest rates as of

December 31 2010 if interest rates were 100 basis points higher during the 12 months ending December 31 2011 interest

expense on our variable rate debt would increase by $0.2 million and if interest rates were 100 basis points lower during the

12 months ending December 31 2011 interest expense on our variable rate debt would decrease by approximately $21000

The interest rates of our fixed rate debt and variable rate debt at December 31 2010 were 6.0% and 3.8%

respectively The weighted-average interest rate represents the actual interest rate in effect at December 31 2010 using

interest rate indices as of December 31 2010 where applicable

For discussion of the interest rate risks related to the current capital and credit markets see Part Item 1A
Risk Factors and Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Market Outlook of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See the Index to Financial Statements at page F-i of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

None
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ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report management including our chief executive officer and chief

financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures Based

upon and as of the date of the evaluation our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that the disclosure

controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information required to

be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported as and

when required Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure

that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and

communicated to our management including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officerr as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include
report of managements assessment regarding intemal control

over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm and we have not evaluated any

change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter due to transition period

established by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

As of the quarter ended December 31 2010 all items required to be disclosed under Iorm 8-K were reported under

Form 8-K
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors

We have provided below certain information about our executive officers and directors

Name Age Positions

Preston Butcher 72 Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer

and Director

PeterM Bren 77 President and Director

Guy Hays 50 Executive Vice President

Dean Henry 65 Executive Vice President

Peter McMfflan ifi 54 Executive Vice President

David Snyder 39 Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and

Secretary

Stacie Yamane 46 Chief Accounting Officer

Gary Kachadurian 60 Independent Director

Michael Meyer 72 Independent Director

Ronald Zuzack 68 Independent Director

As of March 2011

Preston Butcher is our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer positions which he has held since our

inception in 2009 Mr Butcher is also the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Legacy Partners Residential

Inc LPRI He joined Lincoln Property Company in 1968 and was President of the Westem Region until 1998 at which

time he became Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of LPRI In 1999 Mr Butcher purchased the interests of

the other Lincoln Property Company shareholders in the Western Region operations and continued these operations under the

new Legacy Partners name Mr Butcher indirectly through tmst owns and controls 100% of LPRI and 60% of Legacy

Partners Residential Realty LLC As Chief Executive Officer of LPN Mr Butcher oversees the management and operations

of the Lega6y Residential entities including setting company strategy and monitoring performance

Mr Butcher is also the Chairman of the Board of Legacy Partners Commercial LLC position he has held since

2003 as well as director of various other of the Legacy Commercial entities involved in the ownership of Legacy Partners

Realty Fund LLC Legacy Partners Realty Fund II LLC and Legacy Partners Realty Fund III LLC As member of the

Investment Committee for all of the Legacy Residential and Legacy Commercial affiliated entities he reviews and approves

the acquisition financing and disposition of multifamily and commercial real estate investments respectively Mr Butcher

routinely reviews significant asset management related issues and the status and progress of properties under development

He also shares responsibility for investor relationships

Mr Butcher has been involved exclusively in real estate acquisitions development financing management and

dispositions for over 40 years Over the course of his career he has overseen the acquisition/development financing and

management of over 68000 residential units exceeding $5.3 billion in cost across 276 multifamily assets He has also

overseen the acquisition/development financing and management of over 68 million square feet of office and industrial space

exceeding $8.7 billion in cost across 379 commercial assets In terms of sales of real estate assets Mr Butcher has overseen

the sale of 237 multifamily assets with nearly 57000 units and exceeding $3.3 billion in cost and 310 commercial assets with

over 54 million square feet of space and exceeding $4.4 billion in cost
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Since 2002 Mr Butcher through Legacy Residential and Legacy Commercial affiliated entities has been integral to

the sponsorship of four real estate funds and raising nearly $1.5 billion of equity from institutional investors for the funds

Mr Butcher has also been key figure in Legacy Residentials real estate investment management and disposition activities

as sub-advisor to institutional clients Mr Butcher has been involved in entities as sub-advisor that raised over $2 billion

since 1995 from large institutional clients such as the AFL-CIO Building Investment Trust MG Global Real Estate

Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial Group Inc

formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding Corp Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette Inc now Credit Suisse USA Inc
Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs

Mr Butcher is co-founder and past Chairman of the Board and presently serves on the Executive Committee of the

National Multi-Housing Council He was co-founder of the California Housing Council Mr Butcher is also member of

the Policy Advisory Board of the Center for Real Estate at the University of California at Berkeley In.1 991 Mr Butcher was

invited to serve on the Board of Trustees of the Urban Land Institute He is Director of the Charles Schwab Corporation and

NorthStar Realty Finance Corporation Mr Butcher was founding board member of BRIDGE non-profit housing

corporation created to provide low to moderate income housing Mr Butcher received Bachelor of Science in Electrical

Engineering from the University of Texas at Austin

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Butcher is qualified to serve as the Chairman of our board of directors

for reasons including his 40-year track record of leadership and success in the real estate industry Mr Butchers familiarity

with acquisition development financing and management of multi-family residential properties through numerous business

cycles provides him with unique experience to guide the strategic direction of our business Mr Butchers superior leadership

skills have been demonstrated through years overseeing the management and operations of Legacy Residential businesses and

are expected to be critical asset in leading our board of directors and in his service as our Chief Executive Officer

Peter Bren is our President and one of our directors positions he has held since our inception in 2009 He is also

the President of our advisor KBS Capital Advisors and President of KBS REIT KBS REIT II and KBS REIT III Mr Bren

has served as President of these entities since their formations in October 2004 June 2005 July 2007 and January 2010

respectively Mr Bren is also sponsor of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT which was formed in 2008 Other than de

minimis amounts owned by family members or family trusts Mr Bren indirectly owns and controls 33 1/3% interest in

KBS Holdings LLC which entity is the sole owner of our advisor and the dealer manager of this offering All four of our

KBS sponsors Messrs Bren Hall McMillan and Schreiber actively participate in the management and operations of our

advisor

Mr Bren is also principal of KBS Realty Advisors LLC and Koll Bren Schreiber Realty Advisors Inc each an

active and nationally recognized real estate investment advisor These entities were first registered as investment advisors

with the SEC in 2002 and 1999 respectively The first investment advisor affiliated with Messrs Bren was formed in 1992

KBS Realty Advisors together with KBS affiliates including KBS Capital Advisors has been involved in the investment in

or management of over $12.8 billion of real estate investments on behalf of institutional investors including public and

private pension plans endowments and foundations and the investors in KBS REIT KBS REIT II and KBS Strategic

Opportunity REIT These investments have included investment in and/or management of real estate-related debt investments

such as mortgage loans and commercial mortgage-backed securities

Mr Bren oversees all aspects of KBS Capital Advisors and KBS Realty Advisors business activities including the

acquisition management and disposition of assets Mr Bren is also responsible for investor relationships Through

KBS-affiliated entities Mr Bren has teamed with Mr Schreiber since 1992 to acjufre manage develop and sell high-quality

U.S commercial real estate assets for institutional investors

Mr Bren has been involved in real estate development management acquisition disposition and financing for

40
years and with the acquisition origination management disposition and financing of real estate-related debt investments

for more than 16 years as the President of The Bren Company former Senior Partner of Lincoln Property Company
President of Lincoln Property Company Europe and Chairman of the Board and President of KBS Realty Advisors and

KBS Capital Advisors Mr Bren is also founding member of The Richard Ziman Center for Real Estate at the

UCLA Anderson School of Management
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Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Bren is qualified to serve as one of our directors for reasons including

his extensive industry and leadership experience With 40 years of real estate experience including 21 as senior partner of

Lincoln Property Company focused on financing developing leasing and managing apartment properties Mr Bren has the

depth and breadth of experience to implement our business strategy As our President and principal of our external advisor

Mr Bren is well-positioned to provide the board of directors with insights and perspectives on the execution of our business

strategy our operations mid other internal matters Further as principal of KBS-affiliated investment advisors and as

President of 113 RUT KB REIT II and KBS RE1T III Mr Bren brings to the board demonstrated management and

leadership ability

Guy Hays is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in 2009 Mr Hays is

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Managing Director of LPRI positions he has held since January 2009 Mr Hays

joined Lincoln Property Company in 1986 was promoted to Vice President of Finance for all residential operations of the

Western Region in 1995 and became Senior Vice President Finance of LPRI in 1998 then Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer Residential in 2001 and Senior Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer in January 2008

Mr Hays indirectly through trust owns and controls 10% of Legacy Partners Residential Realty LLC

As Chief Financial Officer of LPRE Mr Hays oversees the management operations and financial affairs of the

Legacy Residential entities including setting out company strategy and monitoring financial performance As member of

Legacy Residentials Investment Acquisition and Management Committee he reviews and
approves

the acquisition

financing and disposition of multifamily real estate investments Mr Hays routinely reviews significant asset and property

management related issues as well as the financing of properties and the firms banking accounting and reporting functions

He is also responsible for investor lender and banking relationships

Over the course of his career he has overseen the acquisitionldevelopment and financing of over 20000 units

exceeding $3.25 billion in cost Since 2002 Mr Hays has been key figure in Legacy Residentials sponsorship of the

$269 million Legacy Residential Affordable Housing Fund LLC advising and investing on behalf of the State of Califomia

Public Employees Retirement System He has also been key figure in Legacy Residentials affiliated entities real estate

investment management and disposition activities as sub-advisor to institutional clients Mr Hays has been involved in

entities as sub advisor that raised and invested nearly $1 billion from large institutional clients such as the AFL ClO

Building Investment Trust MG Global Real Estate Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark

Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial Group Inc formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding Corp
Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette Inc now Credit Suisse USA Inc Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs

Prior to joining Lincoln Property Company in 1986 Mr Hays was with Kenneth Leventhal and Company CPA
firm specializing in real estate in Dallas Texas where he earned his Certified Public Accountant designation Mr Hays is an

active member of the National Multi-Housing Council and serves on the Multifamily Council of the Urban Land Institute

Mr Hays received Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Oral Roberts University

Dean Henry is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in 2009 He is also the

President of LPRI position he has held since 1998 Mr Henry joined Lincoln Property Company in 1973 and was promoted

to Senior Vice President in charge of all residential operations of the Westem Region in 1995 and then became the President

and Chief Operating Officer of LPRI in 1998 and continuing as President only since 2001 Mr Henry indirectly through

trust owns and controls 30% of Legacy Partners Residential Realty LLC

As President of LPRI Mr Henry oversees the management and operations of the Legacy Residential entities

including setting out company strategy and monitoring performance As member of Legacy Residentials Investment

Acquisition and Management Committee he reviews and approves the acquisition financing and disposition of multifamily

real estate investments Mr Henry routinely reviews significant asset and property management issues and the status and

progress of properties under development He is also responsible for investor relationships

Mr Henry has been involved exclusively in multifamily real estate acquisitions development financing

management and dispositions for nearly 40 years Over the course of his career he has overseen the

acquisition/development financing and management of over 33000 residential units exceeding $3.78 billion in cost
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Since 2002 Mr Henry has been key figure in Legacy Residentials sponsorship of the $269 million Legacy

Residential Affordable Rousing Fund LLC advising and investing for the State of California Public Employees Retirement

System Re has also been key figure in Legacy Residentials affiliated entities real estate investment management and

disposition activities as sub-advisor to institutional clients and high net worth individuals Mr Henry has been involved in

entities as sub-advisor that raised and invested nearly $1 billion since 1995 from large institutional clients such as the

AFL-CIO Building Investment Trust AIG Global Real Estate Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark

Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial Group Inc formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding Corp
Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette Inc now Credit Suisse USA Inc Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs

Mr Henry serves on the Executive Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council and the California Housing

Council He is member of the Policy Advisory Board of the Center for Real Estate at the University of Califomia at

Berkeley and is an active member of the Urban Land Institute Mr Henry is past Chairman of the San Francisco YMCA and

former Board Member of Mercy Housing not-for-profit affordable housing organization which has participated in the

development preservation and/or financing of more than 36900 affordable homes in the United States Mr Henry received

Bachelors degree in Political Science from University of Puget Sound

Peter McMillan III is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in 2009 He is also

Executive Vice President Treasurer Secretary and director of KBS REIT KBS REIT II and KBS REIT III and President

and the chairman of the board of directors of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions he has held since June

2005 July 2007 January 2010 and October 2008 respectively Mr McMillan also owns and controls 50% interest in

GKP Holding LLC GKP Holding owns 33 1/3 interest in KBS Holdings LLC which enlity is the sole owner of our

advisor and the dealer manager of this offering Mr McMillan is also member of the investment committee formed by

KBS Capital Advisors to evaluate and authorize new investment opportunities for KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT All four

of our KBS sponsors Messrs Bren Hall McMillan and Schreiber actively participate in the management and operations of

our advisor

IVfr McMillan is co-founder and the Managing Partner of Willowbrook Capital Group LLC Prior to forming

Willowbrook in 2000 Mr McMillan served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer of SunAmerica

Investments Inc which was later acquired by MG As Chief Investment Officer he was responsible for over $75.0 billion in

assets including residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities public and private investment grade and

non-investment grade corporate bonds and commercial mortgage loans and real estate investments Before joining

SunAmerica in 1989 he served as Assistant Vice President for Aetna Life Insurance and Annuity Company with

responsibility for the companys $6.0 billion fixed income portfolios Mr McMillan received his Master of Business

Administration in Finance from the Wharton Graduate School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania and his Bachelor

of Arts Degree with honors in Economics from Clark University Mr McMillan is director of Steinway Musical

Instruments Inc and Metropolitan West Funds

David Snyder is our Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and Secretary positions he has held since our inception in

2009 He is also the Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT and KBS REIT II and the Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and

Secretary of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions he has held since December 2008 In late November 2008
Mr Snyder was appointed Chief Financial Officer of KBS Capital Advisors Mr Snyder was appointed Chief Financial

Officer of KBS REIT III in January 2010 He is also member of the investment conmiittee formed by KBS Capital Advisors

to evaluate and recommend new investment opportunities for KBS REIT II

From January 1998 to May 2008 Mr Snyder was at Nationwide Health Properties Inc or NHP real estate

investment trust specializing in healthcare related property He served as the Vice President and Controller from July 2005 to

February 2008 and Controller from January 1998 to July 2005 At NHP Mr Snyder was responsible for intemal and external

financial reporting Sarbanes-Oxley compliance budgeting debt compliance negotiation and documentation of debt and

equity financing and the negotiation of acquisition and leasing documentation In addition Mr Snyder was part of the senior

management team that approved investments determined appropriate financing and developed strategic goals and plans As

part of his investment and financing responsibilities Mr Snyder participated in the origination modification and refinancing

of mortgage loans made to customers mortgages obtained on real estate and unsecured credit facilities

Mr Snyder was an adjunct accounting professor at Biola University from 1998 to May 2005 teaching courses in

auditing and accounting He was the director of financial reporting at Regency Health Services Inc skilled nursing

provider from November 1996 to December 1997 From October 1993 to October 1996 Mr Snyder worked for

Arthur Andersen LLP Mr Snyder received Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration with an emphasis in

Accounting from Biola University in La Mirada California Mr Snyder is Certified Public Accountant
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Stacie Yamane is our Chief Accounting Officer position she has held since our inception in August 2009

Ms Yamane is also the Fund Controller of our advisor and Chief Accounting Officer of KBS REJTI KBS REIT II

KBS REIT ifi and KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions she has held for these entities since October 2004
December 2008 December 2008 January 2010 and August 2009 respectively From August 2007 until December 2008

Ms Yamane served as Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT II and she served as Controller of KBS REIT II from

August 2007 until October 2008 Additionally Ms Yamane served as Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT from June 2005

to December 2008 and Controller of KBS REIT from June 2005 to October 2008

In addition Ms Yamane serves as Senior Vice President/Controller Portfolio Accounting for KBS Realty Advisors

LLC position she has held since 2004 She served as Vice President/Portfolio Accounting with KB S-affiliated investment

advisers from 1995 to 2004 At KBS Realty Advisors Ms Yamane is responsible for client accounting/reporting for four real

estate portfolios These portfolios consist of industrial office and retail properties as well as lan parcels Ms Yamane works

closely withportfolio managers asset managers property managers and clients to ensure the completion of timely and

accurate accounting budgeting and financial reporting In addition she assists in the supervision and management of

KBS Realty Advisors accounting department

Prior to joining an affiliate of KBS Realty Advisors in Febmary of 1995 Ms Yamane was an audit manager at

Kenneth Leventhal Company CPA firm specializing in real estate During her eight years at Kenneth Leventhal

Company Ms Yamane performed or supervised variety of auditing accounting and consulting engagements including the

audit of financial statements presented under the U.S generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP basis as well as

financial statements presented on cash and tax basis the valuation of asset portfolios and the review and analysis of internal

control systems Her experiences at ICES and Kenneth Leventhal Company give her 21 years of real estate experience

Ms Yarnane received Bachelor of Arts Degree in Busines Administration with dual concentration in Accounting

and Management Information Systems from California State University Fullerton She is Certified Public Accountant

inactive California

Gary Kachadurian is one of our independent directors position he has held since 2010 Mr Kachadurian has

30 years of real estate experience specializing in land and asset acquisition construction development financing and

management Since August 2007 Mr Kachadurian has served as Chairman of Apartment Realty Advisors the nations

largest privately owned multihousing investment advisory company Also as President of Kach Enterprises LLC from

October 2006 to the present he has been retained as consultant on apartment acquisition and development transactions

Mr Kachadurian is also Senior Managing Director of Multifamily Ventures for CityView an investment advisory company

He was formerly Senior Managing Director for Global Business Development for Deutsche Bank Real Estate His

responsibilities included raising equity in Japan Germany and other countries for new real estate products Until May 2005

he was also senior member of the Policy Cornniittee of RREEF leading pension fund advisor in addition to being

member of RREEFs Investment Committee for 14
years He was in charge of RREEFs National Acquisitions Group and

Value-Added and Development lines of business from 1999 to 2002 and also had oversight in the acquisition and

management of RREEFs 24000 unit apartment investment portfolio Prior to joining RREEF he was the Midwest Regional

Operating Partner for Lincoln Property Company developing and managing apartment communities in Illinois Indiana

Wisconsin Kansas and Pennsylvania

Mr Kachadurian is founding Board Member of the Chicago Apartment Association was formeriy Chairman of the

National Multi Housing Council He has been featured speaker and panelist at many apartment industry events He is on

the Board of Managers and co-chair of the Real Estate Committee of the Chicago YIVICA is Chairman of the Village

Foundation of Childrens Memorial Hospital and serves as Director of Leaders Bank in Oak Brook Illinois

Mr Kachadurian received his B.S in Accounting from the University of Illinois

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Kachadurian is qualified to serve as one of our independent directors

for reasons including the depth and breadth of his experience in the rental apartment industry including longstanding

experience as developer owner and manager of apartment properties His extensive understanding of these varied aspects of

our industry provide the board with an invaluable resource for assessing and managing risks and planning corporate strategy

In addition in the course of serving on the boards of several companies and other large organizations involved in the

apartment industry Mr Kachadilrian has developed strong leadership and consensus building skills that are valuable asset to

our board
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Michael Meyer is one of our independent directors position he has held since January 2010 He is also an

independent director of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT position he has held since October 2009 Mr Meyer is private

real estate investor and since 1999 has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Michael Meyer Company The

Michael Meyer Company is principal and/or manager of real estate entities and provides those entities with property

acquisition financing and management services and advice Since June 2006 Mr Meyer also has been principal of

TwinRock Partners LLC formerly known as AMG Realty Investors LLC commercial real estate investment company
From 2000 to 2003 Mr Meyer was principal in Advantage LLC provider of telecommunications systems for real estate

projects From 1999 to 2003 Mr Meyer was also principal of PaciflØ Capital Investors which acquired non-performing

loans secured by real estate in Japan From 1974 to 1998 Mr Meyer was Managing PartnerOrange County and Audit

Partner of the EY Kenneth Leventhal Real Estate Group of Emst Young LLP and its predecessor Mr Meyer is director

and member of the audit committee of Opus Bank and is director and chair of the audit committee of Paladin Realty Income

Properties Inc positions he has held for these entities since September 2010 and Febmary 2004 respeerively Additionally

Mr Meyer serves as director and member of the audit committee of City National Bank position he has held since 1999

and served as director and member of the audit committee City National Corporation from July 1999 to April 2010

Mr Meyer was inducted into the California Building Industry Foundation Hall of Fame in June of 1999 for

outstanding achievements in the real estate industry and community Mr Meyer was also the recipient of the University of

California Irvine Graduate School of Management Real Estate Program Lifetime Achievement Award Mr Meyer received

Bachelors of Business Administration from the University of Iowa

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Meyer is qualified to serve as one of qur independent directors and the

chairman of our audit committee for reasons including his expertise with respect to commercial real estate investments and

accounting and financial reporting matters With over 11 years of experience investing in commercial real estate and

providing commercial real estate acquisition financing and management services and advice Mr Meyer is well-positioned to

advise the board with respect to potential investment opportunities and investment management In addition with over 24

years
of experience as an accountant for real estate companies Mr Meyer provides our board with substantial expertise

regarding real estate accounting and financial reporting matters Further Mr Meyers experience as director of City

National Bank City National Corporation and Paladin Realty Income Properties Inc provide him with an understanding of

the requirements of serving on public company board

Ronald Zuzack is one of our independent directors Since August 2010 Mr Zuzack has been Senior Advisor

and Investment Committee Member of WestRock apartment investment company From January 2008 until

February 2010 Mr Zuzack served as Global Chief Operating Officer for BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc.s Real Estate

Equity Business BlackRock Realty is division of BlackRock Inc premier provider of global investment management
risk management and advisory services Blackrock Realty is leading real estate equity investment manager and in his

capacity as Global COO Mr Zuzack is responsible for the day-to-day operations of platform in the Americas the UK
Continental Europe Australia and Asia with total assets under management of approximately US $26 billion The firm

manages variety of separate accounts closed-end funds and open-end funds with focus on core value-added and

opportunistic investment strategies Since January 2008 Mr Zuzack has been Chairman of Blackrock Realtys Operating

Committee and member of the Executive Investment and Leadership Committees for the firms Real Estate Group

Mr Zuzack joined BlackRock Realtys predecessor SSR Realty Advisors Inc in 1981 as Portfolio Manager

serving as Executive Vice President and Director of Portfolio Services from 1988 to 1997 and Chief Investment Officer from

1996 to 1997 Head of Acquisitions Dispositions and Financing from 1997 to December 2005 and Head of BlackRock Realty

Americas from January 2006 to January 2008 Prior to joining SSR Realty Advisors he held positions as Vice President and

Real Estate Manager with Union Bank and as Vice President Development and Property Manager for Inter-Cal Real Estate

Corporation

Mr Zuzack earned BS in Finance and Economics in 1969 and an MBA in 1970 from the University of Missouri

He also was recognized as Willis Bryant Scholar in Mortgage Banking at Northwestern University in 1972 He is currently

member of the Urban Land Institute He has also served as Chairman of the Multi-Family Gold Council of the Urban Land

Institute as member of the Executive Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council as Chairman of the Rent Control

Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council and as board member of the Mid-Penninsula Housing Authority
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Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Zuzack is qualified to serve as one of our independent directors for

reasons including his extensive experience as an investment fiduciary representing the interests of shareholder clients

Mr Zuzack 25 years as an active investor in apartment properties provide him with specific knowledge of our market

segment and related financing activities and position him
very

well to provide the board of directors with valuable

industry-specific insight and experience Furthermore Mr Zuzacks experience also prepares him well for service on our

audit committee As Global COO of BlackRock Realty Advisors Mr Zuzack had overall responsibility for the financial

performance of that company including supervision of the principal financial officer regular reviews of financial statements

and frequent consideration of issues related to the conduct of auditt Æssessmeæt of intemal controls and procedures for

financial reporting

The Audit Committee

Our board has established an audit committee The audit committees function is to assistour board of directors in

fulfilling its responsibilities by overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes ii the integrity and audits of

our financial statements iiiour compliance with legal and regulatory requirements iv the independent auditors

qualifications and independence and the performance of the independent auditors and our intemal audit function The

members of the audit committee consist solely of our independent directors Gary Kachadurian Michael Meyer and

Ronald Zuzack All of the members of the audit committee are independent as defined by the New York Stock

Exchange All members of the audit committee have significant financial and/or accounting experience and the board of

directors has determined that Mr Meyer satisfies the SECs requirements for an audit committee financial expert

Code of Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors including

but not limited to our principal executive officer principal financial officer and principal accounting officer Our Code of

Conduct and Ethics can be found at http//www.kbslegacyreit.com

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation of Executive Officers

Our conflicts committee discharges the boards responsibilities relating to the compensation of our executives

Subject to the limitations in our charter and with stockholder approval the conflicts committee may also create stock-award

plans However we currently do not have any paid employees and our executive officers do not receive any compensation

directly from us

Compensation of Directors

If director is also one of our executive officers we do not pay any compensation to that person for services

rendered as director The amount and form of compensation payable to our independent directors for their service to us is

determined by our board of directors based upon reconmiendations from our advisor Two of our executive officers

Messrs Bren and McMillan participate in the management and control of our advisor and through the advisor they are

involved in recommending and setting the compensation to be paid to our independent directors

We have provided below certain information regarding compensation earned by or paid to our directors during fiscal

year 2010

Fees Earned

or Paid in All Other

Name Cash in 2010 Compensation Total

Gary Kachadurian
7osçyJ 70500

Michael Meyer 73000 73000

Ronald Zuzack 73.000 73.000

PeterM Bren

Preston Butcher

Directors who are also our executive officers do not receive compensation for services rendered as director
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Cash Compensation

We pay each of our independent directors

an annual retainer of $40000

$2500 for each board meeting attended

$2500 for each committee meeting attended except that th chairmah of the committee is paid $3000 for each

meeting attended

$2000 for each teleconference meeting of the board and

$2000 for each teleconference meeting of any committee except that the chairman of the committee is paid

$3000 for each teleconference meeting of the conmiittee

All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at

meetings of the board of directors

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Stock Ownership

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 2011 for each person or

group that holds more than 5% of our common stock for each director and executive officer and for our directors and

executive officers as group

Number of Shares Percent of

Name of Beneficial Osinert0 Beneficially Owned All Shares

Preston Butcher Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer and Director 20000

Peter Bren President and Director 20000

Guy Hays Executive Vice Prnsiçlent 20000

Dean Henry Executive Vice President 20000

Peter McMfflan ifi Executive Vice President 20000

David Snyder Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and Secretary

Stacie Yamane Chief Accounting Officer

Gary Kachadurian Independent Director

Michael Meyer Independent Director

Ronald Zuzack Independent Director

All directors and executive officers as group 20000

Shaw Delaware Trust 90000 16.61%

Represents approximately 4% of the outstanding common stock

The address of each beneficial owner listed is 620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300 Newport Beach California 92660

Includes 20000 shares owned by KBS-Legacy Apartment Conmaunity REIT Venture LLC which is indirectly owned and controlled by

Preston Butcher Dean Henry Guy Hays Peter Bren Keith Hall Peter McMillan ifi and Charles Schreiber Jr None of the shares

are pledged as security
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ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director Independence

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange majority of the members of our

board of directors and all of the members of the audit committee and the conflicts committee are independent as defined by

the New York Stock Exchange The New York Stock Exchange standards provide that to qualify as an independent director

in addition to satisfying certain bright-line criteria the board of directors must affirmatively determine that director has no

material relationship with us either directly or as partner stockholder or officer of an organization that has relationship

with us The board of directors has determined that Gary Kachadurian Michael Meyer and Ronald Zuzack each

satisfies the bright-line criteria and that none has relationship with us that would interfere with such persons ability to

exercise independent judgment as member of the board None of these directors has ever served as or is related to an

employee of ours or any of our predecessors or acquired companies or received or earned any compensation from us or any

such other entities except for compensation directly related to service as director of us Therefore we believe that all of

these directors are independent directors

Our Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons

Our charter requires our conflicts conmilttee which consists of all of our independent directors to review and

approve all transactions between us and our advisor any of our officers or directors or any of their affiliates Prior to entering

into transaction with related party majority of the conflicts committee must conclude that the transaction is fair and

reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available.from unaffiliated third parties In

addition our Code of Conduct and Ethics lists examples of types of transactions with related parties that would create

prohibited conflicts of interest and requires our officers and directors to be conscientious of actual and potential conflicts of

interest with respect to our interests and to seek to avoid such conflicts or handle such conflicts in an ethical manner at all

times consistent with applicable law Our executive officers and directors are required to report potential and actual conflicts

to designated compliance officer currently our chief financial officer via the Ethics Hotline to an internal audit

representative or directly to the Chairman of our conflicts committee

Certain Transactions with Related Persons

As described further below we have entered into agreements with certain affiliates pursuant to which they will

provide services to us Peter Bren Keith Hall Peter McMillan III and Charles Schreiber Jr control and indirectly

own our advisor KBS Capital Advisors LLC and the dealer manager of our public offering KBS Capital Markets Group

LLC We refer to these individuals as our KBS sponsors Messrs Bren and McMillan are also our executive officers All

four of our KBS sponsors actively participate in the management and operations of our advisor Our advisor has three

managers an entity owned and controlled by Mr Bren an entity owned and controlled by Messrs Hall and McMillan and an

entity owned and controlled by Mr Schreiber

Our Relationship with KBS Capital Advisors Pursuant to the advisory agreement KBS Capital Advisors is

responsible for managing our day-to-day operations retaining the property managers for our property investments subject to

the authority of our board of directors and officers and performing other duties including but not limited to the following

finding presenting and recommending to us real estate property opportunities consistent with our investment

policies and objectives

structuring the terms and conditions of our investments sales and joint ventures

acquiring properties on our behalf in compliance with our investment objectives and policies

arranging for financing and refinancing of properties

L.......- entering into leases and service contracts for our properties

supervising and evaluating each property managers performance

reviewing and analyzing the properties operating and capital budgets

assisting us in obtaining insurance

generating an annual budget for us

reviewing and analyzing financial information for each of our assets and the overall portfolio

formulating and overseeing the implementation of strategies for the administration promotion management

operation maintenance improvement financing and refinancing marketing leasing and disposition of our

properties and other investments

performing investor-relations services
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maintaining our accounting and other records and assisting us in filing all reports required to be filed with the

SEC the Internal Revenue Service and other regulatory agencies

engaging and supervising the performance of our agents including our registrar and transfer agent and

performing any other services reasonably requested by us

Our advisor is subject to the supervision of our board of directors and only has such authority as we may delegate to

it as our agent Our advisory agreement has one-year term expiring January 25 2012 subject to an unlimited number of

successive one-year renewals upon mutual consent of the parties From January 2010 through the most recent date

practicable which was February 28 2011 we have compensated our advisor as set forth below

Our advisor or its affiliates have paid and may pay in the future some of our organization and offering costs

other than selling commissions and dealer manager fees incurred in connection with our ongoing initial public offering

including our legal accounting printing mailing and filing fees We reimburse our advisor for these costs and for future

organization and offering costs incurred on our behalf but only to the extent that the reimbursement would not cause selling

commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering expenses
borne by us to exceed 15% of the gross

offering proceeds of our ongoing initial public offering as of the date of the reimbursement In addition after the termination

of the primary offering our advisor is obligated to reimburse us to the extent selling commissions the dealer manager fee and

other organization and offering costs borne by us exceed 15% of the gross proceeds raised in the primary offering

KBS Capital Advisors will do the same after termination of the offering pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan From

January 2010 through February 28 2011 our advisor incurred approximately $0.3 million Qf organization and offering

expenses on our behalf and as of February 28 2011 our advisor has been reimbursed by us for approximately $0.2 million of

such costs

We incur acquisition advisory fees payable to our advisor equal to 1.0% of the cost of investments acquired by us

including any acquisition expenses and any debt attributable to such investments Acquisition advisory fees relate to services

provided in connection with the selection and acquisition or origination of real estate and real estate-related investments In

addition to acquisition advisory fees we reimburse our advisor for customary acquisition expenses whether or not we

ultimately acquire the asset Acquisition advisory fees from January 2010 through February 28 2011 totaled approximately

$0.4 million all of which has been paid as of February 28 2011

For asset management services we pay our advisor monthly fee The asset management fee is monthly fee equal

to one-twelfth of 1.0% of the amount paid or allocated to fund the acquisition development construction or improvement of

the investment inclusive of acquisition expenses related thereto but excluding any acquisition fees paid to the advisor related

thereto and the amount of any debt associated with or used to acquire such investment In the case of investments made

through joint ventures the asset management fee will be determined based on our proportionate share of the underlying

investment From January 2010 through February 28 2011 our asset management fees totaled $0.1 million all of which

have been paid as of February 28 2011

Under our advisory agreement our advisor and its affiliates have the right to seek reimbursement from us for all costs

and expenses they incur in connection with their provision of services to us including our allocable share of our advisors

overhead such as rent employee costs utilities and information technology costs Our advisor may seek reimbursement for

employee costs under the advisory agreement Our advisor will seek reimbursement for our allocable portion of the salaries

benefits and overhead of intemal audit department personnel providing services to us In the future if our advisor seeks

reimbursement for additional employee costs such costs may include our proportionate share of the salaries of persons

involved in the preparation of documents to meet SEC reporting requirements However we will not reimburse our advisor or

its affiliates for employee costs in connection with services for which our advisor earns acquisition or disposition fees

other than reimbursement of travel and communication expenses or for the salaries and benefits our advisor or its affiliates

may pay to our executive officers From January 2010 through February 28 2011 we have reimbursed our advisor for

$0.4 million of operating expenses including $33000 of employee costs

53



Our Relationship with KBS Capital Markets Group On March 12 2010 upon the launch of our public offering we
entered into an agreement with our dealer manager Pursuant to the agreement KBS Capital Markets Group is entitled to

receive selling commissions and dealer manager fees of up to 9.5% of the gross proceeds of our primary offering no selling

commissions or dealer manager fees are payable with respect to sales under the dividend reinvestment plan All or portion

of the selling commissions are not charged with regard to shares sold to certain categories of purchasers reduced dealer

manager fee is payable with respect to certain volume discount sales The dealer manager reallows 100% of selling

commissions to broker-dealers participating in the public offering From its dealer manager fee KBS Capital Markets Group

may reallow to any participating broker-dealer up to 1.0% of the gross offering proceeds attributable to that participating

broker-dealer as marketing fee in special cases the dealer manager has the option to increase the amount of this

reallowance From January 2010 through February 28 2011 we incurred selling commissions of $0.2 million of which

100% was reallowed to participating broker-dealers From January 2010 through February 28 2011 we incurred dealer

manager fees of $0.1 million of which $18000 was reallowed to participating broker-dealers

In addition to selling commissions and dealer manager fees we are also obligated to reimburse the dealer manager

and its affiliates for certain offering related expenses that they incur on our behalf These include expenses for travel meals

lodging and attendance and sponsorship fees incurred by registered persons associated with the dealer manager and officers

and employees of our affiliates to attend retail conferences sponsored by participating broker-dealers and other meetings with

participating broker-dealers expense reimbursements to broker-dealers for actual costs incurred in connection with attending

bona fide training and education meetings hosted by us certain tecimology costs associated with the offering certain legal

fees allobable to the dealer manager and reimbursement of bona fide due diligence expenses of broker-dealers Under our

dealer manager agreement we are responsible for reimbursing our dealer manager and iS affiliates for offering related

expenses they incur provided that our reimbursement payments shall not cause total underwriting compensation

excluding reimbursement of bona fide due diligence expenses to exceed 10% of the gross proceeds from the primary

offering or ii total organization and offering expenses borne by us to exceed 15% of our gross offering proceeds From

January 2010 through February 28 2011 we have reimbursed or intend to reimburse our dealer manager for approximately

$0.1 million

Currently Proposed Transactions There are no currently proposed material transactions with related persons other

than those covered by the terms of the agreements described above

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

During the year ended December 31 2010 Ernst Young LLP served as our independent registered public

accounting firm and provided certain tax and other services Ernst Young has served as our independent auditor since our

formation

Pre-Approval Policies

In order to make sure that the provision of such services does not impair the auditors independence the audit

committee charter imposes duty on the audit committee tc pre-approve
all auditing services performed for us by our

independent auditors as well as all permitted tion-audit services In determining whether or not to pre-approve services the

audit committee will consider whether the service is permissible service under the rules and regulations promulgated by the

SEC The audit committee may in its discretion delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve any

audit or non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditors provided any such approval is presented to and

approved by the full audit committee at its next scheduled meeting

Since March 12 2010 when we became reporting company under Section 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 all services rendered by Ernst Young LLP have been pre-approved in accordance with the policies and procedures

described above

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

The audit committee reviewed the audit and non-audit services performed by Ernst Young as well as the fees

charged by Ernst Young for such services In its review of the non-audit service fees the audit committee considered

whether the provision of such services is compatible with maintaining the independence of Emst Young The aggregate

fees billed to us for professional accounting services including the audit of our annual financial statements by Ernst Young
for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 are set forth in the table below
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2010 2009

Audit fees 167000 114000

Audit-related fees

Tax fees 14530 14000

Allotherfees

Total 181530 128000

For purposes of the preceding table Ernst Youngs professional fees are classified as follows

Audit fees These are fees for professional services performed for the audit of our annual financial statements

and the required review of quarterly financial statements and other procedures performed by Ernst Young in

order for them to be able to form an opinion on our consolidated financial statements These fees also cover

services that are normally provided by independent auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or

engagements

Audit-related fees These are fees for assurance and related services that traditionally are performed by

independent auditors that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the financial

statements such as due diligence related to acquisitions and dispositions attestation services that are not

required by statute or regulation internal control reviews and consultation concerning financial accounting and

reporting standards

Tax fees These are fees for all professional services performed by professional staff in our independent

auditors tax division except those services related to the audit of our financial statements These include fees

for tax compliance tax planning and tax advice including federal state and local issues Services may also

include assistance with tax audits and appeals before the IRS and similar state and local agencies as well as

federal state and local tax issues related to due diligence

All other fees These are fees for any services not included in the above-described categories
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statement Schednles

See the Index to Financial Statements at page F-I of this
report

The following financial statement schedule is included herein at page F-23 through F-24 of this report

Schedule III Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

Exhibits
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EXHIBIT LIST

Ex Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement as adopted on January 2010 incorporated by reference to

Pre-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-li

No 333-16 1449 filed January 12 2010

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-il No 333-161449 filed January 12 2010

4.1 Form of Subscription Agreement included as Appendix to the Companys final prospctus dated

March 12 2010

4.2 Statement regarding restrictions on transferability of shares of common stock to appear on stock

certificate or to be sent upon request and without charge to stockholders issued shares without certificates

incorporated by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-il No 333-16 1449 filed October 2009

4.3 Amended and Restated Dividend Reinvestment Plan included as Appendix to the Companys final

prospectus dated March 12 2010

4.4 Amended and Restated Share Redemption Program incorporated by reference to Pre-Effective

Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-li No 333-16 1449 filed

February 23 2010

4.5 Amended and Restated Escrow Agreement dated March 2010 incorporated by reference to the

Companys quarterly report on Form iO-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31 2010 filed

May 17 2010

10.1 Advisory Agreement dated January 25 2011

10.2 Dealer Manager Agreement with Selected Dealer Agreement dated March 12 2010 incorporated by

reference to the Companys quarterly report on Form iO-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31 2010

filed May 17 2010

10.3 Assignment and Assumption of Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between KBS Realty

Advisors LLC and KES Capital Advisors LLC dated as of August 2010 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to Post-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-il

No.333-161449filedJanuary2i201i

10.4 Assignment and Assumption of Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between KBS Capital

Advisors LLC and KBS Legacy Partners Dakota Hill LLC dated as of August 2010 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q for the period ended

September 30 2010 filed November 10 2010

10.5 Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties Texas Limited Partnership

and KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of March 31 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.6 First Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of May 25 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010
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Ex Description

10.7 Second Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of June 10 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.8 Third Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of July 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.9 Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of July 12 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.10 Fifth Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Really Advisors LLC dated as of July 15 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.11 Sixth Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of August 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the period ended September 30 2010 filed

November 10 2010

10.12 Seventh Amendment to Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property between Dakota Hill Properties and

KBS Realty Advisors LLC dated as of October 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to

Post-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-il

No 333-161449 filed January 21 2011

10.13 Assumption Agreement dated as of October 26 2010 by and among Dakota Hill Properties KBS Legacy

Partners Dakota Hill LLC and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.12 to Post-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form

5-11 No 333-161449 filed January 21 2011

10.14 Multifamily Note dated as of February 2010 by Dakota Hill Properties in favor of CBRE Capital

Markets Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Post-Effective Amendment No to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-li No 333-161449 filed January 21 2011

10.15 Multifamily Deed of Trust Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of

February 2010 by Dakota Hill Properties for the benefit of CBRE Capital Markets Inc incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Post-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-il No 333-161449 filed January 21 2011

10.16 Guaranty dated as of October 26 2010 by KBS Legacy Partners Properties LLC in favor of the Federal

Home Loan Mortgage Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-11 No 333-16 1449 filed

January 21 2011

10.17 Guaranty dated as of October 26 2010 by Preston Butcher Individually and Preston Butcher as

Trustee of the Preston Butcher Legacy Partners Business Assets Revocable Trust under declaration of

trust dated May 12 2003 in favor of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Post-Effective Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement

on Form S-li No 333-161449 filed January 21 2011
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Ex Description

10.18 Promissory Note dated as of October 25 2010 made by KBS Legacy Partners Limited Partnership in

favor of KBS Capital Advisors LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-il No 333-161449 filed

January 21 2011

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as created by Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as created by Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc

the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and

cash flows for the year ended December 31 2010 and for the period from July 31 2009 inception to December 31 2009

.s

Our audits also included the financial statement schedule in Item 15a Schedule III Real Estate Assets and Accumulated

Depreciation and Amortization These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for

designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Companys internal control oser financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc at December31 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated results

of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31 2010 and for the period from July 31 2009 inception to

December 31 2009 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the financial

statement schedule referred to above when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents

fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

1sf Ernst Young LLP

Irvine California

March 112011
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KES LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2010 2009

Assets

Real estate

Land 4838400

Buildings and improvements 30223845

Tenant origination and absorption costs 1583670

Total real estate cost 36645915

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 759316

Total real estate net 35886599

Cash and cash equivalents 3124887 198974

Restricted cash 987006

Deferred financing costs prepaid expenses and other assets 377608

Total assets 40376100 198974

Liabilities and stockholders equity

Notes payable net

Mortgage note payable net 2359L791

Unsecured note payable due to affiliate 14000000

Total notes payable net 37591791

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1289225

Due to affiliates 312490

Distributions payable 10277

Other liabilities 132756

Total liabilities 39336539

Commitments and contingencies Note

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $.0l par value 10000000 shares authorized

no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock $.01 par value 1000000000 shares authorized

367447 and 20000 shares issued and outstanding

as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively 3674 200

Additional paid-in capital 3101124 199800

Cumulative distributions and net losses 2065237 1026

Total stockholders equity 1039561 19974

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 40376100 198974

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Rental inconr

Total revenues

Expenses

Operating maintenance and xmnagentnt

Real estate taxes and insurance

Asset managemant fees to affiliate

KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Real estate acquisition fees and expenses

Real estate acquisition fees and expenses to affiliate

General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Total expenses

Other incont

Other interest incont

Net loss

Net loss per common sham basic and diluted

Weighted-avenge number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted

Distributions declared per common share

927774

927774

128

2053934

50.02

41063

0.028

Revenues

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010

For the Period from

July 31 2009 inception to

December 31 2009

270884

208789

66704

247.554

365919

702414

759316

360256

2981836

1026

1026

1026

0.05

20000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Balance July 31 2009 inception

Issuance of common stock

Net loss

Balance December 31 2009

Issuance of common stock

Distributions declared

Commissions on stock sales and

related dealer manager fees to affiliate

Other offering costs to affiliate

Net loss

Balance December 31 2010

Cumulative

Distributions

and Net Loss

1026

1026

10277

Total

Stockholders

Equity

200000

1026

198974

3417409

10.277

272556

240055

2053934

1039561

KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock

Shares Amounts

20000 200

20000 200

347447 3474

367447 3674

Additional

Paid-in Capital

199800

199800

3413935

272556

240055

_________________
2053934

3101124 2065237

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Bad debt expense

Amortization ofpremiumon notes payable

Amortization of deferred financing costs

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010

2053934

759316

1692

18660

60852

987006

2650

26946

1289225

305235

132756

540120

12907214

57823

12965037

70427

14000000

410556

3417409

272.556

232800

16431070

2925913

198974

3124887

243398

23680878

10277

7255

KBStEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss

Adjustments to recoocile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

For the Period from

July 31 2009 inception to

December 31 2uu9

1026

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Restricted cash for operational expenditures

Rents and other receivables

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable and seemed liabilities

Due to affiliates

Other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows fromlnvesting Activities

Acquisitions of real estate

Additions to real estate

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Principal payments on notes payable

Proceeds from unsecured note payable due to affiliate

Payments of deferred financing costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Payments nf commissions nn stock sales and related dealer manager fees

Payments of other
offering costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Interest paid

Supplemental Disclosure of Noocash Transactions

Mortgage debt assumed on real estate acquisition atfairvalue

Increase in distributions payable

Increase in other offering costs due to affiliates

1026

200000

200000

198974

198974

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2010

ORGANIZATION

KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc the Company was formed on July 31 2009 as Maryland

corporation that intends to qualify as real estate investment trust REIT begirming with the taxable year ending

December 31 2010 Substantially all of the Companys business is expected to be conducted through KBS Legacy Partners

Limited Partnership the Operating Partnership Delaware limited partnership formed on August 2009 The Company
is the sole general partner of and owns 0.1% partnership interest in the Operating Partnership KBS Legacy Partners

Holdings LLC REIT Holdings Delaware limited liability company formed on August 2009 owns the remaining

99.9% interest in the Operating Partnership and is its sole limited partner The Company is the sole member and manager of

REIT Holdings

Subject to certain restrictions and limitations the business of the Company is externally managed by KBS Capital

Advisors LLC the Advisor an affiliate of the Company pursuant to an advisory agreement the Company originally

entered into with the Advisor on January 25 2010 and renewed for an additional one-year term on January 25 2011

the Advisory Agreement

On

August 2009 the Company issued 20000 shares of its common stock to KBS-Legacy Apartment Community

REIT Venture LLC the Sub-Advisor an affiliate of the Company at purchase price of $10.00 per share As of

December 31 2010 the Sub-Advisor owns 20000 shares of common stock of the Company

The Company expects to invest in and manage diverse portfolio of high quality apartment communities located

throughout the United States The Company expects that its portfolio will include core apartment buildings that are already

well positioned and producing rental income as well as more opportunity oriented properties at various phases of leasing

development redevelopment or repositioning The Company may make its investments through the acquisition of individual

assets or by acquiring portfolios of assets other REITs or real estate companies As of December 31 2010 the Company
owned one apartment complex

On August 19 2009 the Company filed registration statement on Form S-il with the Securities and Exchange

Conmiission the SEC to offer minimum of 250000 shares the Minimum Number of Shares and maximum of

280000000 shares of common stock for sale to the public the Offering of which 80000000 shares would be offered

pursuant to the Companys dividend reinvestment plan The SEC declared the Companys registration statement effective on

March 12 2010 and the Company retained KBS Capital Markets Group LLC the Dealer Manager an affiliate of the

Company to serve as the dealer manager of the Offering The Dealer Manager will be responsible for marketing the

Companys shares being offered pursuant to the Offering

On December 2010 the Company broke escrow in the Offering and through December 31 2010 the Company
had sold 347447 shares for gross offering proceeds of $3.4 million all of which were sold in the primary offering

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company REIT Holdings and the

Operating Partnership and their direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries All significant intercompany balances and

transactions

are eliminated in consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

GAAP as contained within the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification

AS and the rules and regulations of the SEC

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes

Actual results could materially differ from those estimates
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

Revenue Recognition

The Company leases apartment units under operating leases with terms generally of one year or less Generally

credit investigations will be performed for prospective residents and security deposits will be obtained The Company

recognizes rental revenue net of concessions on straight-line basis over the term of the lease when collectibility is

reasonably assured

The Company will recognize gains on sales of real estate either in total or deferred for period of time depending on

whether sale has been consummated the extent of the buyers investment in the property being sold whether the receivable

of the Company is subject to future subordination and the degree of the Companys continuing involvement with the property

after the sale If the criteria for profit recognition under the full-accrual method are not met the Company will defer gain

recognition and account for the continued operations of the property by applying the percentage-of-completion reduced profit

deposit installment or cost recovery method as appropriate until the appropriate criteria are met

Other income including interest earned on the Companys cash is recognized as it is earned

Real Estate

Depreciation and Amortization

Real estate properties are carried at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives

of 40
years for buildings 20 years for land improvements and five to 12 years for computer furniture fixtures and equipment

Costs directly associated with the development of land and those incurred during construction are capitalized as part of the

investment basis Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred Operating expenses
incurred that are not related to the

development and construction of the real estate investments are expensed as incurred Repairs maintenance and tenant

turnover costs are expensed as incurred and significant replacements and improvements will be capitalized Repairs

maintenance and tenant turnover costs include all costs that do not extend the useful life of the real estate property The

Company considers the period of future benefit of an asset to determine its appropriate useful life

Intangible assets related to in-place leases are amortized to expense over the average remaining non-cancelable terms

of the respective in-place leases

The Company will capitalize development and construction costs including interest and other financing fees

property taxes and other direct and indirect development costs beginning when active development commences and ending

when apartment units are available for occupancy and all infrastructure is substantially complete

Real Estate Acquisition Valuation

The Company records the acquisition of income-producing real estate or real estate that will be used for the

production of income as business combination All assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination are

measured at their acquisition-date fair values Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and restructuring costs that do not

meet the definition of liability at the acquisition date will be expensed in periods subsequent to the acquisition date During

the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired one apartment complex in business combination and expensed

$0.6 million of acquisition costs

Intangible assets include the value of in-place leases which represents the estimated value of the net cash flows of

the in-place leases to be realized as compared to th net cash flows that would have occurred had the property been vacant at

the time of acquisition and subject to lease-up Acquired in-place lease value are amortized to expense over the average

remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective in-place leases

The Company assesses the acquisition-date fair values of all tangible assets identifiable intangibles and assumed

liabilities using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers e.g discounted cash flow analysis and that utilize

appropriate discount and/or capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash flows are based on

number of factors including historical operating results known and anticipated trends and market and economic conditions

The fair value of tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property as if it was vacant

Development Costs
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The Company records above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the

present value using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between the

contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and ii managements estimate of fair market lease rates for the

corresponding in-place leases measured over period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of above-market in-place

leases and for the initial term plus any extended term for any leases with below-market renewal options The Company
amortizes any recorded above-market or below-market lease values as reduction or increase respectively to rental income

over the remaiiiing non-cancelable terms of the respective leases including any below-market renewal periods

The Company estimates the value of tenant origination and absorption costs by considering the estimated carrying

costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions In estimating carrying costs

management includes real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates

during the expected lease-up periods The Company amortizes the value of tenant origination and absorption costs to

depreciation and amortization expense over the remaining average non-cancelable term of the leases

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible assets identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities require the

Company to make significant assumptions such as market lease rates property-operating expenses carrying costs during

lease-up periods discount rates market absorption periods and the number of years the propeYty will be held for investment

The use of inappropriate assumptions would result in an incorrect valuation of the Companys acquired tangible assets

identifiable intangibles and assumed liabilities which would impact the amount of the Companys net income

Impairment of Real Estate and Related Intangible Assets and Liabilities

The Company monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of its real

estate and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable or realized When indicators of potential impairment

suggest that the carrying value of real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable the Company
will assess the recoverability by estimating whether the Company will recover the carrying value of the real estate and related

intangible assets and liabilities through its undiscounted future cash flows and its eventual disposition If based on this

analysis the Company does not believe that it will be able to recover the carrying value of the real estate and related

intangible assets and liabilities the Company would record an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds

the estimated falr value of the real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to

be cash equivalents Cash equivalents may include cash and short term investments Cash and cash equivalents are stated at

cost which approximates falr value There are no restrictions on the use of the Companys cash and cash equivalents as of

December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

At December 31 2010 and 2009 the Companys cash and cash equivalents balance was approximately $3.1 million

and $0.2 million respectively The Companys cash and cash equivalents balance exceeds federally insurable limits as of

December 31 2010 The Company monitors the cash balances in its operating accounts and adjusts the cash balances as

appropriate however these cash balances could be impacted if the underlying financial institutions fail or are subject to other

adverse conditions in the financial markets To date the Company has experienced no loss or lack of access to cash in its

operating accounts

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash relates to lender property tax impound reserve account on the Companys real estate investment
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Fair Value Measurements

Under GAAP the Company is required to measure certain financial instruments at fair value on recurring basis In

addition the Company is required to measure other financial instruments and balances at fair value on non-recurring basis

e.g carrying value of impaired real estate loans receivable and long-lived assets Fair value is defined as the price that

would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants

at the measurement date The GAAP fair value framework uses three-tiered approach Fair value measurements are

classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories

Level unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical

assets or liabilities

Level quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar

instruments in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which significant inputs and

significant value drivers are observable in active markets and

Level prices or valuation techniques where little or no market data is available that requires inputs that are

both significant to the fair value measurement artd unobservable

When available the Company will utilize quoted market prices from independent third-party sources to determine

fair value and will classify such items in Level or Level In instances where the market for financial instrument is not

active regardless of the availability of nonbinding quoted market price observable inputs might not be relevant and could

require the Company to make significant adjustment to derive fair value measurement Additionally in an inactive

market market price quoted from an independent third party may rely more on models with inputs based on information

available only to that independent third party When the Company determines the market for financial instrument owned by

the Company to be illiquid or when market transactions for similar instruments do not appear orderly the Company will use

several valuation sources including internal valuations discounted cash flow analysis and quoted market prices and will

establish fair value by assigning weights to the various valuation sources

Changes in assumptions or estimation methodologies can have material effect on these estimated fair values In

this regard the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and in many cases

may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument

The Company considers the following factors to be indicators of an inactive market there are few recent

transactions ii price quotations are not based on current information iiiprice quotations vary substantially either over time

or among market makers for example some brokered markets iv indexes that previously were highly correlated with the

fair values of the asset or liability are demonstrably uncorrelated with recent indications of fair value for that asset or liability

there is significant increase in implied liquidity risk premiums yields or performance indicators such as delinquency

rates or loss severities for observed transactions or quoted prices when compared with the Companys estimate of expected

cash flows considering all available market data about credit and other nonperformance risk for the asset or liability vi there

is wide bid-ask spread or significant increase in the bid-ask spread vii there is significant decline or absence of market

for new issuances that is primary market for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities and viii little information

is released publicly for example principal-to-principal market

The Company considers the following factors to be indicators of non-orderly transactions there was not adequate

exposure to the market for period before the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual and customary

for transactions involving such assets or liabilities under current market conditions ii there was usual and customary

marketing period but the seller marketed the asset or liability to single market participant iiithe seller is in or near

bankruptcy or receivership that is distressed or the seller was required to sell to meet regulatory or legal requirements

that is forced and iv the transaction price is an outlier when compared with other recent transactions for the same or

similar assets or liabilities
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Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company has adopted dividend reinvestment plan the DRP through which future common stockholders

may elect to reinvest an amount equal to the distributions declared on their shares in additional shares of the Companys
common stock in lieu of receiving cash distributions The initial purchase price per share under the DRP will be $9.50 Once

the Company establishes an estimated value per share shares issued pursuant to the dividend reinvestment plan will be priced

at the estimated value per share of the Companys common stock as determined by the Advisor or another finn chosen for

that purpose The Company expects to establish an estimated value per share after the completion of its offering stage The

offering stage will be considered complete when the Company is no longer publicly offering equity securities whether

through the Offering or follow-on public offerings and has not done so for 18 months No selling commissions or dealer

manager fees will be paid on shares sold under the DRP The board of directors of the Company may amend or terminate the

DRP for any reason upon 10 days notice to participants

Redeemable Common Stock

The Company has adopted share redemption program that may enable stockholders to sell their shares to the

Company in limited circumstances

There are several limitations on the Companys ability to redeem shares under the share redemption program

Unless the shares are being redeemed in connection with stockholders death qualifying disability or

determination of incompetence each as defined under the share redemption program the Company may not

redeem shares until the stockholder has held the shares for one year

During each calendar year the share redemption program limits the number of shares the Company may
redeem to those that the Company could purchase with the amount of the net proceeds from the issuance of

shares under the dividend reinvestment plan during the prior calendar year

During any calendar year the Company may redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of

shares outstanding during the prior calendar year

The Company has no obligation to redeem shares if the redemption would violate the restrictions on

distributions under Maryland law which prohibits distributions that would cause corporation to fail to meet

statutory tests of solvency

Pursuant to the program the Company will initially redeem shares as follows

The lower of $9.25 or 92.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from the Company for stockholders who

have held their shares for at least one year

The lower of $9.50 or 95.0% of the price paid to acquire the shareS from the Company for stockholders who

have held their shares for at least two years

The lower of $9.75 or 97.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from the Company for stockholders who

have held their shares forat least three years and

The lower of $10.00 or 100% of the price paid to acquire the shares from the Company for stockholders who

have held their shares for at least four years

Notwithstanding the above the redemption price for redemptions sought upon stockholders death qualifying

disability or determination of incompetence will initially be the amount paid to acquire the shares from the Company
Furthermore once the Company establishes an estimated value per share of its common stock the redemption price per share

for all stockholders will be equal to the estimated value per share as determined by the Advisor or another firm chosen for

that purpose The Company expects to establish an estimated value per share upon completion of its offering stage The

Company will consider its offering stage complete when it is no longer publicly offering equity securities whether through

the primary offering or follow-on public offering and has not done so for 18 months Public equity offering for this

purpose does not include offerings on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to dividend reinvestment plan

employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in the Operating Partnership
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The Companys board of directors may amend suspend or terminate the share redemption program with 30 days

notice to its stockholders The Company may provide this notice by including such information in Current Report on Form

8-K or in the Companys annual or quarterly reports all publicly filed with the SEC or by separate mailing to its

stockholders

The Company will record amounts that are redeemable under the share redemption program as redeemable common
stock in its consolidated balance sheets because the shares will be mandatorily redeemable at the option of the holder and

therefore their redemption will be outside the control of the Company The maximum amount redeemable under the

Companys share redemption program is limited to the number of shares the Company could redeem with the amount of the

net proceeds from the sale of shares under the dividend reinvestment plan during the prior calendar year However because

the amounts that can be redeemed will be determinable and only contingent on an event that is likely to occur e.g the

passage of time the Company will present the net proceeds from the current year dividend reinvestment plan as redeemable

common stock in its accompanying consolidated balance sheets

The Company will classify as liabilities financial instruments that represent mandatory obligation of the Company

to redeem shares The Companys redeemable common shares will be contingently redeemable at the option of the holder

When the Company determines it has mandatory obligation to repurchase shares underthe share redemption program it will

reclassify such obligations from temporary equity to liability based upon their respective settlement values As of

December 31 2010 no shares had been tendered for redemption or redeemed by the Company because no shares were

eligible for redemption

Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and Dealer Manager Agreement the Company is obligated to pay the Advisor

and the Dealer Manager specified fees upon the provision of certain services related to the Offering the investment of funds in

real estate and real estate-related investments management of the Companys investments and for other services

including but not limited to the disposition of investments The Company is also obligated to reimburse the Advisor and

Dealer Manager for organization and offering costs incurred by the Advisor and the Dealer Manager on behalf of the

Company and the Company is obligated to reimburse the Advisor for acquisition expenses and certain operating expenses

incurred on behalf of the Company or incurred in connection with providing services to the Company In addition the

Advisor is entitled to certain other fees including an incentive fee upon achieving certain performance goals as detailed in the

Advisory Agreement

The Company records all related party
fees as incurred subject to any limitations described in the Advisory

Agreement The Company had not incurred any disposition fees subordinated participation in net cash flows or subordinated

incentive listing fees during the year ended December 31 2010

Organization and Offering Costs

Certain organization and offering costs other than selling commissions and dealer manager fees of the Company are

paid by the Advisor the Dealer Manager or their affiliates on behalf of the Company These organization and other offering

costs include all
expenses to be paid by the Company in connection with the Offering Organization costs include all expenses

to be incurred by the Company in connection with the formation of the Company including but not limited to legal fees and

other costs to incorporate the Company

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and the Dealer Manager Agreement the Company is obligated to reimburse the

Advisor the Dealer Manager or their affiliates as applicable for organization and offering costs paid by them on behalf of the

Company provided that the Advisor would be obligated to reimburse the Company to the extent selling commissions dealer

manager fees and other organization and offering costs incurred by the Company in the Offering exceed 15% of gross offering

proceeds As result the Company is only liable for these costs up to an amount that when combined with selling

commissions and dealer manager fees does not exceed 15% of the
gross proceeds of the Offering
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As of December 31 2010 the Companys selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other

offering costs were 15% of the gross offering proceeds Through December 31 2010 the Company had sold 347447 shares

in the Offering for gross offering proceeds of $3.4 million and recorded organization and other offering costs of $0.2 million

and selling commissions and dealer manager fees of $0.3 million No organization and offering costs were recognized as of

December 31 2009 as the Minimum Number of Shares of the Companys common stock had not been issued Organization

costs are expensed as incurred and offering costs which include selling commissions and dealer manager fees will be

deferred and charged to stockholders equity as such amounts are reimbursed to the Advisor the Dealer Manager or their

affiliates from the gross proceeds of the Offering The Company expects the Advisor to continue to incur organization and

other offering costs on its behalf

Selling Commissions and Dealer Manager Fees

The Company pays the Dealer Manager up to 6.5% and 3.0% of the gross offering proceeds from the primary

offering as selling commissions and dealer manager fees respectively reduced sales commission and dealer manager fee is

paid with respect to certain volume discount sales No sales commission or dealer manager fee is paid with respect to shares

issued through the dividend reinvestment plan The Dealer Manager reallows 100% of sales commissions earned to

participating broker-dealers The Dealer Manager may reallow to any participating broker-dealer up to 1% of the gross

offering proceeds attributable to that participating broker-dealer as marketing fee and in special cases the Dealer Manager

may increase the reallowance

Acquisition Advisory Fee

The Company pays the Advisor an acquisition advisory fee equal to 1% of the cost of investments acquired

including any acquisition expenses and any debt attributable to such investments

Asset Management Fee

With respect to investments in real estate the Company pays the Advisor monthly asset management fee equal to

one-twelfth of 1.0% of the amount paid to fund the acquisition development construction or improvement of the investment

inclusive of acquisition expenses
related thereto but excluding any acquisition fees related thereto The amount paid

includes any portion of the investment that was debt financed In the case of investments made through joint ventures the

asset management fee will be determined based on the Companys proportionate share of the underlying investment

Income Taxes

The Company intends to elect to be taxed as REIT under the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended and

intends to operate as such beginning with its taxable year ending December 31 2010 The Company expects to have little or

no taxable income prior to electing REIT status To qualify as REIT the Company must meet certain organizational and

operational requirements including requirement to distribute at least 90% of the Companys annual REIT taxable income to

its stockholders which is computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not

necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP As REIT the Company generally will not be subject

to federal income tax to the extent it distributes qualifying dividends to its stockholders If the Company fails to qualify as

REIT in any taxable year it will be subject to federal income tax on its taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates

and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes for the four taxable

years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Intemal Revenue Service grants the Company relief

under certain statutory provisions Such an event could materially adversely affect the Companys net income and net cash

available for distribution to stockholders However the Company intends to organize and operate in such manner as to

qualify for treatment as REIT

The Company has concluded that there are no significant uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in its financial

statem6nts Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries been assessed interest or penalties by any major tax jurisdictions The

Companys evaluations were performed for the tax year ended December 31 2010

Segments

The Company has invested in one apartment complex Substantially all of the Companys revenue and net loss is

from real estate and therefore the Company currently operates in one business segment
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses totaling $0.7 million and $1026 for the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively consisted of bank fees incurred on the Companys deposit accounts audit fees legal fees board of

directors fees and director and officer insurance As of December 31 2010 the Advisor has incurred $0.4 million of general

and administrative expenses on behalf of the Company of which $0.1 million remains unpaid and is included in due to

affiliates on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet During the year ended December 31 2010 the Advisor had also

incurred $0.2 million of independent director compensation all of which has been paid

Per Share Data

Basic net income loss per share of common stock is calculated by dividing net income loss by the

weighted-average number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding during such period Diluted net income loss

per share of common stock equals basic net income loss per share of common stock as there were no potentially dilutive

securities outstanding during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Distributions for the period from December 16 2010 through December 31 2010 were based on daily record dates

and calculated at rate of $0.00 178082 per share per day

Square Footage Occupancy and Other Measures

Square footage occupancy and other measures used to describe real estate investments included in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements are presented on an unaudited basis

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Updates

Tn January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 21 10-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Tnpic 820
Imp roving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU No 2010-06 ASU No 2010-06 requires additional

disclosures regarding significant transfers in and out of Level and Level fair value measurements including description

of the reasons for the transfers Further this ASU requires additional disclosures about purchases sales issuances and

settlements relating to the activity in Level fair value measurements ASU No 20 10-06 is effective for interim and annual

reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 except for the disclosures about purchases sales issuances and

settlements relating to the activity in Level fair value measurements Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of ASU No 2010-06 did

not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

In July 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-20 Receivables Topic 310 Disclosures about the Credit Quality of

Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses ASU No 2010-20 ASU No 20 10-20 requires the Company
to provide greater level of disaggregated information about the credit quality of its financing receivables and its allowance

for credit losses This ASU also requires the Company to disclose additional information related to credit quality indicators

past due information information related to loans modified in troubled debt restructuring and significant purchases and sales

of financing receivables disaggregated by portfolio segment ASU No 20 10-20 was initially effective for interim and annual

periods ending on or after December 15 2010 As this ASU amends only the disclosure requirements for loans and the

allowance for credit losses the adoption of ASU No 20 10-20 is not expected to have significant impact on the Companys
financial statements In January 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-01 Receivables Topic 310 Deferral of the Effective

Date of Disclosures about Troubled Debt Restructurings in Update No 2010-20 ASU No 2011-01 ASU No 2011-01

announced that it was deferring the effective date of new disclosure requirements for troubled debt restmcturings prescribed

by ASU No 2010-20 The effective date for those disclosures will be concurrent with the effective date for proposed

ASU No 2010-20 Currently that guidance is anticipated to be effective for interim and annual periods ending after

June 15 2011 The adoption of ASU No 20 10-20 may require additional disclosures but the Company does not expect the

adoption to have material impact to its consolidated financial statements
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In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-29 Business Combinations Topic 805 Disclosure of

Supplementaty Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force

ASU No 2010-29 ASU No 2010-29 updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures should be

presented as if business combination occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the

current reporting period and the prior reporting period pro forma financial information These disclosures should be

accompanied by narrative description about the nature and amount of material nonrecurring pro forma adjustments The

new accounting guidance is effective for business combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 15 2010
and should be applied prospectively as of the date of adoption Early adoption is permitted The Compan adopted

ASU No 20 10-29 for the year ended December 31 2010 and the adoption of this ASU did not have material impact to our

consolidated financial statements

REAL ESTATE

On October 26 2010 the Company through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary purchased 453178 square foot

Class apartment complex containing 504 units located on approximately 20.3 acres of land in Irving Texas Legacy at

Valley Ranch The purchase price of Legacy at Valley Ranch was $36.1 million plus closing costs The Company allocated

the purchase price of these properties to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company allocated

$4.8 million to land $30.2 million to building and improvements $1.6 million to acquired in-place leases and approximately

$0.5 million related to premium on notes payable due to above-market interest rate during the year ended

December 31 2010 Legacy at Valley Ranch was 95% occupied as of December 31 2010 For the year ended

December 31 2010 the Company recognized $0.9 million of total revenues The following table provides summary

information regarding the real estate property owned by the Company as of December 31 2010

Tenant Accumulated

Building Origination Total Depreciation Total

Date Property and and Real Estate and Real Estate

Property Acquired city state Type Land Iniprovenents Absorption at Cost Amurtization Net

Legacy at valley Ranch 10/26/2010 Irving TX Apartnent 4838400 30223845 1583670 36645915 759316 35886599

NOTES PAYABLE

On October 26 2010the Company acquired Legacy at Valley Ranch and funded the acquisition through the

assumption of an existing mortgage loan from an unaffiliated lender the Legacy at Valley Ranch Mortgage Loan and

borrowed $14.0 million pursuant to bridge loan from the Advisor the Advisor Bridge Loan

The Legacy at Valley Ranch Mortgage Loan has an outstanding principal balance of $23.1 million and bears interest

at variable rate of 362 basis points over the one-month Freddie Mac Reference Bills index rate but at no point shall the

interest rate be more than 7.25% Monthly payments include principal and interest with principal calculated using an

amortization of 30 years with the remaining principal balance due at maturity The Legacy at Valley Ranch Mortgage Loan

matures in February 2017 In connection with the acquisition of Legacy at Valley Ranch the Company recorded the mortgage

loan assumed at an estimated fair value of $23.7 million which includes premium on notes payable due to above-market

interest rate of $0.5 million
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The Advisor Bridge Loan has an outstanding principal balance of $14.0 million and bears simple interest from the

date advanced at rate of 6%
per annum The Advisor Bridge loan matures in April 2011 and is extendable to July 2011 The

Company is responsible for closing costs related to the Advisor Bridge Loan as well as 1% commitment fee payable to the

Advisor The Company may prepay the unpaid principal balance under the Advisor Bridge Loan in whole or in part together

with all interest then accrued under the note at any time without premium or penalty The Advisor may upon written demand

require the Company to prepay outstanding amounts under the Advisor Bridge Loan in whole or in.part provided that funds

are available from the proceeds of the Companys ongoing initial public offering Pursuant to the Advisor Bridge Loan funds

are deemed available from the Companys offering if neither the Company nor any of their subsidiaries have used or become

contractually obligated to use such proceeds for the payment of fees and expenses related to the Companys operations

including but not limited to any fees and
expenses related to real estate investments payment of principal or interest on

third-party debt obligations general and administrative expenses other general corporate purposes or distributions

including dividend payments to stockholders accrued as of the date of the Advisors demand The Advisor Bridge Loan is

unsecured

As of December 31 2010 the Companys notes payable consist of the following

Mortgage Note Payable

Legacy at Valley Ranch Mortgage Loan

Preosiumon notes payable net

Mortgage note payable net

Unsecured Note Payable Due to Affiliate

Advisor nridge Loan
_______________

Total Notes Payable net

contractual interest rate represents the interest rate in effect under the loan as of December 31 2010 Interest rate is calculated as the actual interest rate in effect at

December 31 2010 using market interest rate indices at December 31 2010 where applicable

Represents the initial maturity date or the maturity date as extended as of December 31 2010 subject to certain conditions the maturity dates of certain loans maybe extended

beyond the date shown

In connection with the acquisition of Legacy at valley Ranch the company recorded the mortgage loan assumed at an estimated fair value of $23.7 million which includes

premium on notes payable due to above market interest rate of $0.5 million amortized over the remaining life of the loan

The interest rate under this loan is calculated at variable rate of 362 basis points over one-month Freddie Mac Reference hIts index rate bat at no point shall the interest rate hr

more than 7.25%

Principal and interest are payable at the maturity of this note

Principal as of

December 31 2010

Contmctual

Interest Rate as of

December 31 20l0

23122359

469432

23591791

14000000

37591791

6.00%

Paynent Interest Rate at

Type December31 2010

Principal Interest 3.8%

6.0%

Maturity

Date

02/01/2017

04/25/2011
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Current Maturity

14000000

23122359

37122359

Fully Extended Maturity

14000000

23122359

37122359

Represents the maturities of all notes payable outstanding as of December 31 2010 assuming the Company exercises all extension

options available per the terms of the loan agreements The Company can give no assurance that it will be able to satisfy the conditions to

extend the terms of the loan agreements

Certain of the Companys notes payable contain non-financial debt covenants As of December 31 2010 the

Company was in compliance with all debt covenants

The fair value for certain financial instruments is derived using valuation techniques that involve significant

management judgment The price transparency of financial instruments is key determinant of the degree of judgment

involved in determining the fair value of the Companys financial instruments Financial instruments for which actively

quoted prices or pricing parameters are available and for which markets contain orderly transactions will generally have

higher degree of price transparency than financial instruments for which markets are inactive or consist of non-orderly trades

The Company evaluates several factors when determining if market is inactive or when market transactions are not orderly

See Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies The following is summary of the methods and assumptions

used by management in estimating the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate

the fair value

Cash and cash equivalents rent and other receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities These balances

approximate their fair values due to the short maturities of these items

Notes payable The fair value of the Companys notes payable is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis

based on managements estimates of current market interest rates for instruments with similarcharacteristics including

remaining loan term loan-to-value ratio type of collateral and other credit enhancements Additionally when determining

the fair value of liabilities in circumstances in which quoted price in an active market for an identical liability is not

available the Company measures fair value using valuation technique that uses the quoted price of the identical liability

when traded as an asset or quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets or ii another

valuation technique that is consistent with the principles of fair value measurement such as the income approach or the

market approach

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company incurred $0.4 million of interest expense As of

December 31 2010 $0.2 million of interest expense was payable Included in interest expense for the year ended

December 31 2010 was $0.1 million of amortization of deferred financing costs

The following is schedule of maturities for the Companys notes payable outstanding as of December 31 2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

The following are the carrying amounts and fair values of the Companys financial instruments as of

December 31 2010

December 31 2010

Face Carrying Fair

Value Amount Value

Financial liabilities

Notes payable 37122359 37591791 37591791

Disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments is based on pertinent information available to the Company at

December 31 2010 and requires significant amount of judgment Despite increased capital market and credit market

activity transaction volume for certain financial instruments remains relatively low This has made the estimation of fair

values difficult and therefore both the actual results and the Companys estimate of value at future date could be materially

different

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company measured the following non-financial asset at fair value

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active arlcets for Significant Other Unobservable

Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs

Total Level Level Level

Nonrecurring Basis

Investments in real estate 36588092 36588092

Mortgage debt assumed on real estate acquisition 23680878 23680878

Amount reflects acquisition date fair value of real estate acquired

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has executed the Advisory Agreement with the Advisor and Dealer Manager Agreement with the

Dealer Manager These agreements will entitle the Advisor and the Dealer Manager to specified fees upon the provision of

certain services with regard to the Offering and the investment of funds in real estate related investments among other

services as well as reimbursement of organization and offering costs incurred by the Advisor and the Dealer Manager on

behalf of the Company as discussed in Note and certain costs incurred by the Advisor in providing services to the

Company
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Decethber 31 2010

Pursuant to the terms of these agreements summarized below are the related-party costs incurred by the Company for

the year ended December 31 2010 and any related amounts payable as of December 31 2010

Incurred in

the Year Ended Payable as of

-- December 31 2010 December 31 2010

Expensed

Asset management fees 66704

Reimbursable operating expenses 370575 148742

Acquisition fees on real properties 365919

Related party interest expense 156493 156493

Additional Paid-in Capital

Seffing commissions 170034

Dealer manager fees 102522

Reimbursable other offering costs 240055 7255

Capitalized

Origination fees on unsecured note payable due to affiliate 140000
___________________

3124901612302

1n addition our Advisor may seek reimbursement for employee costs under the Advisory Agreement Beginning July 12010 the Company has

reimbursed the Advisor for the Companys allocable portion of the salaries benefits and overhead of intemal audit department personnel providing services to

the Company These were the only employee costs reimbursable under the Advisory Agreement as of December 312010 The Company will not reimburse

for employee costs in connection with services for which KBS Capital Advisors earns acquisition or disposition fees other than reimbursement of travel and

communication expenses or for the salaries or benefits the Advisor or its affiliates may pay to the Companys executive officers

Related party interest expense relates to the Advisor Bridge Loan See note Notes Payable

As of December 31 2010 the Advisor has incurred organization and offering costs on behalf of the Company of

approximately $2.7 million which represent the Companys maximum liability for organization and offering costs as of

December 31 2010 The Company will be liable for such costs up to an amount that when combined with selling

connnissions and dealer manager fees does not exceed 15% of the
gross proceeds of the Offering As of December 31 2010

the Company has recognized and paid $0.3 million in selling commissions and dealer manager fees and recognized

$0.2 million of other organization and offering expenses of which $0.2 million has been reimbursed to the Advisor which

amounts represent the Companys maximum liability for organization and offering costs as of December 31 2010
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION UNAUDITED

The following table summarizes on an unaudited
pro

forma basis the combined results of operations of the

Company for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 The Company acquired one apartment complex during the year

ended December 31 2010 which was accounted for as business combination The following unaudited
pro forma

information for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 have been prepared to give effect to the acquisition of Legacy at

Valley Ranch as if the acquisition occurred on January 2009 This pro forma information does not purport to represent

what the actual results of operations of the Company would have been had this acquisition occurred on these dates nor do

they purport to predict the results of operations for future periods

Revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Net loss

Net loss per common share basic and diluted

2010

For the Year Ended December31

2009

5201318 5157732

754151 2337821

992494 2582445

Weighted-average number of common

shares outstanding basic and diluted 41063

The pro forma information for the year ended December 31 2010 was adjusted to exclude $0.6 million of acquisition

costs related to Legacy at Valley Ranch incurred in 2010 The costs were recognized in the pro forma information for the year

ended December 31 2009

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Presented below is summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the year ended

December 31 2010

Distributions declared per common share for the fourth quarter of 2010 assumes each share was issued and outstanding each day during the period

from December 16 2010 through December 31 2010 Each day during the period from December 16 2010 through December 31 2010 was

record date for distributions

24.17 129.12

20000

Revenues

Net loss

Net loss per common share basic and diluted

Distributions declared per comnxrn shareti

2010

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

927774

1755 1760 1800 2048619

0.09 0.09 0.09 19.78

0.028
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Economic Dependency

The Company is dependent on the Advisor the Sub-Advisor and the Dealer Manager for certain services that are

essential to the Company including the sale of the Companys shares in its ongoing initial public offering the identification

evaluation negotiation origination acquisition and disposition of investments management of the daily operations of the

Companys investment portfolio and other general and administrative responsibilities In the event that these companies are

unable to provide the respective services the Company will be required to obtain such services from other sources

Concentration of Credit Risk

As of December 31 2010 the Company owned one real estate property located in Irving Texas As result of this

acquisition the geographic concentration ot the Companys portfolio makes it particularly susceptible to adverse economic

developments in the Irving Texas apartment market Any adverse economic or real estate developments in this market such

as business layoffs or downsizing relocations of businesses increased competition from other apartment communities

decrease in demand for apartments or any other changes could adversely affect the Companys operating results and its ability

to make distributions to stockholders

Environmental

As an owner of real estate the Company is subject to various environmental laws of federal state and local

governments Although there can be no assurance the Company is not aware of any environmental liability that could have

material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations However changes in applicable environmental laws

and regulations the uses and conditions of properties in the vicinity of the Companys property the activities of its tenants

and other environmental conditions of which the Company is unaware with respect to the property could result in future

environmental liabilities

Legal Matters

From time to time the Company is party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business

Management is not aware of any legal proceedings of which the outcome is probable or reasonably possible to have material

adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition which would require accmal or disclosure of the contingency

and possible range of loss Additionally the Company has not recorded any loss contingencies related to legal proceedings in

which the potential loss is deemed to be remote

10 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company evaluates subsequent events up until the date the consolidated financial statements are issued

Status of the Offering

The Company commenced its Offering on March 12 2010 As of March 2011 the Company had sold

521994 shares of common stock in the Offering for gross offering proceeds of $5.2 million including 1213 shares of

common stock under the dividend reinvestment plan for gross offering proceeds of $11525

Distributions Paid

On January 14 2011 the Company paid distributions of $10277 which related to distributions declared for each day

in the period from December 162010 through December 31 2010 On Febmary 15 2011 the Company paid distributions of

$21398 which related to distributions declared for each day in the period from January 2011 through January 31 2011
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KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

December 31 2010

Distributions Declared

On January 24 2011 the Companys board of directors declared distributions based on daily record dates for the

period from February 2011 through February 28 2011 which the Company expebts to pay in March 2011 and distributions

based on daily record dates for the period from March 2011 through March 31 2011 which the Company expects pay in

April 2011 On March 2011 the Companys board of directors declared distributions based on daily record dates for the

period from April 2011 through April 30 2011 which the Company expects to pay in May 2011 and distributions based on

daily record dates for the period from May 2011 through May 31 2011 which the Company expects to pay in June 2011

Investors may choose to receive cash distributions or purchase additional shares through the Companys dividend

reinvestment plan

Distributions for these periods will be calculated based on stockholders of record each day during these periods at

rate of $0.00178082 per share per day and if paid each day for 365-day period would equal 6.5% annualized rate based on

purchase price of $10.00 per share
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ICES LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

SCHEDULE III

REAL ESTATE ASSETS AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION CONTINUED

December 31 2010

2010

Real estate

Balance at the beginning of the year

Acquisitions 36588092

Improventnts 57823

Write-off of fully depreciated

and fully amortized assets

Balance at the end of the year 36645915

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at the beginning of the year

Depreciation expense 759316

Write-off of fully depreciated

and fully anrirtized assets

Balance at the end of the year 759316
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the City of Newport Beach
State of Califomia on March 11 2011

KBS LEGACY PARTNERS APARTMENT REIT INC

By Is Preston Butcher

Preston Butcher

Chairinan of the Board

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Name Title

Chairman of the Board Chief Executive March 11 2011

Officer and Director

Is PETER BREN President and Director

Peter Bren

Is GUY HAYS

Guy Hays

/sIW DEAN HENRY

Dean Henry

Is PETER MCMmLAN III

Peter McMillan III

Is DAVID SNYDER

David Snyder

Is STACIE YAMANE

Stacie Yamane

Is GARY KACHADURIAN

Gary Kachadurian

Is MICHAEL MEYER

Michael Meyer

Is/RONALD ZUZACK

Ronald Zuzack

Is C.PRESTON BUTCHER

Preston Butcher

Date

March 112011

Executive Vice President March 11 2011

Executive Vice President March 11 2011

Executive Vice President March 11 2011

Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and March 11 2011

Secretary

Chief Accounting Officer March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Preston Butcher certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in

all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e for the registrant and have omitted in

accordance with SEC Release No 34-47986

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared

omitted in accordance with SEC transition instructions contained in SEC Release No 34-479861

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by

this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in

the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 11 2011

Is Preston Butcher

Preston Butcher

Chairman of the Board

Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

David Snyder certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in

all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15e and Sd- 15e for the registrant and have omitted in

accordance with SEC Release No 34-47986

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating -to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared

omitted in accordance with SEC transition instructions contained in SEC Release No 34-47986

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by

this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit conm-iittee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in

the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 11 2011

Is David Snyder

David Snyder

Chief Financial Officer Treasurer

and Secretary



Exhibit 32.1

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc the

Registrant for the year ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof

the Report the undersigned Preston Butcher Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Registrant hereby certifies

pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to the best of his

knowledge and belief

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of

operations of the Registrant

Date March11 2011

Is Preston Butcher

Preston Butcher

Chairman of the Board

Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 32.2

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Mnual Report on Form 10-K of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT Inc the

Registrant for the year ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof

the Report the undersigned David Snyder the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant hereby certifies pursuant to

18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to the best of his knowledge and

belief

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of

operations of the Registrant

Date March 11 2011

Is David Snyder

David Snyder

Chief Financial Officer Treasurer

and Secretary
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LEGACYKBS PARTNERS
Apartment REIT

Proxy Statement and

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

To Be Held July 2011

Dear Stockholder

On Thursday July 2011 we will hold our 2011 aimual meeting of stockholders at 620 Newport Center Drive

First Floor Lobby Elite Training Room Newport Beach Califomia 92660 The meeting will begin at 1100 a.m

Pacific daylight time Directions to the meeting can be obtained by calling 866 584-1381

We are holding tbis meeting to

Elect five directors to hold office for
one-year terms expiring in 2012

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR each nominee

Attend to such otber business as may properly come before the meeting and any adjournment or

postponement thereof

Your board of directors has selected April 11 2011 as the record date for determining stockholders entitled to vote

at the meeting

The proxy statement proxy card and our 2010 annual report to stockholders are being mailed to you on or about

April 19 2011

Whether you plan to attend the annual meeting and vote in person or not we urge you to have your vote

recorded as early as possible Stockholders have the following three options for submitting their votes by

proxy via the internet by telephone or by mail using the enclosed proxy card

YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT Your immediate response will help avoid potential delays and may

save us si2nificant additional expenses associated with solicitin2 stockholder votes

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL
MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JULY 2011

Our proxy statement form of proxy card and 2010 annual report to stockholders are also available at

http//www.eproxy.com/kbslegncy

By Order of the Board of Directors

Preston Butcher

Chairman

Newport Beach Califomia

April 19 2011
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Why did you send me this proxy statement

We sent you this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card because our board of directors is soliciting your

proxy to vote your shares at the 2011 annual stockholders meeting This proxy statement includes information

that we are required to provide to you under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC and

is designed to assist you in voting

What is proxy

proxy is
person

who votes the shares of stock of another person who could not attend meeting The term

proxy also refers to the proxy card or other method of appointing proxy When you submit your proxy you

are appointing Preston Butcher Guy Hays David Snyder and Stacie Yamane each of whom are

our officers as your proxies and you are giving them permission to vote your shares of common stock at the

annual meeting The appointed proxies will vote your shares of common stock as you instruct unless you

submit your proxy without instructions In this case they will vote FOR all of the dfrector nominees With

respect to any other proposals to be voted upon they will vote in accordance with the recommendation of the

board of directors or in the absence of such recommendation in their discretion If you do not submit your

proxy they will not vote your
shares of common stock This is why it is important for you to retum the proxy

card to us or submit your proxy via the intemet or by telephone as soon as possible whether or not you plan

on attending the annual meeting

When is the annual meeting and where wifi it be held

The annual meeting will be held on Thursday July 2011 at 1100 a.m Pacific daylight time at 620 Newport

Center Drive First Floor Lobby Elite Training Room Newport Beach Califomia 92660

Who is entitled to vote

Anyone who owned our common stock at the close of business on April 11 2011 the record date is entitled to

vote at the annual meeting However our sub-advisor KBS Legacy Apartment Community REIT Venture

LLC which owned 20000 shares of our common stock as of the record date is not permitted to vote any of its

shares in any vote for the election of directors any vote regarding the removal of the advisor or its affiliates or

any vote regarding transaction between us and the advisor or its affiliates

Will my vote make difference

Yes Your vote could affect the composition of our board of directors Moreover your vote is needed to ensure

that the proposal can be acted upon Because we are widely held company YOUR VOTE IS VERY
IMPORTANT Your immediate response will help avoid potential delays and may save us significant

additional expenses associated with soliciting stockholder votes

How many shares of common stock are outstanding

As of April 11 2011 there were 869663 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote



What constitutes quorum

quorum consists of the presence in person or by proxy of stockholders holding majority of the outstanding

shares There must be quomm present in order for the annual meeting to be duly held meeting at which

business can be conducted If you submit your proxy even if you abstain from voting then you will at least be

considered part of the quorum

How many votes do have

You are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock you held as of the record date

What may vote on

You may vote on the election of nominees to serve on the board of directors and on any other proposal

properly brought before the annual meeting

How does the board of directors recommend vote on the proposal

The board of directors recommends vote FOR each of the nominees for election as director who are named in

this proxy statement

How can vote

You can vote in person at the annual meeting or by proxy Stockholders have the following three options for

submitting their votes by proxy

by mail by completing signing dating and retuming the enclosed proxy card

via the intemet at http//www.eproxy.com/kbslegacy or

by telephone by calling 866 977-7699

For those stockholders with intemet access we encourage you to vote via the intemet since it is quick

convenient and provides cost savings to us When you vote via the intemet or by telephone prior to the

meeting date your vote is recorded immediately and there is no risk that postal delays will cause your vote to

arrive late and therefore not be counted For further instructions on voting see the enclosed proxy card

Voting via the intemet is permitted under Section 2-507c3 of the Maryland General Corporation Law

For further instructions on voting see the enclosed proxy card If you elect to attend the annual meeting you

can submit your vote in person and any previous votes that you submitted whether by telephone or mail will

be superseded



What if submit my proxy and then change my mind

You have the right to revoke your proxy at any time before the annual meeting by

notifying David Snyder our Secretary

attending the meeting and voting in person or

retuming another proxy card dated after your first proxy card if we receive it before the annual meeting

date or

recasting your proxy vote via the internet or by telephone

Only the most recent proxy vote will be counted and all others will be discarded regardless of the method of

voting

What are the voting requirements to elect the board of directors

Under our charter majority of the votes present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting is required for the

election of the directors This means that director nominee needs to receive more votes for his or her election

than against his or her election in order to be elected to the board Because of this majority vote requirement

withhold votes and broker non-votes will have the effect of vote against each nominee for director If

an incumbent director nominee fails to receive the required number of votes for reelection then under

Maryland law he or she will continue to serve as holdover director until his or her successor is duly elected

and qualified

What is broker non-vote

broker non-vote occurs when broker holding stock on behalf of beneficial owner submits proxy but

does not vote on non-routine proposal because the broker does not have discretionary power with respect to

that item and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner On July 2009 the SEC eliminated the

ability of brokers to exercise discretionary voting in uncontested director elections at stockholder meetings that

are held on or after January 2010 The change prohibits brokers from giving proxy to vote with respect to

an election of directors without receiving voting instructions from beneficial owner Beneficial owners of

shares held in broker accounts are advised that if they do not timely provide instructions to their broker their

shares will not be voted in connection with the election of directors at our annual meeting

How will voting on any other business be conducted

Although we do not know of any business to be considered at the annual meeting other than the election of

directors if any other business is properly presented at the annual meeting your submitted proxy gives

authority to Preston Butcher Guy Hays David Snyder and Stacie Yamane and each of them to

vote on such matters in accordance with the recommendation of the board of directors or in the absence of

such recommendation in their discretion

When are the stockholder proposals for the next annual meeting of stockholders due

Stockholders interested in nominating person as director or presenting any other business for consideration

at our annual meeting of stockholders in 2012 may do so by following the procedures prescribed in Section

2.12 of our Bylaws and in the SECs Rule 4a-8 To be eligible for presentation to and action by the

stockholders at the 2012 annual meeting director nominations and other stockholder proposals must be

received by David Snyder our Secretary no later than January 20 2012 To also be eligible for inclusion in

our proxy statement for the 2012 annual meeting director nominations and other stockholder proposals must

be received by Ivfr Synder by December 21 2011



Who pays the cost of this proxy solicitation

We will pay all of the costs of soliciting these proxies We will also reimburse brokerage houses and other

custodians nominees and fiduciaries for theft reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
for forwarding proxy and

solicitation materials to our stockholders

Is this proxy statement the only way that proxies are being solicited

No In addition to mailing proxy solicitation material our directors and employees of our advisor or its

affiliates as well as third-party proxy service companies we retain may also solicit proxies in person via the

intemet by telephone or by any other electronic means of communication we deem appropriate We currently

have no arrangements with paid solicitors

Where can find more information

We file annual quarterly and current reports and other information with the SEC You may read and copy any

reports or other information we file with the SEC on the web site maintained by the SEC at

http//www.sec.gov Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SECs Public Reference Ràom

located at 100 Street N.E Washington DC 20549 You may also obtain copies of the documents at

prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 Street N.E Washington DC

20549 Please call the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 for further information regarding the public reference facilities



CERTAIN INFORMATION ABOUT MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors

We operate under the direction of our board of directors The board of directors oversees our operations

and makes all major decisions concerning our business During 2010 our board of directors held five meetings and

participated in one joint meeting with the conflicts committee For biographical information regarding our directors

see Executive Officers and Directors

Our board has established two committees the audit committee and the conflicts committee Information

regarding each of these committees is set forth below

Board Leadership Structure

Our board of directors is composed of two of our sponsors Preston Butcher and Peter Bren and

three independent directors Our board composition and the corporate governance provisions in our charter ensure

strong oversight by independent directors Our boards two committees the audit committee and the conflicts

committee are composed entirely of independent directors Our company is led by Mr Butcher who has served as

Chairman of our board of directors and our ChiefExecutive Officer since our inception in2009 Although the board

of directors has not established policy on whether the role of the Chairman and ChiefExecutive Officer should be

combined in practice the board of directors has found that having combined Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer role allows for more productive board meetings As Chairman of the board of directors Mr Butcher is

responsible for leading board meetings and meetings of stockholders generally setting the agendas for board

meetings subject to the requests of other board members and providing information to the other directors in

advance of meetings and between meetings Mr Butchers direct involvement in the companys operations makes

him best positioned to lead strategic planning sessions and determine the time allocated to each agenda item in

discussions of our short- and long-term objectives As result the board of directors currently believes that

maintaining structure that combines the roles of the Chairman and ChiefExecutive Officer is the appropriate

leadership structure for our company We do not currently have policy requiring the appointment of lead

independent director as all of our independent directors are actively involved in board meetings

The Role of the Board of Directors iu our Risk Oversight Process

Our executive officers and our advisor KBS Capital Advisors LLC are responsible for the day-to-day

management of risks faced by the company while the board of directors as whole and through its committees has

responsibility for the oversight of risk management No less than quarterly our entire board reviews information

regarding the companys liquidity credit operations regulatory compliance and compliance with covenants in our

material agreements as well as the risks associated with each In addition each year our board reviews significant

variances between our current portfolio business plan and our original underwriting analysis and each quarter the

members review significant variances between our current results and our projections from the prior quarter review

all significant changes to our projections for future periods and discuss risks related to our portfolio The audit

committee oversees risk management in the areas of financial reporting internal controls and compliance with legal

and regulatory requirements The conflicts committee manages risks associated with the independence of the board

of directors and potential conflicts of interest involving our advisor and its affiliates Although each committee is

responsible for evaluating certain risks and overseeing the management of such risks the entire board of directors is

regularly informed through committee reports about such risks as well as through regular reports directly from the

executive officers responsible for oversight of particular risks within the company

Director Iudependeuce

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange majority of the

members of our board of directors and all of the members of the audit committee and the conflicts committee are

independent as defined by the New York Stock Exchange The New York Stock Exchange standards provide that

to qualify as an independent director in addition to satisfying certain bright-line criteria the board of directors must

affirmatively determine that director has no material relationship with us either directly or as partner

stockholder or officer of an organization that has relationship with us The board of directors has determined that



Gary Kachadurian Michael Meyer and Ronald 2uzack each satisfies the bright-line criteria and that none

has relationship with us that would interfere with such persons ability to exercise independent judgment as

member of the board None of these directors has ever served as or is related to an employee of ours or of any of

our predecessors or acquired companies or received or eamed any compensation from us or any such other entities

except for compensation directly related to service as director of us Therefore we believe that all of these

directors are independent directors

The Audit Committee

General

The audit committees function is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its responsibilities by

overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes ii the integrity of our financial statements iii our

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements iv the independent auditors qualifications and independence

and the performance of the independent auditors and our intemal audit function The audit committee fulfills

these responsibilities primarily by carrying out the activities enumerated in the audit committee charter Our audit

committee updated and revised our audit committee charter in August 2010 The audit committee charter is

currently available on our web site at http//www.kbslegacyreit.com

The members of the audit committee are Michael Meyer Chairman Gary Kachadurian and Ronald

Zuzack All of the members of the audit committee are independent as defined by the New York Stock

Exchange All members of the audit committee have significant fmancial and/or accounting experience and the

board of directors has determined that Mr Meyer satisfies the SECs requirements for an audit committee financial

expert During 2010 the audit committee held four meetings

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

During the
year ended December 31 2010 Emst Young LLP served as our independent registered

public accounting firm and provided certain tax and other services Emst Young has served as our independent

registered public accounting firm since our formation We expect that Emst Young representatives will be present

at the aimual meeting of stockholders and they will have the opportunity to make statement if they desire to do so

In addition we expect that the Ernst Young representatives will be available to respond to appropriate questions

posed by stockholders The audit committee anticipates that it will engage Ernst Young as our independent

auditors to audit our financial statements for the
year ended December 31 2011 subject to agreeing on fee estimates

for the audit work The audit committee may however select new auditors at any time in the future in its discretion

if it deems such decision to be in our best interests Any such decision would be disclosed to the stockholders in

accordance with applicable securities laws

Pre-Approval Policies

The audit committee charter imposes duty on the audit committee to pre-approve all auditing services

performed for us by our independent auditors as well as all permitted non-audit services in order to ensure that the

provision of such services does not impair the auditors independence In determining whether or not to pre-approve

services the audit committee will consider whether the service is permissible service under the rules and

regulations promulgated by the SEC The audit committee may in its discretion delegate to one or more of its

members the authority to
pre-approve any audit or non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditors

provided any such approval is presented to and approved by the full audit committee at its next scheduled meeting

Since March 12 2010 when we became reporting company under Section 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 all services rendered by Ernst Young have been pre-approved in accordance with the

policies and procedures described above



Principal Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

The aggregate fees billed to us for professional accounting services including the audit of our annual

financial statements by Emst Young for the
years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 are set forth in the table

below

2010 2009

Audit fees $167000 $114000

Audit-related fees

Tax fees 14530 l4Q00

All other fees

Total $181530 $128000

For purposes of the preceding table Ernst Youngs professional fees are classified as follows

Audit fees These are fees for professional services perfonned for the audit of our annual financial

statements and the required review of quarterly financial statements and other procedures performed

by Ernst Young in order for them to be able to form an opinion on our consolidated financial

statements These fees also cover services that are normally provided by independent auditors in

connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements

Audit-related fees These are fees for assurance and related services that traditionally are performed

by independent auditors that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the

fmancial statements such as due diligence related to acquisitions and dispositions attestation services

that are not required by statute or regulation internal control reviews and consultation concerning

financial accounting and reporting standards

Tax fees Tbese are fees for all professional services performed by professional staff in our

independent auditors tax division except those services related to the audit of our fmancial

statements These include fees for tax compliance tax planning and tax advice including federal state

and local issues Services may also include assistance with tax audits and appeals before the IRS and

similar state and local agencies as well as federal state and local tax issues related to due diligence

All other fees These are fees for any services not included in the above-described categories

Report of the Audit Committee

The function of the audit committee is oversight of the financial reporting process on behalf of the board of

directors Management has responsibility for the financial reporting process including the system of internal control

over financial reporting and for the preparation presentation and integrity of our fmancial statements In addition

the independent auditors devote more time and have access to more information than does the audit committee

Membership on the audit committee does not call for the professional training and technical skills generally

associated with career professionals in the field of accounting and auditing Accordingly in fulfilling their

responsibilities it is recognized that members of the audit committee are not and do not represent themselves to be

performing the functions of auditors or accountants

In this context the audit committee reviewed and discussed the 2010 audited financial statements with

management including discussion of the quality and acceptability of our financial reporting the reasonableness of

significant judgments and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements The audit committee discussed with

Ernst Young which is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial

statements with U.S generally accepted accounting principles the matters required to be discussed under the

statement on Auditing Standards No 61 as amended AICPA Professional Standards Vol AU section 380 as

adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T The audit committee received from

Emst Young the written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board regarding Emst Youngs communications with the audit committee conceming



independence and discussed with Ernst Young theft independence from us In addition the audit committee

considered whether Ernst Youngs provision of non-audit services is compatible with Ernst Youngs
independence

Based on these reviews and discussions the audit committee recommended to the board of directors that

the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31
2010 for filing with the SEC

April 2011 The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Michael Meyer Chairman Gary Kachadurian and Ronald Zuzack

The Conflicts Committee

General

The members of our conflicts committee are Ronald Zuzack Chairman Gary Kachadunan and

Michael Meyer all of whom are independent directors Our charter empowers the conflicts committee to act on

any matter permitted under Maryland law if the matter at issue is such that the exercise of independent judgment by

directors who are affiliates of our advisor could reasonably be compromised Among the duties of the conflicts

committee are the following

reviewing and reporting on our policies see Report of the Conflicts Committee below

approving transactions with affiliates and reporting on their fairness to us see Report of the

Conflicts Committee below

supervising and evaluating the performance and compensation of our advisor

reviewing our expenses
and determining that they are reasonable and within the limits prescribed by

our charter

approving borrowings in excess of limits set forth in our charter and

discharging the boards responsibilities relating to compensation

The primary responsibilities of the conflicts committee are enumerated in our charter The conflicts

committee does not have separate committee charter The conflicts cpmmittee held four meetings and participated

in one joint meeting with the entire board of directors during 2010

Oversight of Executive Compensation

As noted above our conflicts committee discharges the boards responsibilities relating to the

compensation of our executives However we currently do not have any paid employees and our executive officers

do not receive any compensation directly from us Our executive officers are officers and/or employees of or hold an

indirect ownership interest in our advisor or sub-advisor and/or their affiliates and our executive officers are

compensated by these entities in part for their services to us or our subsidiaries See Report of the Conflicts

Committee Certain Transactions with Related Persons for discussion of the fees paid to our advisor and its

affiliates

Report of the Conflicts Committee

Review of our Policies

The conflicts committee has reviewed our policies and determined that they are in the best interest of our

stockholders Set forth below is discussion of the basis for that determination



Offering Policy We are conducting public offering of up to 200 million shares of common stock at $10

per share with discounts available for certain categories of investors We are also offering up to 80 million shares

of common stock under our dividend reinvestment plan We believe these offerings are currently in the best interest

of our stockholders because they increase the likelihood that we will be able to acquire diverse portfolio of

income-producing assets thereby reducing risk in our portfolio For the year ended December 31 2010 the costs of

raising capital in our primary offering and our dividend reinvestment plan represented 15% of the capital raised

Acquisition and Investment Policies We intend to focus our investment activities on and use the proceeds

of our initial public offering principally for investment in and management of diverse portfolio of equity

investments in high quality apartment communities We plan to diversify our portfolio by investment type

investment size investment risk and geographic region as well as by other factors with the goal of attaining

portfolio of income-producing properties that provide attractive and stable retums to our investors We intend to

allocate between 70% and 80% of our portfolio to investments in core apartment communities which are high

quality well positioned existing properties producing rental income generally with at least 85% occupancy We
intend to allocate between 20% and 30% of our portfolio to investments in value-added and opportunity-oriented

properties at various phases of leasing development redevelopment or repositioning We intend to make the

majority of our equity investments in investment types that have relatively low investment risk characteristics We
may make our investments through the acquisition of individual assets or by acquinng portfolios of assets We may
also make equity investments in REITs and other real estate companies with investment objectives similar to ours

We do not expect our non-controlling equity investments in other public companies to exceed 5% of the proceeds of

our initial public offering assuming we sell the maximum offering amount or to represent substantial portion of

our assets at any one time Although these percentages represent our target portfolio we may make adjustments to

our target portfolio based on real estate market conditions and investment opportunities We will not forego good

investment because it does not precisely fit our expected portfolio composition We believe that there are sufficient

acquisition opportunities that meet this investment focus Affiliates of our advisor and sub-advisor have extensive

expertise with these types of investments

Borrowing Policies Our investment strategy is to utilize primarily secured and possibly unsecured debt to

finance our investment portfolio however given the current debt market environment we may elect to forego the

use of debt on some or all of our future real estate acquisitions Our management remains vigilant in monitoring the

risks inherent in our portfolio and is taking actions to ensure that we are positioned to take advantage of the current

conditions in the capital markets We may elect to secure financing subsequent to the acquisition date on fUture real

estate properties and initially acquire investments without debt financing Once we have fully invested the proceeds

of our initial public offering we expect our debt financing to be between 50% and 65% of the cost of our tangible

assets before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves Our charter limits our borrowings to 75% of the

cost before deducting depreciation or other noncash reserves of all of our tangible assets however we may exceed

that limit if the majority of the conflicts committee approves each borrowing in excess of our charter limitation and

we disclose such borrowings to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from the conflicts

committee of the justification for the excess borrowing To the extent fmancing in excess of this limit is available at

attractive tenns the conflicts committee may approve debt in excess of this limit From time to time our debt

financing may be below 50% of the cost of all of our tangible assets due to the lack of availability of debt financing

As of February 28 2011 our borrowings were approximately 101% of the cost before depreciation or other

noncash reserves of our tangible assets

Disposition Policies We intend to hold our properties for an extended period typically five to ten years

which we believe is the optimal period to enable us to capitalize on the potential for increased income and capital

appreciation The hold period for properties undergoing development or significant rehabilitation will likely be

longer to account for the time necessary to constmct lease up and stabilize the propertys operations before sale

Our advisor develops well-defined exit strategy for each investment we make and continually performs hold-sell

analysis on each asset in order to determine the optimal time to sell the asset and generate strong retum for you
Periodic reviews of each asset will focus on the remaining available value enhancement opportunities for the asset

and the demand for the asset in the marketplace Economic and market conditions may influence us to hold our

investments for different periods of time We may sell an asset before the end of the expected holding period if we

believe that market conditions and asset positioning have maximized its value to us or the sale of the asset would

otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders



Policy Regarding Working Capital Reserves We establish an annual budget for capital requirements and

working capital reserves each year that we update periodically during the year We may set aside proceeds from our

primary offering for working capital purposes We would not expect to use more than 0.5% of the
gross proceeds

from our primary offering for working capital reserves We may also use debt proceeds cash flow from operations

and proceeds from our dividend reinvestment plan to meet our needs for working capital for the upcoming year and

to build moderate level of cash reserves

Policies Regarding Operating Expenses For the four consecutive quarters ending December 31 2010
based on the definitions of total operating expenses net income and average invested assets in our charter our total

operating expenses were approximately $0.8 million we had net loss of approximately $1.3 million and our

average invested assets were approximately $6.7 million For the four consecutive quarters ending December 31

2010 our total operating expenses represented approximately 11% of
average

invested assets Under our charter

commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30 2011 we are required to limit our total operating expenses

to the greater of 2% of our average invested assets or 25% of our net income for the four most recently completed

fiscal quarters as these terms are defined in our charter unless the conflicts committee has determined that such

excess expenses were justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors

Liquidation or Listing Policy We believe it is in the best interest of our stockholders not to list our shares

of common stock on national exchange at this time First we are in the fhndraising and acquisition stage of our

life cycle and remaining unlisted improves our ability to continue to raise new equity and purchase additional

investments so that our portfolio can achieve greater size and diversification Second we believe it is more cost

effective to remain unlisted and utilize KBS Capital Advisors as our extemal advisor at the present time than it

would be to intemalize all the resources necessary to operate listed company Third our shares are offered as

long-term investment We believe that the ability to provide our stockholders with liquidity in the near-term is

outweighed by the long-term benefits of completing our initial public offering and allowing the portfolio to mature

Our Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons

Our charter requires our conflicts committee which consists of all of our independent directors to review

and
approve

all transactions between us and our advisor any of our officers or directors or any of their affiliates

Prior to entering into transaction with related party majority of the conflicts committee must conclude that the

transaction is fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available from

unaffihiated third parties In addition our Code of Conduct and Ethics lists examples of types of transactions with

related parties that would create prohibited conflicts of interest and requires our officers and directors to be

conscientious of actual and potential conflicts-of interest with respect to our interests and to seek to avoid such

conflicts or handle such conflicts in an ethical manner at all times consistent with applicable law Our executive

officers and directors are required to report potential and actual conflicts via the Ethics Hotline to an intemal audit

representative or directly to the Chairman of our audit committee as appropriate

Certain Transactions with Related Persons

The conflicts committee has reviewed the material transactions between our affiliates and us since the

beginning of 2010 as well as any such currently proposed transactions Set forth below is description of such

transactions and the committees report on their faimess

As described further below we have entered into agreements with certain affiliates pursuant to which they

will provide services to us Peter Bren Keith Hall Peter McMillan III and Charles Scbreiber Jr control

and indirectly own our advisor KBS Capital Advisors LLC and the dealer manager of our public offering KBS

Capital Markets Group LLC We refer to these individuals as our KBS sponsors Messrs Bren and McMillan are

also our executive officers All four of our KBS sponsors actively participate in the management and operations of

our advisor Our advisor has three managers an entity owned and controlled by Mr Bren an entity owned and

controlled by Messrs Hall and McMillan and an entity owned and controlled by Mr Schreiber

Our Relationship with KBS Capital Advisors Pursuant to the advisory agreement KBS Capital Advisors is

responsible for managing our day-to-day operations retaining the property managers for our property investments
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subject to the authority of our board of directors and officers and performing other duties including but not

limited to the following

finding presenting and recommending to us real estate property opportunities consistent with our

investment policies and objectives

structuring the terms and conditions of our investmenfs sales and joint ventures

acquiring properties on our behalf in compliance with our investment objectives and policies

arranging for fmancing and refinancing of properties

entering into leases and service contracts for our properties

supervising and evaluating each property managers performance

reviewing and analyzing the properties operating and capital budgets

assisting us in obtaining insurance

generating an annual budget for us

reviewing and analyzing financial information for each of our assets and the verall portfolio

formulating and overseeing the implementation of strategies for the administration promotion

management operation maintenance improvement financing and refmancing marketing leasing and

disposition of our properties and other investments

performing investor-relations services

maintaining our accounting and other records and assisting us in filing all reports required to be filed

with the SEC the Intemal Revenue Service and other regulatory agencies

engaging and supervising the performance of our agents including our registrar and transfer agent and

performing any other services reasonably requested by us

Our advisor is subject to the supervision of our board of directors and only has such authority as we may
delegate to it as our agent Our advisory agreement has one-year term expiring January 25 2012 subject to an

unlimited number of successive
one-year

renewals upon the mutual consent of the parties From January 2010

through the most recent date practicable which was February 28 2011 we have compensated our advisor as set

forth below

Our advisor or its affiliates have paid and may pay in the future some of our organization and offering

costs other than selling commissions and dealer manager fees incurred in connection with our ongoing initial

public offering including our legal accounting printing mailing and filing fees We reimburse our advisor for these

costs and for future organization and offering costs incurred on our behalf but only to the extent that the

reimbursement would not cause selling commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering

expenses bome by us to exceed 15% of the gross offering proceeds of our ongoing initial public offering as of the

date of the reimbursement In addition after the termination of the primary offering our advisor is obligated to

reimburse us to the extent selling commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering costs

bome by us exceed 15% of the gross proceeds raised in the primary offering KBS Capital Advisors will do the same

after termination of the offering pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan From January 2010 through

February 28 2011 our advisor incurred approximately $0.3 million of organization and offering expenses on our

behalf and as of February 28 2011 our advisor has been reimbursed by us for approximately $0.2 million of such

costs

We incur acquisition advisory fees payable to our advisor equal to 1.0% of the cost of investments acquired

by us including any acquisition expenses and any debt attributable to such investments Acquisition advisory fees

relate to services provided in connection with the selection and acquisition or origination of real estate and real

estate-related investments In addition to acquisition advisory fees we reimburse our advisor for customary

11



acquisition expenses whether or not we ultimately acquire the asset Acquisition advisory fees from January 2010

through February 28 2011 totaled approximately $0.4 million all of which has been paid as of February 28 2011

For asset management services we pay our advisor monthly fee The asset management fee is monthly

fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.0% of the amount paid or allocated to ftmd the acquisition development construction

or improvement of the investment inclusive of acquisition expenses related thereto but excluding any acquisition

fees paid to the advisor related thereto and the amount of any debt associated with or used to acquire such

investment In the case of investments made through joint ventures the asset management fee will be determined

based on our proportionate share of the underlying investment From January 2010 through February 28 2011
our asset management fees totaled $0.1 million all of which have been paid as of February 28 2011

Under our advisory agreement our advisor and its affiliates have the right to seek reimbursement from us

for all costs and expenses they incur in connection with their provision of services to us including our allocable

share of our advisors overhead such as rent employee costs utilities and information teclmology costs Our

advisor may seek reimbursement for employee costs under the advisory agreement Our advisor will seek

reimbursement for our allocable portion of the salaries benefits and overhead of internal audit department personnel

providing services to us In the future if our advisor seeks reimbursement for additional employee costs such costs

may include our proportionate share of the salaries of
persons

involved in the preparation of documents to meet SEC

reporting requirements However we will not reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for employee costs in

connection with services for which our advisor earns acquisition or disposition fees other than reimbursement of

travel and communication expenses or for the salaries and benefits our advisor or its affiliates may pay to our

executive officers From January 2010 through February 28 2011 we have reimbursed our advisor for $0.4

million of operating expenses including $33000 of employee costs

The conflicts committee considers our relationship with our advisor during 2010 to be fair The conflicts

committee believes that the amounts payable to the advisor under the advisory agreement are similar to those paid

by other publicly offered unlisted externally advised REITs and that this compensation is necessary in order for the

advisor to provide the desired level of services to us and our stockholders

Our Relationship with ABS Capital Markets Group On March 12 2010 upon the launch of our public

offering we entered into an agreement with our dealer manager Pursuant to the agreement KBS Capital Markets

Group is entitled to receive selling commissions and dealer manager fees of up to 9.5% of the gross proceeds of our

primary offering no selling commissions or dealer manager fees are payable with respect to sales under the

dividend reinvestment plan All or portion of the selling commissions are not charged with regard to shares sold

to certain categories of purchasers reduced dealer manager fee is payable with respect to certain volume discount

sales The dealer manager reallows 100% of selling commissions to broker-dealers participating in the public

offering From its dealer manager fee KBS Capital Markets Group may reallow to any participating btoker dealer

up to 1.0% of the gross offering proceeds attributable to that participating broker-dealer as marketing fee in

special cases the dealer manager has the option to increase the amount of this reallowance From January 2010

through February 28 2011 we incurred selling commissions of $0.2 million of which 100% was reallowed to

participating broker-dealers From January 2010 through February 28 2011 we incurred dealer manager fees of

$0.1 million of which $18000 was reallowed to participating broker-dealers

In addition to selling conmiisions and dealer manager fees we are also obligated to reimburse the dealer

manager and its affiliates for certain offering related expenses that they incur on our behalf These include expenses

for travel meals lodging and attendance and sponsorship fees incurred by registered persons
associated with the

dealer manager and officers and employees of our affiliates to attend retail conferences sponsored by participating

broker-dealers and other meetings with participating broker-dealers expense reimbursements to broker-dealers for

actual costs incurred in connection with attending bona fide training and education meetings hosted by us certain

technology costs associated with the offering certain legal fees allocable to the dealer manager and reimbursement

of bona fide due diligence expenses of broker-dealers Under our dealer manager agreement we are responsible for

reimbursing our dealer manager and its affiliates for offering related expenses they incur provided that our

reimbursement payments shall not cause total underwriting compensation excluding reimbursement of bona fide

due diligence expenses to exceed 10% of the
gross proceeds from the primary offering or ii total organization and

offering expenses home by us to exceed 15% of our gross offering proceeds From January 2010 through

February 28 2011 we have reimbursed or intend to reimburse our dealer manager for approximately $0.1 million
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The conflicts committee believes that this arrangement with our dealer manager is fair We-believe that the

compensation paid to our dealer manager has allowed us to achieve our goal of acquiring large diversified

portfolio of real estate and real estate-related investments

Financing of Legacy at Valley Ranch On October 26 2010 in connection with our acquisition of the

Legacy at Valley Ranch apartment we through our Operating Partnership borrowed $14.0 million pursuant to

bridge loan from our advisor the Advisor Bridge Loan

In connection with obtaining the Advisor Bridge Loan our Operating Partnership executed promissory note

in favor of our advisor pursuant to which our Operating Partnership agreed to repay the outstanding principal

balance and any accrued interest and other amounts due under the Advisor Bridge Loan by April 252011 subject to

our advisors option to extend the maturity date to July 25 2011 The unpaid principal under the promissory note

bears simple interest from the date advanced at the rate of 6% per annum Our Operating Partnership is responsible

for closing costs related to the Advisor Bridge Loan as well as 1% commitment fee payable to our advisor Our

Operating Partnership may prepay the unpaid principal balance under the promissory note in whole or in part

together with all interest then accrued under the note at any time without premium or penalty Our advisor may

upon written demand require our Operating Partnership to prepay outstanding amounts under the promissory note in

whole or in part provided that ffinds are available from the proceeds of this offering Pursuant to the promissory

note finds are deemed available from this offering if neither us our Operating Partnership nor any of their

subsidiaries have used or become contractually obligated to use such proceeds for the payment of fees and expenses

related to our operations including but not limited to any fees and expenses related to real estate investments

payment of principal or interest on third-party debt obligations general and administrative expenses other general

corporate purposes or distributions including dividend payments to stockholders we accrued as of the date of our

advisors demand The promissory note is unsecured Our board of directors and conflicts committee reviewed the

proposed terms of the Advisor Bridge Loan and determined such terms to be fair and reasonable to us and on terms

no less favorable to us than comparable loans between unaffiliated parties We expect to repay the Advisor Bridge

Loan with the proceeds from our ongoing public offering

Currently Proposed Transactions There are no currently proposed material transactions with related

persons other than those covered by the terms of the agreements described above

The conflicts committee has determined that the policies set forth in this Report of the Conflicts Committee

are in the best interests of our stockholders because they provide us with the highest likelihood of achieving our

investment objectives

April 2011 The Conflicts Committee of the Board of Directors

Ronald Zuzack Chairman Gary Kachadurian and Michael Meyer

Nomination of Directors

General

We do not have standing nominating committee However our conflicts committee which is composed

of all of our independent directors is responsible for identifying and nominating replacements for vacancies among
our independent director positions Our board believes that the primary reason for creating standing nominating

committee is to ensure that candidates for independent director positions can be identified and their qualifications

assessed under
process free from conflicts of interest with us Because nominations for vacancies in independent

director positions are handled exclusively by committee composed only of independent directors our board of

directors has determined that the creation of standing nominating committee is not necessary Nominations for

replacements for vacancies among non-independent director positions are considered and made by the frill board

We do not have charter that govems the director nomination process

Board Membership Criteria

With
respect to filling vacancies for independent director positions the conflicts committee reviews the

appropriate experience skills and characteristics required of board members in the context of the then-current
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membership of the board The full board annually conducts similar review with respect to all director nominations

This assessment includes in the context of the perceived needs of the board at that time issues of knowledge

experience judgment and skills such as an understanding of the real estate and real estate finance industries or

accounting or financial management expertise The board seeks to nominate directors with diverse backgrounds

experiences and skill sets that complement each other so as to maximize the collective knowledge experience

judgment and skills of the entire board The board assesses its effectiveness in achieving this goal annually in part

by reviewing the diversity of the skill sets of the directors and determining whether there are any deficiencies in the

boards collective skill set that should be addressed in the nominating process The board made such an assessment

in connection with director nominations for the 2011 annual stockholders meeting and determined that the

composition of the current board of directors satisfies its diversity objectives

Other considerations indirector nominations include the candidates independence from conflict with us

and the ability of the candidate to attend board meetings regularly and to devote an appropriate amount of time in

preparation for those meetings It also is expected that independent directors nominated by the conflicts committee

will be individuals who possess reputation and hold positions or affiliations befitting director of large publicly

held company and who are actively engaged in their occupations or professions or are otherwise regularly involved

in the business professional or academic community Moreover as required by our charter at least one of our

independent directors must have at least three
years

of relevant real estate experience and each director who is not

an independent director must have at least three years of relevant experience demoitstrating the knowledge and

experience required to successfully acquire and manage the type of assets we acquire and manage

Selection of Directors

Unless otherwise provided by Maryland law the board of directors is responsible for selecting its own

nominees and recommending them for election by the stockholders provided that the conflicts committee must

nominate replacements for any vacancies among the independent director positions All director nominees stand for

election by the stockholders annually

In nominating candidates for the board of directors the board or the conflicts committee as appropriate

solicits candidate recommendations from its own members and management of KBS Capital Advisors The board

and the conflicts committee may also engage the services of search firm to assist in identifying potential director

nominees

The board and the conflicts committee will consider recommendations made by stockholders for director

nominees who meet the established director criteria set forth above In order to be considered for nomination

recommendations made by stockholders must be submitted within the timeframe required to request proposal to be

included in the proxy materials See Stockholder Proposals below In evaluating the persons recommended as

potential directors the board or the conflicts committee as appropriate will consider each candidate without regard

to the source of the recommendation and take into account those factors that they determine are relevant

Stockholders may directly nominate potential directors without the recommendation of the committee by satisfying

the procedural requirements for such nomination as provided in Article II Section 2.12 of our Bylaws Any
stockholder may request copy of our Bylaws free of charge by calling 866-KB S-4CMG

Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors

We have established procedure for stockholders to communicate comments and concems to the board of

directors Stockholders may contact our board of directors at the following address

Board of Directors of KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT

620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300

Newport Beach California 92660

Stockholders should communicate to our Ethics Hotline any complaints or concems regarding

suspected violations or concems as to compliance with laws regulations our Code of Conduct and Ethics or other

suspected rongdoings affecting us or properties or assets we own or any complaints or concems regarding our

accounting internal accounting controls or auditing matters or any concems regarding any questionable accounting
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or auditing matters affecting us If stockholders wish to report any such matters he or she should report the

suspected violation or other complaint or concern by any of the following means

Via the internet at http//kbslegacyreit.ethicspoint.com

By calling the toll free Ethics Hotline at 1-888-329-6414 or

By mailing description of the suspected violation or concern to

Audit Committee Chairman

do KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT

620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300

Newport Beach CA 92660

Reports made via the Ethics Hotline will be sent to an internal audit representative and at least one of the

companys independent directors provided that no person named in the report will reŁeive thereport directly

Stockholders can also communicate directly with the Chairman of our board of directors at our annual

meeting Although we do not have policy regarding the attendance of our board members at annual meetings of

our stockholders we expect that the Chairman of our board will be present at all such meetings

Executive Officers and Directors

We have provided below certain information about our executive officers and directors All of our directors

have terms expiring on the date of the 2011 annual meeting and are being nominated for re-election to serve until the

2012 annual meeting and until his or her successor is elected and qualified

Chairman of the Board Chief Executive

Officer and Director

President and Director

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice Presideht

Executive Vice President

ChiefFinancial Officer Treasurer and

Secretary

Chief Accounting Officer

Independent Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

AsofMarch 2011

Preston Butcher is our Chairman of the Board ChiefExecutive Officer and one of our directors

positions which he has held since our inception in August 2009 Mr Butcher is also the Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer of Legacy Partners Residential Inc LPRI He joined Lincoln Property Company in

1968 and was President of the Western Region until 1998 at which time he became Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer of LPRI In 1999 Mr Butcher purchased the interests of the other Lincoln Property

Company shareholders in the Western Region operations and continued these operations under the new Legacy
Partners name Mr Butcher indirectly through trust owns and controls 100% of LPRI and 60% of Legacy

Partners Residential Realty LLC As Chief Executive Officer of LPRI Mr Butcher oversees the management and

operations of the Legacy Residential entities including setting company strategy and monitoring performance

Name Positions

Preston Butcher

Peter Bren

Guy Hays

Dean Hemy
Peter McMillan III

David Snyder

Stacie Yamane

Gary Kachadurian

Michael Meyer

Ronald Zuzack

Age
72

Year First

Became

Director

2009

77 2009

50 N/A

65 N/A

54 N/A

39 N/A

46 N/A

60 2010

72 2010

68 2010
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Mr Butcher is also the Chairman of the Board of Legacy Partners Commercial LLC position he has held

since 2003 as well as director of various other of the Legacy Commercial entities involved in the ownership of

Legacy Partners Realty Fund LLC Legacy Partners Realty Fund II LLC and Legacy Partners Realty Fund III

LLC As member of the Investment Committee for all of the Legacy Residential and Legacy Commercial affiliated

entities he reviews and approves the acquisition financing and disposition of multifamily and commercial real

estate investments respectively Mr Butcher routinely reviews significant asset management related issues and the

status and progress of properties under development He also shares responsibility for investor relationships

Mr Butcher has been involved exclusively in real estate acquisitions development financing

management and dispositions for over 40 years Over the course of his career he has overseen the

acquisition/development financing and management of over 68000 residential units exceeding $5.3 billion in cost

across 276 multifamily assets He has also overseen the acquisition/development financing and management of

over 68 million square feet of office and industrial space exceeding $8.7 billion in cost across 379 commercial

assets In terms of sales of real estate assets Mr Butcher has overseen the sale of 237 multifamily assets with nearly

57000 units and exceeding $3.3 billion in cost and 310 commercial assets with over 54 million square feet of space

and exceeding $4.4 billion in cost

Since 2002 Mr Butcher through Legacy Residential and Legacy Commercial affiliated entities has been

integral to the sponsorship of four real estate funds and raising nearly $1.5 billion oIequity from-institutional

investors for the funds Mr Butcher has also been key figure in Legacy Residentials real estate investment

management and disposition activities as sub-advisor to institutional clients Ivir Butcher has been involved in

entities as sub-advisor that raised over $2 billion since 1995 from large institutional clients such as the AFL-CIO

Building Investment Trust AIG Global Real Estate Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark

Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial Group Inc formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding

Corp Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette Inc now Credit Suisse USA Inc Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs

Mr Butcher is co-founder and past Chairman of the Board and presently serves on the Executive

Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council He was co-founder of the Califomia Housing Council

Mr Butcher is also member of the Policy Advisory Board of the Center for Real Estate at the University of

Califomia at Berkeley In 1991 Mr Butcher was invited to serve on the Board of Tmstees of the Urban Land

Institute He is Director of the Charles Schwab Corporation and NorthStar Realty Finance Corporation

Mr Butcher was founding board member of BRIDGE non-profit housing corporation created to provide low to

modeiate income housing Mr Butcher received Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the University

of Texas at Austin

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Butcher is qualified to serve as the Chairman of our board of

--

directors for reasons including his 40-year track record of leadership and success in the real estate industry

Mr Butchers familiarity with acquisition development fmancing and management of multi-family residential

properties through numerous business cycles provides him with unique experience to guide the strategic direction of

our business Mr Butchers superior leadership skills have been demonstrated through years overseeing the

management and operations of Legacy Residential businesses and are expected to be critical asset in leading our

board of directors and in his service as our Chief Executive Officer

Peter Bren is our President and one of our directors positions he has held since our inception in

August 2009 He is also the President of KBS Capital Advisors our advisor KBS Real Estate Investment Trust Inc

KBS REIT KBS Real Estate Investment Tmst II Inc KBS REIT II and KBS Real Estate Investment Trust

III Inc KBS REIT III positions he has held for these entities since in October 2004 June 2005 July 2007 and

January 2010 respectively Mr Bren is also
sponsor

of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT Inc KBS Strategic

Opportunity REIT which was formed in 2008 Other than de minimis amounts owned by family members or

family trusts Mr Bren indirectly owns and controls 33 1/3% interest in KBS Holdings LLC which entity is the

sole owner of our advisor and the dealer manager of our initial public offering All four of our KBS sponsors

Messrs Bren Hall McMillan and Schreiber actively participate in the management and operations of our advisor

Mr Bren is Chairman of the Board and President of KBS Realty Advisors LLC and is principal of Koll

Bren Schreiber Realty Advisors Inc each an active and nationally recognized real estate investment advisor These

entities were first registered as investment advisors with the SEC in 2002 and 1999 respectively The first
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investment advisor affiliated with Messrs Bren and Schreiber was formed in 1992 KBS Realty Advisors together

with KBS affiliates including KBS Capital Advisors has been involved in the investment in or management of over

$12.8 billion of real estate investments on behalf of institutional investors including public and private pension

plans endowments and foundations institutional and sovereign wealth ftinds and the investors in us KBS REIT

KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT and KBS Legacy Partners Apartment REIT

Mr Bren oversees all
aspects of KBS Capital Advisors and KBS Realty Advisors operations including

the acquisition management and disposition of individual investments and portfolios of investments for KBS
advised investors and their portfolios of income-producing real estate assets He also directs all facets of KBS

Capital Advisors and KBS Realty Advisors business activities and is member of the KBS Investment Committee

which evaluates and recommends new investment opportunities for us and other KBS-advised investment vehicles

Mr Bren is also responsible for investor relationships

Mr Bren has been involved in real estate development management acquisition disposition and financing

for more than 40 years and with the acquisition origination management disposition and financing of real estate-

related debt investments Prior to taking his current positions as Chairman of the Board and President of KBS

Capital Advisors and KBS Realty Advisors he served as the President of The Bren Company was former Senior

Partner of Lincoln Property Company and was President of Lincoln Property Company Europe Mr Bren is also

founding member of The Richard Ziman Center for Real Estate at the UCLA Andersoff School of Management

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Bren is qualified to serve as one of our directors for reasons

including his extensive industry and leadership experience With 40 years of real estate experience including 21 as

senior partner of Lincoln Property Company focused on financing developing leasing and managing apartment

properties Mr Bren has the depth and breadth of experience to implement our business strategy As our President

and principal of our extemal advisor Mr Bren is well-positioned to provide the board of directors with insights

and perspectives on the execution of our business strategy our operations and other intemal matters Further as

principal of KBS-affihiated investment advisors and as President of KBS REIT KBS REIT II and KBS REIT III

Mr Bren brings to the board demonstrated management and leadership ability

Guy Hays is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in August 2009

Mr Hays is Chief Financial Officer and Executive Managing Director of LPRI positions he has held since

January 2009 Mr Hays joined Lincoln Property Company in 1986 was promoted to Vice President of Finance

for all residential operations of the Westem Region in 1995 and became Senior Vice President Finance of LPRI in

1998 then Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Residential in 2001 and Senior Managing Director

and ChiefFinancial Officer in January 2008 Mr Hays indirectly through trust owns and controls 10% of Legacy

Partners Residential Realty LLC

As ChiefFinancial Officer of LPRI Mr Hays oversees the management operations and financial affairs of

the Legacy Residential entities including setting out company strategy and monitoring fmancial performance As

member of Legacy Residentials Investment Acquisition and Management Committee he reviews and approves the

acquisition financing and disposition of multifamily real estate investments Mr Hays routinely reviews significant

asset and property management related issues as well as the fmancing of properties and the firms banking

accounting and reporting functions He is also responsible for investor lender and banking relationships

Over the course of his career he has overseen the acquisitionldevelopment and financing of over

20000 units exceeding $3.25 billion in cost Since 2002 Mr Hays has been key figure in Legacy Residentials

sponsorship of the $269 million Legacy Residential Affordable Housing Fund LLC advising and investing on

behalf of the State of Califomia Public Employees Retirement System He has also been key figure in Legacy

Residentials affiliated entities real estate investment management and disposition activities as sub-advisor to

institutional clients Mr Hays has been involved in entities as sub-advisor that raised and invested nearly

$1 billion from large institutional clients such as the AFL-CIO Building Investment Trust AIG Global Real Estate

Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial

Group Inc formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding Corp Donaldson Luficin Jenrette Inc now Credit

Suisse USA Inc Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs
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Prior to joining Lincoln Property Company in 1986 Mr Hays was with Kenneth Leventhal and Company
CPA firm specializing in real estate in Dallas Texas where he eamed his Certified Public Accountant designation

Mr Hays is an active member of the National Multi-Housing Council and serves on the Multifamily Council of the

Urban Land Institute Mr Hays received Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Oral Roberts University

Dean Henry is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in August

2009 He is also the President of LPRI position he has held since 1998 Mr Henry joined Lincoln Property

Company in 1973 and was promoted to Senior Vice President in charge of all residential operations of the Westem

Region in 1995 and then became the President and ChiefOperating Officer of LPRI in 1998 and continuing as

President only since 2001 Mr Henry indirectly through trust owns and controls 30% of Legacy Partners

Residential Realty LLC

As President of LPRI Mr Henry oversees the management and operations of the Legacy Residential

entities including setting out company strategy and monitoring performance As member of Legacy Residentials

Investment Acquisition and Management Committee he reviews and
approves

the acquisition financing and

disposition of multifamily real estate investments Mr Henry routinely reviews significant asset and property

management issues and the status and progress of properties under development He is also responsible for investor

relationships

Mr Henry has been involved exclusively in multifamily real estate acquisitions development financing

management and dispositions for over 40 years Over the course of his career he has overseen the

acquisition/development financing and management of over 33000 residential units exceeding $3.8 billion in cost

Since 2002 Mr Henry has been key figure in Legacy Residentials sponsorship of the $269 million

Legacy Residential Affordable Housing Fund LLC advising and investing for the State of Califomia Public

Employees Retirement System He has also been key figure in Legacy Residentials affiliated entities real estate

investment management and disposition activities as sub-advisor to institutional clients and high net worth

individuals Mr Henry has been involved in entities as sub-advisor that raised and invested nearly $1 billion

since 1995 from large institutional clients such as the AFL-CIO Building Investment Trust AIG Global Real Estate

Investment Corp BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc Capmark Investments LP subsidiary of Capmark Financial

Group Inc formerly known as GMAC Commercial Holding Corp Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette Inc now Credit

Suisse USA Inc Equity Residential and Goldman Sachs

Mr Henry serves on the Executive Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council He is member of

the Policy Advisory Board of the Center for Real Estate at the University of Califomia at Berkeley and is an active

member of the Urban Land Institute Mr Henry is past Chairman of the San Francisco YMCA and former Board

Member of Mercy Housing not-for-profit affordable housing organization which has participated in the

development preservation and/or fmancing of more than 36900 affotdable homes in the United States Mr Henry

received Bachelors degree in Political Science from University of Puget Sound

Peter MeMillan III is our Executive Vice President position he has held since our inception in August

2009 He is also Executive Vice President Treasurer Secretary and director of KBS REIT KBS REIT II and

KBS REIT III and President Chairman of the Board and director of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions

he has held since June 2005 August 2007 January 2010 and December 2008 respectively Mr McMillan also owns

and controls 50% interest in GKP Holding LLC GKP Holding owns 33 1/3 interest in KBS Holdings LLC
which entity is the sole owner of our advisor and the dealer manager of our initial public offering Mr McMillan is

also member of the investment conuriittee formed by KBS Capital Advisors to evaluate and authorize new

investment opportunities for KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT All four of our KBS sponsors Messrs Bren Hall

McMillan and Schreiber actively participate in the management and operations of our advisor

Mr McMillan is co-founder and the Managing Partner of Willowbrook Capital Group LLC Prior to

forming Willowbrook in 2000 Mr McMillan served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer

of SunAmerica Investments Inc which was later acquired by AIG As Chief Investment Officer he was

responsible for over $75.0 billion in assets including residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities public

and private investment grade and non-investment grade corporate bonds and commercial mortgage loans and real

estate investments Before joining SunAmerica in 1989 he served as Assistant Vice President for Aetna Life
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Insurance and Annuity Company with responsibility for the companys $6.0 billion fixed income portfolios

Mr McMillan received his Master of Business Administration in Finance from the Wharton Graduate School of

Business at the University of Pennsylvania and his Bachelor of Arts Degree with honors in Economics from Clark

University Mr McMillan is director of Steinway Musical Instruments Inc and TCW/Metropolitan West Funds

David Snyder is our Chief Financial Officer Treasurer and Secretary positions he has held since our

inception in August 2009 He is also the Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT and KBS REIT II and the Chief

Financial Officer Treasurer and Secretary of KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions he has held since

December 2008 In late November 2008 Mr Snyder was appointed ChiefFinancial Officer of KBS Capital

Advisors Mr Snyder was appointed ChiefFinancial Officer of KBS REIT III in January 2010 He is also member

of the investment committee formed by KBS Capital Advisors to evaluate and recommend new investment

opportunities for KBS REIT II

From January 1998 to May 2008 Mr Snyder worked at Nationwide Health Properties Inc or NHP real

estate investment trust specializing in healthcare related property He served as the Vice President and Controller

from July 2005 to February 2008 and Controller from January 1998 to July 2005 At NHP Mr Snyder was

responsible for internal and extemal financial reporting Sarbanes-Oxley compliance budgeting debt compliance

negotiation and documentation of debt and equity fmancing and the negotiation of acquisition and leasing

documentation In addition Mr Snyder was part of the senior management team that approved investments

determined appropriate financing and developed strategic goals and plans As part of his investment and fmancing

responsibilities Mr Snyder participated in the origination modification and refinancing of mortgage loans made to

customers mortgages obtained on real estate and unsecured credit facilities

Mr Snyder was an adjunct accounting professor at Biola University from 1998 to May 2005 teaching

courses in auditing and accounting He was the director of financial reporting at Regency Health Services Inc.

skilled nursing provider from November 1996 to December 1997 From October 1993 to October 1996 Mr Snyder

worked for Arthur Andersen LLP Mr Snyder received Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration with

an emphasis in Accounting from Biola University in La Mirada Califomia Mr Snyder is Certified Public

Accountant

Stacie Yamane is our ChiefAccounting Officer position she has held since our inception in August

2009 Ms amane is also the Chief Accounting Officer Portfolio Accounting of our advisor and Chief Accounting

Officer of KBS REIT KBS REIT II KBS REIT III and KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions she has held

for these entities since October 2008 December 2008 October 2008 January 2010 and August 2009 respectively

From July 2007 until December 2008 Ms Yamane served as Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT II and she

served as Controller of KBS REIT II from July 2007 until October 2008 Additionally Ms Yamane served as Fund

Controller of our advisor from August 2004 to October 2008 Chief Financial Officer of KBS REIT from June

2005 to December 2008 and Controller of KBS REIT from June 2005 to October 2008

In addition Ms Yamane serves as Senior Vice President/Controller Portfolio Accounting for KBS Realty

Advisors LLC position she has held for this entity since 2004 She served as Vice President/Portfolio

Accounting with KBS-affiliated investment advisors from 1995 to 2004 At KBS Realty Advisors Ms Yamane is

responsible for client accounting/reporting for two real estate portfolios These portfolios consist of industrial office

and retail properties as well as land parcels Ms Yamane works closely with portfolio managers asset managers

property managers and clients to ensure the completion of timely and accurate accounting budgeting and financial

reporting In addition she assists in the supervision and management of KBS Realty Advisors accounting

department

Prior to joining an affiliate of KBS Realty Advisors in February of 1995 Ms Yamane was an audit

manager at Kenneth Leventhal Company CPA firm specializing in real estate During her eight years at

Kenneth Leventhal Company Ms Yamane performed or supervised variety of auditing accounting and

consulting engagements including the audit of financial statements presented under the U.S generally accepted

accounting principles or GAAP basis as well as financial statements presented on cash and tax basis the

valuation of asset portfolios and the review and analysis of internal control systems Her experiences at KBS and

Kenneth Leventhal Company give her 21 years of real estate experience
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Ms Yamane received Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration with a-dual-concentration in

Accounting and Management Information Systems from Califomia State University Fullerton She is Certified

Public Accountant inactive Califomia

Gary Kachadurian is one of our independent directors position he has held since January 2010

Mr Kachadurian has 30 years of real estate experience specializing in land and asset acquisition construction

development financing and management Since August 2007 Mr Kachadurian has served as Chairman of

Apartment Realty Advisors the nations largest privately owned multihousing investment advisory company Also

as President of Kach Enterprises LLC from October 2006 to the present he has been retained as consultant on

apartment acquisition and development transactions

He was formerly Senior Managing Director for Global Business Development for Deutsche Bank Real

Estate His responsibilities included raising equity in Japan Germany and other countries for new real estate

products Until May 2005 he was also senior member of the Policy Committee of RREEF leading pension fund

advisor in addition to being member of RREEFs Investment Committee for 14 years He was in charge of

RREEFs National Acquisitions Group and Value-Added and Development lines of business from 1999 to 2002
and also had oversight in the acquisition and management of RREEFs 24000 unit apartment investment portfolio

Prior to joining RREEF he was the Midwest Regional Operating Partner for Lincoln Property Company developing

and managing apartment communities in Illinois Indiana Wisconsin Kansas and Pennsylvania

Mr Kachadurian is founding Board Member of the Chicago Apartment Association was formerly

Chairman of the National Multi Housing Council He has been featured speaker and panelist at many apartment

industry events He is on the Board of Managers and co-chair of the Real Estate Committee of the Chicago YMCA
is Chairman of the Village Foundation of Childrens Memorial Hospital and serves as Director of Leaders Bank in

Oak Brook Illinois Mr Kachadurian received his B.S in Accounting from the University of Illinois

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Kachadurian is qualified to serve as one of our independent

directors for reasons including the depth and breadth of his experience in the rental apartment industry including

longstanding experience as developer owner and manager of apartment properties His extensive understanding of

these varied aspects of our industry provide the board with an invaluable resource for assessing and managing risks

and planning corporate strategy In addition in the course of serving on the boards of several companies and other

large organizations involved in the apartment industry IVIr Kachadurian has developed strong leadership and

consensus building skills that are valuable asset to our board

Michael Meyer is one of our independent directors and is the Chairman of our audit committee

positions he has held since January 2010 He is also an independent director and Chairman of the audit committee of

KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT positions he has held since October 2009 Mr Meyer is private real estate

investor and since 1999 has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Michael Meyer Company The Michael

Meyer Company is principal andlor manager of real estate entities and provides those entities with property

acquisition financing and management services and advice Since June 2006 Mr Meyer also has been principal of

TwinRock Partners LLC formerly known as AMG Realty Investors LLC commercial real estate investment

company From 2000 to 2003 Mr Meyer was principal in Advantage LLC provider of telecommunications

systems for real estate projects From 1999 to 2003 IVIr Meyer was also principal of Pacific Capital Investors

which acquired non-performing loans secured by real estate in Japan From 1974 to 1998 Mr Meyer was Managing

PartnerOrange County and Audit Partner of the EY Kenneth Leventhal Real Estate Group of Emst Young
LLP and its predecessor Mr Meyer is director and member of the audit committee of Opus Bank and is director

and Chairman of the audit committee of Paladin Realty Income Properties Inc positions he has held for these

entities since September 2010 and February 2004 respectively Additionally Mr Meyer served as director and

member of the audit committee of City National Bank and City National Corporation positions he held for these

entities from 1999 to April 2010

Mr Meyer was inducted into the Califomia Building Industry Foundation Hall of Fame in June of 1999 for

outstanding achievements in the real estate industry and community Mr Meyer was also the recipient of the

University of Califomia Irvine Graduate School of Management Real Estate Program Lifetime Achievement Award

Mr Meyer received Bachelors of Business Administration from the University of Iowa
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Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Meyer is qualified to serve as one of our independent

directors and the Chairman of our audit committee for reasons including his expertise with respect to commercial

real estate investments and accounting and financial reporting matters With over 11 years
of experience investing in

commercial real estate and providing commercial real estate acquisition financing and management services and

advice Mr Meyer is well-positioned to advise the board with respect to potential investment opportunities and

investment management In addition with over 24 years of experience as an accountant for real estate companies

Mr Meyer provides our board with substantial expertise regarding real estate accounting and financial reporting

matters Further the experience Mr Meyer has gained as director and Chairman of the audit committee of Paladin

Realty Income Properties Inc KBS Strategic Opportunity REIT and us as director and member of the audit

committee of Opus Bank and during his service as director and member of the audit committee of City National

Bank and City National Corporation provides him with an understanding of the requirements of serving on public

company board

Ronald Zuzack is one of our independent directors and is the Chairman of our conflicts committee

positions he has held since January 2010 Since August 2010 Mr Zuzack has been Senior Advisor and Investment

Committee Member of WestRock an apartment investment company From January 2008 until February 2010

Mr Zuzack served as Global ChiefOperating Officer for BlackRock Realty Advisors Inc.s Real Estate Equity

Business Black.Rock Realty is division of BlackRock Inc premierprovider of global investment management
risk management and advisory services Blackrock Realty is leading real estate equity investment manager and in

his capacity as Global COO Mr Zuzack is responsible for the day-to-day operations of platform in the Americas

the UK Continental Europe Australia and Asia with total assets under management of approximately US
$26 billion The firm manages variety of separate accounts closed-end fimds and open-end finds with focus on

core value-added and opportunistic investment strategies Since January 2008 Mr Zuzack has been Chairman of

Blackrock Realtys Operating Committee and member of the Executive Investment and Leadership Committees

for the firms Real Estate Group

Mr Zuzack joined BlackiRock Realtys predecessor SSR Realty Advisors Inc in 1981 as Portfolio

Manager serving as Executive Vice President and Director of Portfolio Services from 1988 to 1997 and Chief

Investment Officer from 1996 to 1997 Head of Acquisitions Dispositions and Financing from 1997 to December

2005 and Head of BlackRock Realty Americas from January 2006 to January 2008 Prior to joining SSR Realty

Advisors he held positions as Vice President and Real Estate Manager with Union Bank and as Vice President

Development and Property Manager for Inter-Cal Real Estate Corporation

Mr Zuzack earned BS in Finance and Economics in 1969 and an MBA in 1970 from the University of

Missouri He also was recognized as Willis Bryant Scholar in Mortgage Banking at Northwestem University in

1972 He is currently member of the Urban Land Institute He has also served as Chairman of the Multi-Family

Gold Council of the Urban Land Institute as member of the Executive Committee of the National Multi Housing

Council as Chairman of the Rent Control Committee of the National Multi-Housing Council and as board

member of the Mid-Penninsula Housing Authority

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr Zuzack is qualified to serve as one of our independent

directors and the Chairman of our conflicts committee for reasons including his extensive experience as an

investment fiduciary representing the interests of shareholder clients Mr Zuzacks 25 years as an active investor in

apartment properties provide him with specific knowledge of our market segment and related financing activities

and position him very well to provide the board of directors with valuable industry-specific insight and experience

Furthermore Mr Zuzacks experience also prepares him well for service on our audit committee As Global COO
of BlackRock Realty Advisors Mr Zuzack had overall responsibility for the financial performance of that company
including supervision of the principal financial officer regular reviews of financial statements and frequent

consideration of issues related to the conduct of audits assessment of internal controls and procedures for financial

reporting

Compensation of Executive Officers

Our executive officers do not receive compensation directly from us for services rendered to us Our

executive officers are officers and/or employees of or hold an indirect ownership interest in our advisor or sub

advisor and/or their affiliates and our executive officers are compensated by these entities in part for their services
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Name

Gar Kachadurian 70500
Michael Meyer 73000
Ronald Zuzack 73000

Peter BrenW

Preston ButcheF

Directors who are also our execotive officers do not receive compensation for services rendered as director

to us See The Conflicts Conmilttee Report of the Conflicts Committee Certain Transactions with Related

Persons for discussion of the fees paid to our advisor and its affiliates

Compensation of Directors

If director is also one of our executive officers we do not pay any compensation to that
person for

services rendered as director The amount and form of compensation payable to our independent directors for their

service to us is determined by our board of directors based upon recommendations from our advisor Two of our

executive officers Messrs Bren and McMillan participate in the management and control of our advisor and

through the advisor they are involved in recommending and setting the compensation to be paid to our independent

directors

We have provided below certain information regarding compensation eamed by or paid to our directors

during fiscal year 2010

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash

in 2010 All Other Compensation Total

70500

73000

73000

$2500 for each committee meeting attended committee chairmen receive an additional $500 per

committee meeting for serving in that capacity

$2000 for each teleconference meeting of the board and

$2000 for each teleconference meeting of any committee committee chairmen receive an additional

$1000 per teleconference committee meeting for serving in that capacity

All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
incurred in connection with

attendance at meetings of the board of directors

Cash Compensation

We pay each of our independent directors

an annual retainer of $40000

$2500 for each board meeting attended
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STOCK OWNERSHIP

The following table shows as of April 11 2011 the amount of our common stock beneficially owned

unless otherwise indicated by any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of

the outstanding shares of our common stock our directors our executive officers and all of our directors

and executive officers as group

Amount and Nature of Percent of

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Owuership2 All Shares

Preston Butcher Chaan of the Board ChiefExecutive 20000
Officer and Director

Peter Bren President and Director 20000
Guy Hays Executive Vice President 200btY3

Dean Henry Executive Vice President 20000
Pete MdMillan III Executive Vice President 20000w

David Snyder ChiefFinancial Officer Treasurer and Secretary

Stacie Yamane ChiefAccounting Officer

Gary Kachadurian Independent Director

Michael Meyer Independent Director

Ronald Zuzack Independent Director

Shaw Delaware Trust 90000 10.35%

All directors and executive officers as group 20000

Represents approximately 2% of the outstanding common stock

The address of each named beneficial owner is do KBS Real Estate Investment Trust II Inc 620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300

Newport Beach California 92660

None of the shares are pledged as security

Includes 20000 shares owned by KBS-Legacy Apartment Community REIT Venture LLC which is indirectly owned and controlled by

Preston Butcher Dean Henry Guy Hays Peter Bren Keith Hall Peter MeMillan III and Charles Sehreiber Jr
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PROPOSAL ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the annual meeting you and the other stockholders will vote on the election of all five members of our

board of directors Those persons elected will serve as directors until the 2012 annual meeting and until their

successors are duly elected and qualified The board of directors has nominated the following people for re-election

as directors

Preston Butcher Peter Bren

Oaiy Kachadurian Michael Meyer

Ronald Zuzack

Each of the nominees for director is current member of our board of directors Detailed information on

each nominee is provided on pages 15 through 21

The appointed proxies will vote your
shares of common stock as you instruct unless you submit your proxy

without instructions In this case they will vote FOR all of the director nominees listed above If any nominee

becomes unable or unwilling to stand for re-election the board may reduce its size or designate substitute If

substitute is designated proxies voting on the original nominee will be cast for the substituted nominee

Vote Required

Under our charter majority of the votes present in person or by proxy at the meeting is required for the

election of the directors This means that director nominee needs to receive more votes for his or her election than

against his or her election in order to be elected to the board Because of this majority vote requirement withhold

votes and broker non-votes wifi have the effect of vote against each nominee for director If an incumbent

director nominee fails to receive the required number of votes for reelection then under Maryland law he or she

will continue to serve as holdover director until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified

Whether you plan to attend the meeting and vote in person or not we urge you to have your vote

recorded Stockholders have the following three options for submitting their votes by proxy via the

internet by telephone or by mail using the enclosed proxy card YOUR VOTE IS VERY
IMPORTANT Your immediate response will help avoid potential delays and may save us significant

additional expenses associated with soliciting stockholder votes

Recommendation

YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS VOTE FOR ALL

NOMINEES LISTED FOR REELECTION AS DIRECTORS
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any proposals by stockholders for inclusion in proxy solicitation material for the next annual meeting must

be received by our secretary David Snyder at our executive offices no later than December 21 2011 However

if we hold our annual meeting before June 82012 or after August 2012 stockholders must submit proposals for

inclusion in our 2012 proxy statement within reasonable time before we begin to print our proxy materials The

mailing address of our executive offices is 620 Newport Center Drive Suite 1300 Newport Beach Califomia

92660 If stockholder wishes to present proposal at the 2012 annual meeting whether or not the proposal is

intended to be included in the 2012 proxy materials our bylaws require that the stockholder give advance written

notice to our secretary by January 20 2012

OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this proxy statement we know of no business that will be presented for consideration at

the annual meeting other than the items referred to above If any other matter is properly brought before the meeting

for action by stockholders proxies in the enclosed form retumed to us will be voted in accordance with the

recommendation of the board of directors or in the absence of such recommendation in accordance with the

discretion of the proxy holder
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